
 

  
 

Cabinet 
Agenda 

 
 

 

Date: 
 
Venue: 

Thursday 18 January 2024 at 4.30 pm 
 
Jim Cooke Conference Suite, Stockton Central Library, The Square, 
Stockton-on-Tees, TS18 1TU 

 
 
Cllr Robert Cook (Leader) 
 
Cllr Nigel Cooke Cllr Lisa Evans 
Cllr Clare Gamble Cllr Mrs Ann McCoy 
Cllr Steve Nelson Cllr Norma Stephenson OBE 
 
 

AGENDA 
 
1   Evacuation Procedure 

 
(Pages 7 - 8) 

 
2   Apologies for Absence 

 
 
 

3   Declarations of Interest 
 

 
 

4   Minutes 
 

 

 To approve the minutes of the last meeting held on 14 
December 2023. 
 

(Pages 9 - 14) 
 

5   Powering Our Future - Programme Update 
 

(Pages 15 - 30) 
 

6   Minutes of Various Bodies 
 

(Pages 31 - 54) 
 

7   Local Plan 5 Year Review 
 

(Pages 55 - 84) 
 

8   Consent Street Trading Policy Review 2024 
 

(Pages 85 - 130) 
 

 

Page 1



  
 

Cabinet 
Agenda 

 
 

Members of the Public - Rights to Attend Meeting 
 
With the exception of any item identified above as containing exempt or confidential information under the 
Local Government Act 1972 Section 100A(4), members of the public are entitled to attend this meeting 
and/or have access to the agenda papers. 
 
Persons wishing to obtain any further information on this meeting, including the opportunities available   for 
any member of the public to speak at the meeting; or for details of access to the meeting for 
disabled people, please 
 
Contact:      Democratic Services Officer, Peter Bell on email peter.bell@stockton.gov.uk 

Page 2



  

KEY - Declarable interests are:- 
 
●  Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI’s) 
●  Other Registerable Interests (ORI’s) 
●  Non Registerable Interests (NRI’s) 

 
Members – Declaration of Interest Guidance 

 

 

Page 3



  

 

 

Table 1 - Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

Subject Description 

Employment,  
office, trade,  
profession or  
vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain 

Sponsorship 

Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the council) 
made to the councillor during the previous 12-month period for expenses incurred by 
him/her in carrying out his/her duties as a councillor, or towards his/her election 
expenses. 
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning 
of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 

Contracts 

Any contract made between the councillor or his/her spouse or civil partner or the 
person with whom the councillor is living as if they were spouses/civil partners (or a 
firm in which such person is a partner, or an incorporated body of which such person 
is a director* or  
 
a body that such person has a beneficial interest in the securities of*) and the council 
—  
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; 
and  
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land and 
property 

Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the council.  
‘Land’ excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does 
not give the councillor or his/her spouse or civil partner or the person with whom the 
councillor is living as if they were spouses/ civil partners (alone or jointly with another) 
a right to occupy or to receive income. 

Licences 
Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the council for a 
month or longer. 

Corporate 
tenancies 

Any tenancy where (to the councillor’s knowledge)—  
(a) the landlord is the council; and  
(b) the tenant is a body that the councillor, or his/her spouse or civil partner or the 
person with whom the councillor is living as if they were spouses/ civil partners is a 
partner of or a director* of or has a beneficial interest in the securities* of. 

Securities 

Any beneficial interest in securities* of a body where—     
(a) that body (to the councillor’s   knowledge) has a place of business or   land in the 
area of the council; and     
(b) either—     
(i) the total nominal value of the   securities* exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that body; or     
(ii)      if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class in which the councillor, or his/ her spouse or civil 
partner or the person with whom the councillor is living as if they were spouses/civil 
partners have a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that class. 

* ‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and provident society. 
 
* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a collective investment 
scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any 
description, other than money deposited with a building society.

Page 4



  

 

 

Table 2 – Other Registerable Interest 

You must register as an Other Registrable Interest: 
 
a) any unpaid directorships 
 
b) any body of which you are a member or are in a position of general control or management and to which 
you are nominated or appointed by your authority  
 
c) any body  
 
(i) exercising functions of a public nature  
 
(ii) directed to charitable purposes or  
 
(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy (including any political 
party or trade union) of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



Jim Cooke Conference Suite, Stockton Central Library 
Evacuation Procedure & Housekeeping 
 
If the fire or bomb alarm should sound please exit by the nearest emergency exit. 
The Fire alarm is a continuous ring and the Bomb alarm is the same as the fire 
alarm however it is an intermittent ring.  
 
If the Fire Alarm rings exit through the nearest available emergency exit and form 
up in Municipal Buildings Car Park.   
 
The assembly point for everyone if the Bomb alarm is sounded is the car park at 
the rear of Splash on Church Road.  
 
The emergency exits are located via the doors between the 2 projector screens. 
The key coded emergency exit door will automatically disengage when the alarm 
sounds. 
 
The Toilets are located on the Ground floor corridor of Municipal Buildings next to 
the emergency exit. Both the ladies and gents toilets are located on the right 
hand side. 
 
Microphones 
 
During the meeting, members of the Committee, and officers in attendance, will 
have access to a microphone. Please use the microphones, when directed to 
speak by the Chair, to ensure you are heard by the Committee. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 1



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



CABINET 

A meeting of Cabinet was held on Thursday 14 December 2023. 

Present: Cllr Robert Cook (Leader), Cllr Nigel Cooke (Cabinet Member), Cllr 
Clare Gamble (Cabinet Member), Cllr Mrs Ann McCoy (Cabinet 
Member), Cllr Steve Nelson (Cabinet Member) and Cllr Norma 
Stephenson OBE (Cabinet Member). 

Officers: Garry Cummings, Clare Harper (DCE&F, T&P), Ged Morton, Julie 
Butcher, Geraldine Brown, Peter Bell (CS), Elaine Redding (ChS), 
Reuben Kench, Tara Connor (CS,E&C), Carolyn Nice, Sarah 
Bowman-Abouna (A,H&W), Chris Renahan and Craig Taylor 
(R&IG). 

Also in 
attendance: 

Cllr Marc Besford, Cllr Carol Clark, Cllr Tony Riordan, Cllr Lynn Hall, 
Cllr Ted Strike and Cllr Sylvia Walmsley 

Apologies:  , Cllr Lisa Evans (Cabinet Member). 

CAB/51/23 Evacuation Procedure 

The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting and the evacuation procedure was 
noted. 

CAB/52/23 Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest. 

CAB/53/23 Minutes 

Consideration was given to the minutes of the meeting held on 16 November 2023. 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 16 November 2023 be agreed 
and signed as a correct record. 

CAB/54/23 Financial Update and Medium Term FInancial Plan 

Consideration was given to a report that provided an update on the on the financial 
position as at 30th September for the current year (2023/24) and presented outline 
plans for the 2024/25 Budget and the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP).  

Members noted that despite significant efforts around cost mitigations, inflationary and 
demand pressures had continued and the projected position for 2023/24 was a 
projected overspend of around £6.9m. The financial position had been communicated 
to all managers and staff and everyone was being encouraged to challenge all spend 
to try and mitigate the impact. As outlined in previous reports, any overspend would 
need to be funded from reserves. Work was underway to assess reserves and this 
would be incorporated into the MTFP report in February. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



The report also outlined the indicative MTFP for future years. It was noted however 
that, future years funding levels were assumed based on announcements made to 
date. This would only be confirmed upon receipt of the Provisional Local Government 
Finance Settlement which was expected week commencing 18th December. Many of 
the pressures around inflation, Adult’s Services, Children’s Services and pay awards 
experienced in the current year were continuing and this had been built into 
projections.  

The local government finance settlement for 2023/24 included the referendum limit for 
2024/25, setting Council tax at 3% and the Adult Social Care levy at 2%.  The MTFP 
was based on a 2.9% increase and no application of the Levy. The Budget Report in 
February would consider the council tax levels however given the overall position the 
Council would need to seriously consider increasing the rise to the referendum levels 
anticipated by Government. 

The position for the Council, based on the assumptions in the report and an increase 
level of council tax still meant there would be a gap of £5m in 2024/25 and £8m by 
2025/26. In simple terms, the Council needed to reduce the base budget position by 
£9m, so the Council must reduce spending. The planned programme of transformation 
was key to doing this, while also ensuring positive outcomes for residents. 

Despite the budget challenges, ambition remained for Stockton-on-Tees and getting a 
better future for everyone who lives, works and plays in the Borough.  There was 
confidence that the Council could work with partners and communities to put in place 
new and innovative approaches which would not only save money but also reshape 
what was done for the better and in the best interests of residents. This will be done 
through Powering Our Future Programme which see the Council focus its 
transformation around the following five principles.  

Communities Powering Our Future: We need to change the way we work with our 
communities so they use their knowledge, skills and strengths to help them deliver 
positive outcomes for themselves. Not only will this save money, it will mean that our 
residents are healthy, happy and feel like they belong.  

We will empower communities and increase individual, family and community level 
activities, helping people and communities to be independent and have less reliance 
on Council services.  

Partnerships Powering Our Future: By working with partner organisations we can 
make sure our residents have support when they need it and that Stockton-on-Tees 
provides opportunities which make it a great place to live, work and play.  

Transformation Powering Our Future: Our ambitious and entrepreneurial spirit will 
make sure our residents have bright futures. We will work with our partners and 
communities in new ways, embracing technology and different approaches to create 
opportunities and reduce inequality, using the limited amount of money we have 
available.   

We will continue to carefully manage our resources.  We will focus on creating a new 
relationship with communities, while providing efficient services that offer value for 
money and are valued by our residents.  

Page 10



Colleagues Powering Our Future: Our talented workforce will step up to the 
challenging budget situation by using their knowledge and skills to work with our 
partners and communities in innovative, adaptable and dynamic ways with the best 
interests of our residents being the focus of everything they do.  

Our people will be empowered to work together and do the best they can for our 
communities.  

Regeneration Powering Our Future: Our exciting regeneration projects will make sure 
Stockton-on-Tees is a place of choice for business. Not only will this generate more 
income through Council Tax and Business Rates, there will be more employment 
opportunities too, which will reduce demand on services, saving us money. 

Our borough will be recognised for its thriving economy at the heart of Tees Valley 
and as a place where everyone has the opportunity to succeed.     

In order to address the budget gap the Council would act quickly so the first of the 
transformation reviews delivered through the Powering our Future programme would 
take place between now and early next year.  

In the meantime, all staff were being instructed to think carefully before authorising 
any spending and to consider how the Council could work with partners and 
communities to ensure the best possible outcomes for residents, despite a reducing 
budget. 

RESOLVED that:- 

1. The updated financial position for 2023/24 be noted.

2. The revised Capital Programme at Appendix A of the report be noted.

3. The emerging issues for the MTFP be noted.

CAB/55/23 0-19 Children's Public Health Programme: Partnership with Harrogate & District 
Foundation Trust 

Consideration was given to a report on the 0-19 Children's Public Health Programme: 
Partnership with Harrogate & District Foundation Trust. 

The report provided the background and detail for the proposed partnership with 
Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust (HDFT) to deliver Public Health 0 to 19 
Health & Wellbeing Programme through the mechanism of an agreement made under 
section 75 of the National Health Services Act 2006 between partners (NHS bodies 
and local authorities). 

The proposed Section 75 agreement included arrangements for delegating the 
functions described in the report to the NHS partner. Delegation was permitted where 
it if it would lead to an improvement in the way those functions were exercised. 

The health-related functions, detailed within the paper were part of a wider programme 
of support which consisted of health visiting, school nursing and children and family’s 
healthy weight, infant feeding and nutrition services. These services were more 
commonly known as ‘0 to 19’ and ‘Growing well, growing healthy’. Services were 

Page 11



delivered by HDFT through an existing contract which commenced 01 April 2018 and 
expires 31 March 2024. 

The programme aimed to promote the health and wellbeing of families and children 
aged 0-19 or up to age 25 with a Special Educational Need or Disability (SEND). It 
offered practical advice, interventions, and support on a range of topics related to 
parenting, health, and wellbeing. 

The service also worked in partnership with other services and agencies to support 
and enable families to access health information and services appropriate to their 
needs such as primary and secondary care, family hubs, children’s services, voluntary 
organisations and nurseries amongst many others. 

The report set out: 

• The background of the Programme
• The strategic alignment to the Local Authority’s approach to Transformation,
Powering our Future and the Fairer Stockton-on-Tees framework to improve outcomes
for communities in the Borough and address inequalities, particularly health
inequalities for children, young people and adults.
• The proposed use of a Section 75 Agreement to delegate the specific health-
related functions to HDFT under the Section 75 of the National Health Act 2006

RESOLVED that:- 

1. The background and the alignment to the strategic direction of the Council be
noted. The summary of evidence used to inform the commissioning approach was
outlined in an appendix to the report.

2. The use of a Section 75 Agreement under Section 75 of The National Health
Service Act 2006 be agreed.

3. The responsibility for agreeing and finalising the terms of a new Section 75
Agreement be delegated to the Director of Adults, Health and Wellbeing and Director
of Corporate Services through their authorised officers in line with the Council’s
Schemes of Delegation.

CAB/56/23 2023 Event Summary and 2024 Memorial Lighting Calendar 

Consideration was given to a report 2023 Event Summary and 2024 Memorial Lighting 
Calendar. 

This report provided an overview of the Council’s 2023 Events Programme, including 
community led events and street parties which had been delivered by third parties on 
Council land. Despite the challenges of unpredictable weather and rising costs of 
delivery, the Council’s biggest event, Stockton International Riverside Festival (SIRF) 
received very positive feedback in the independent market research, with 90% 
believing it to be good for promoting the area and a good use of Council resources.  

In addition, the report provided the suggested calendar for memorial lighting for 2024. 

RESOLVED that:- 

Page 12



1. The success of events programme during 2023 be noted.

2. The memorial lighting calendar for 2024 be approved.

3. Delegated authority be given to the Director of Community Services, Environment
and Culture in consultation with the Leader of the Council to make in year
amendments or additions to the lighting calendar.

CAB/57/23 Lived Experience and Making It Real Board 

Consideration was given to a report on the Lived Experience and Making It Real 
Board. 

Adults and Health would form a Making It Real Board made up of People with Lived 
Experience who have, are or will in the future, access services. The local authority 
was successful in a funding bid to help build Making It Real. As part of the Powering 
our Future programme, the Community Mission was focussed on empowering our 
communities to become more independent and utilise their insights and experiences 
to inform future service delivery.  A fundamental part of this work would be to gain 
knowledge from communities, including people with Lived Experience by fully 
engaging them in the transformation journey, putting communities at the heart of 
everything the Council did. 
RESOLVED that:- 

1. The proposal for a Making It Real board and timescales for implementation be
implemented.

2. Agree in principle to develop a policy and supporting processes to enable the
payment of expenses and potentially financial remuneration for People with Lived
Experience for their time involved with Making It Real.

3. Agree in principle plans for training, development, and communications to support
Making It Real and to link in with other initiatives including Powering Our Future and
CQC inspection preparation work.

CAB/58/23 Annual Report of the Governing Body for the Learning & Skills Service 

Consideration was given to a report that provided an update on the work of the 
Learning and Skills Service in supporting residents, employers and community 
partners with learning opportunities and employment initiatives during the 22/23 
academic year.  

The report also highlighted the outcome of the full Ofsted inspection which took place 
in June 2023. The report also demonstrates the ongoing success of the Governing 
Body as an advisory committee empowered by Cabinet to provide challenge, support 
and strategic oversight. 

RESOLVED that the report be noted. 

CAB/59/23 LA Governor Appointments 

In accordance with the procedure for the appointment of school / academy governors, 
approved as Minute CAB 27/13 of the Cabinet (13 June 2013), Cabinet was invited to 

Page 13



consider the nominations to School / academy Governing Bodies listed in the 
appendix to the report.  
RESOLVED that:- 

Fairfield Primary School – Lucy Duncan 
Myton Park Primary School  -  
Mandale Mill Primary School –  
The Glebe Primary School -  Councillor Tony Riordan 

Page 14



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
AGENDA ITEM 

 
REPORT TO CABINET 

 
DATE: 18 JANUARY 2024 

 
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE 
MANAGEMENT TEAM  
 

CABINET DECISION  
 
 
Portfolio Title – Leader of the Council, Councillor Bob Cook 
 
Powering Our Future – Programme Update   
 
SUMMARY 
 
This report provides an update on the Powering Our Future Programme. It includes: 

• Draft Mission Statement and Council Missions for Cabinet approval 

• Communities Powering Our Future 
o Building intelligence and insight to inform our future approach to community 

development 

• Partnerships Powering Our Future 
o Developing a ‘Team Stockton’ approach with our partners 

• Transformation Powering Our Future  
o Details of scope for Phase 1 reviews, for Cabinet approval  

• Our Colleagues Powering Our Future  
o Employee Survey results informing our Workforce Development Strategy 
o Smart Working Policy for Cabinet approval   

• Regeneration Powering Our Future  
o Driving economic growth to increase prosperity and wellbeing in communities. 

 
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)/DECISION(S) 
 
Cabinet is recommended to agree the Powering Our Future approach to ensure that the Council 
has a clear plan to address the financial challenges we face, at the same time as improving 
outcomes for communities, including: 

• Creation of opportunities to build brighter futures for our communities and reduce inequality, 
using the limited amount of money we have available.  

• Carefully managing our resources, creating a new relationship with communities, while 
providing efficient services that are valued by our residents. 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Cabinet is recommended to: 

• Agree the draft Mission Statement and Council Missions set out at Sections 2 & 3 

• Agree the approach to Communities Powering Our Future, set out at Section 4   

• Agree the areas of focus for Team Stockton, set out at Section 5  

• Agree in principle the scope of Phase 1 Transformation reviews set out at Section 6. It is 
recommended that the Powering Our Future Programme Board has responsibility to agree 
the final scope, based on the outcome of the rapid review (detailed in Section 6) and 
consideration of full Project Initiation Documents. 

• Note the findings from the Employee Survey, and agree the priority work strands for the 
Workforce Development Strategy (Section 7)  

Page 15

Agenda Item 5

http://sbcintranet/ourstruct/LD/demoservices/128771/128776


 

1 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

• Agree the Smart Working Policy set out at Section 7 and attached at appendix 1 

• Note the areas of focus for Regeneration Powering Our Future (Section 8) and agree to 
receive future updates on individual areas of activity.  

 
1. Introduction  

 
Powering Our Future sets a new strategic framework for the Council, initially agreed by Cabinet in 
July 2023. Since July, work has taken place to develop and refine the focus of the programme, to 
ensure it addresses the challenges and opportunities we have as a Borough. 
 
The conditions we are working in have changed. We know we are a strong council, however what 
we have done to get here, won’t get us to where we need to be in future. Like most public sector 
organisations our finances are under significant pressure, as set out in the Medium Term Financial 
Plan report to Cabinet in December 2023. 
   
We must think differently and creatively about how we respond to the challenges ahead as we 
strive to achieve the best for our Borough, while we carefully manage the money we have 
available.  
  
Although we can no longer afford to meet the needs of our residents in the way we have in the 
past, we are confident we can work with our partners and communities to put in place new and 
innovative approaches that will not only save money, but also reshape what we do, in the best 
interests of our residents – we will do this through our Powering Our Future Programme.  
 

2. Council Mission Statement  
 
It is proposed that the Council sets a new Mission Statement to Power Our Future. Our Mission 
Statement sets out a picture of success for the council. It is underpinned by 5 Missions, focused on 
how we will achieve success.  
 
Our draft Mission Statement, for Cabinet approval is: We will be a bold, brave and innovative 
Council. Together with our partners we will make sure Stockton-on-Tees is a fair and equal place, 
where everyone is proud to live and work, where our communities flourish and people feel they 
belong.  We want everyone in our Borough to participate in building a brighter future for all of us. 
 

3. Council Missions  
 
Communities Powering Our Future – changing our relationship with communities to make sure our 
residents have happy healthy lives   
 

• We need to change the way we work with our communities, to use their knowledge, skills 
and strengths to help them deliver positive outcomes for themselves. Not only will this save 
money, it will mean that our residents are healthy, happy and feel like they belong. 

• We will empower communities and increase individual, family and community level 
activities, helping people and communities to be independent and have less reliance on 
Council services. 

 
Partnerships Powering Our Future – stronger together  
 

• By working with partner organisations we can make sure our residents have support when 
they need it and that Stockton-on-Tees provides opportunities which make it a great place 
to live, work and play. 

 
Transformation Powering Our Future – new and innovative ways of working that are better for 
communities and more efficient   
 

Page 16



 

2 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

• Our ambitious and entrepreneurial spirit will make sure our residents have bright futures. 
We will work with our partners and communities in new ways, embracing technology and 
new ways of working to create opportunities and reduce inequality, using the limited 
amount of money we have available.  

• We will continue to carefully manage our resources.  We will focus on creating a new 
relationship with communities, while providing efficient services that offer value for money 
and are valued by our residents. 

 
Colleagues Powering Our Future – empowering our colleagues to do the best they can for 
communities  
 

• Our talented workforce will step up to the challenging budget situation by using their 
knowledge and skills to work with our partners and communities in innovative, adaptable 
and dynamic ways with the best interests of our residents being the focus of everything 
they do. 

 
Regeneration Powering Our Future – driving economic growth to improve community prosperity 
and wellbeing.  
 

• Our exciting regeneration projects will make sure Stockton-on-Tees is a place of choice for 
business. Not only will this generate more income through Council Tax and Business 
Rates, there will be more employment opportunities too, which will reduce demand on 
services, saving us money.  

• Our Borough will be recognised for its thriving economy at the heart of Tees Valley and as 
a place where everyone has the opportunity to succeed.    

 
The remainder of this report provides an update on activity for each of the Missions. 
 

4. Communities Powering Our Future 
 
Initial work has focused on developing baseline information to better understand our communities. 
This includes data analysis, a resident’s survey and a conversation with communities, based on 
the Office for National Statistics (ONS), National Wellbeing Measures and four open questions: 

• What is good about the place you live?  

• What would make it better?  

• What could you do where you live to make it better?  

• What do you need help with to make it better? 
  
There have been around 1400 responses to the Residents Survey to date.  
 
This will build an understanding of our communities that will be explored further using an 
Appreciative Inquiry Approach. Appreciative Inquiry is a participative learning approach. It focuses 
on community strengths and ‘what works’, which will be used to inform a future Vision for the 
Borough that is developed with, and jointly owned by communities.  
 
In parallel to this, officers are reviewing existing activity delivered by the Council. We are gathering 
insight and intelligence of our current commissioned health and wellbeing services, including 
Adults and Health, Public Health, Children's Services and Housing. This will enable us to 
understand impact and target future community development in the areas that need it most. It will 
inform our ways of working with partners to reduce inequalities and increase the amount of activity 
delivered in communities, by communities. Evidence shows that community-led activity improves 
local outcomes, as it is designed and delivered by those who know their communities and their 
place best. In future, the Council will support strong and empowered communities, where wellbeing 
is improved.     
 
 

5. Partnerships Powering Our Future 

Page 17



 

3 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
We will be Stronger Together. Our collective power with partner organisations will make a positive 
difference to our communities, and we will remove organisational boundaries to help improve the 
services our communities can access. 
 
Through collaborative working, our residents will experience seamless services that are joined up 
across partner organisations. 
 
We will strive to build a network of local partners that speak and act with ‘One Voice’ as a 
recognised ‘Team Stockton’. 
 
An initial meeting of Team Stockton in November 2023 demonstrated a strong commitment across 
partners. Priority areas for collaboration were identified as: 

• Developing skills for public service  

• Attracting and retaining talent 

• Building Pride in Place  

• Maximising use of shared resources  

• Maximising digital technology 

• Health and Social Care Integration.  
 
A workplan focused on these areas is being developed, with initial milestones identified. 
 

6. Transformation Powering Our Future 
 
As previously reported to Cabinet, our Transformation Programme will ensure we: 

• Reduce the budget gap by £9m and deliver a balanced budget each year 

• Continue to deliver good and efficient services with the resources we have available. 
 
The table below outlines an initial tranche of reviews and high-level scope of areas identified for 
review as part of Phase 1 of the Transformation Programme.  
 

Theme  Project Name  Project 
Description  

Scope  

C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 S

U
P

P
O

R
T

 

Customer 
Contact and 
Access to 
Services   

How residents, 
visitors, partners 
and businesses 
get in touch with 
us and access 
services 

Review of all the ways that people 

contact the Council to access 

services, with the aim to improve 

service delivery, community satisfaction 

and make effective use of organisation 

resources to ensure value for money  

The review will consider:  

• methods of contact /access to 

services  

• use of technology  

• roles and responsibilities   

• service offer & standards    

• structure alignment, future 

operating arrangements     

Page 18



 

4 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Administration 

and Business 

Services 

Administration and 
Business Services 

Review of organisation wide admin and 

business service functions including 

PA, Reception Services, Mail and 

Courier Services and all admin 

support.   

The review will consider:  

• functions to be undertaken  

• customer access     

• use of technology  

• roles and responsibilities   

• structure alignment, future 

operating arrangements    

Fleet 

Management  

Use and 
management of 
Council Vehicles  

The review will consider current vehicle 

usage and future management  

 

This will include:  

• demand for services 

• current and emerging statutory 

requirements  

• a revised approach for vehicle 

acquisition and fleet 

management including a 

financial forecasting model.  

• links to Environmental Strategy  

Xentrall Shared 

Services with 

Darlington 

Borough 

Council  

To review the 
partnership and 
consider 
expanding the 
current 
arrangements   

Desktop baseline assessment to 

identify opportunities, risks and 

implications associated with potential 

expansion of shared service with 

Darlington. To inform future operating 

arrangements   

F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
 S

T
E

W
A

R
D

S
H

IP
 Debt 

Management  
How the Council 
collects money it 
is owed  

Review of organisation wide debt 

management functions, including: 

• functions to be undertaken  
• customer access     
• roles and responsibilities   
• structure alignment, future 

operating arrangements 
• digitisation of process  

Fees and 
Charges  

How the Council 
sets its fees and 
charges for 
services  

Review of all fees & charges, with a 
view to ensuring an organisation wide 
approach and to increase revenue  

Page 19



 

5 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

C
A

R
E

 A
N

D
 S

U
P

P
O

R
T

 F
O

R
 C

H
IL

D
R

E
N

 A
N

D
 A

D
U

L
T

S
 

Children in our 

Care  

Children in our 
Care  

Review of current placement practice 

and financial position including 

fostering, reunification and edge of care 

processes.   It will focus on 

development of a future model to 

ensure that the number of children in 

our care reduces, and more children 

stay in their home.   

Where children are placed in our care, 

it will ensure that placements are cost 

effective and meet the required 

standards and agreed needs of the 

child.   

This includes commissioning, 

procurement and partnership 

arrangements. It covers all placement 

provision as outlined below:   

• Children’s Homes  

• Foster Carers   

• Independent Fostering 
Arrangements (IFA)   

• Special Guardianship Order 
(SGO)   

• Child Arrangement Order  

• Supported Accommodation  

SEND (special 

educational 

needs & 

disabilities) / 

High Needs  

Support for 
Children with 
special 
educational needs 
and disabilities  

Review of current use of high need 

funding to ensure that funding is 

sufficient and proportionate to meet 

current and future needs of children 

and young people, and reduction of 

exiting DSG (Dedicated Schools Grant) 

deficit. The scope includes: 

• Council maintained schools, 
free schools and academies, 
budgets  

• Redesign of High Needs 
Banding  

• Better value for pupils ·   

• CPD (Continuous Professional 
Development) for school 
leaders and Children’s Service 

• Sufficiency of provision  

Transitions to 

Adulthood  

How the Council 
supports children 
with disabilities 
and those with 
special 
educational needs 
and disabilities as 
they become 
adults   
 

Review the arrangements to prepare 

and plan for people with needs to 

transition into adulthood. The scope will 

consider: 

• Special educational needs and 
disabilities  

• Mechanism for planning lifelong 
support  

• Partnership opportunities 

Page 20



 

6 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

• Structure alignment future 
operating arrangements  

Intermediate 

Care  

Support to help 
people live at 
home for longer  

Review of mechanisms and services to 

support people living at home & 

avoiding the need for long term 

residential care. This will include:  

• Home care services  

• Care at home market, home 

care market (including 

discharge to assess) 

• Reablement Service & 

Rosedale Service.  

• Commissioning of future service 

requirements  

This will not review all of adult care but 

will influence spend across the whole 

service area. 

Early 

Intervention 

and 

Prevention  

Early Help for 
children and 
families to help 
them remain 
healthy, happy 
and safe in their 
homes 

Review of existing policy, process and 

operating arrangements to consider 

areas for improvement and 

opportunities to work more 

collaboratively across the wider 

organisation, as well as with schools 

and partners to transform and deliver 

an effective early intervention and 

prevention offer for Stockton children 

and families. The review will consider 

and/or impact on:  

• Public Health & Domestic abuse 
services 

• Commissioned services   
• Libraries 
• Benefits & Financial Inclusion 
• Homelessness Prevention & 

Temporary Accommodation 
• Early Years 
• Children's early help  
• Relationship with schools 
• Youth Services 
• Young Offenders 
• One Call 
• Adult Learning & Skills 
• VCS (Voluntary and Community 

Sector), public sector partners & 
wider communities  

• Service alignment & future 
operating arrangements  

Page 21



 

7 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Community 

Transport  

Transport 
arrangements for 
adults and 
children with 
special 
educational needs 
and disabilities 
(SEND) and 
looked after 
children (LAC)  

The review will consider policy, and 

delivery requirements to meet policy 

priorities   

The scope will include Homes to 

School Transport provision to both 

mainstream and SEND and LAC 

children as well as Adult Transportation 

to the Council’s two Adult Day Care 

Centres. It will consider:  

• roles & responsibilities   
• service offer   
• structure alignment, future 

operating arrangements 
• digitisation of process and 

customer access.  

C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
Y

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
 

Waste 

Collection  

 

Reshaped 

recycling, green 

waste & residual 

waste collection 

service 

 

Review of the domestic, green and 

food waste collection service provision 

including:   

• operational 
delivery/optimisation, waste 
minimisation   

• opportunities for income 
generation, financial stability 
and investment   

• digitisation of process and 
customer access   

• consideration of climate change 
agenda and national policy / 
legislation.   

Community 

safety and 

regulatory 

services  

 

Provision of 

community safety 

and organisation 

wide regulatory 

services  

 

Review of all Community Safety and 

Regulatory Service provision within the 

authority with a view to rationalising 

leadership, aligning priorities and 

responsibilities, and ensuring services 

are on a strong footing to meet future 

legislative changes that have either 

recently been implemented or are due 

shortly.  

 

 The review will also consider:  

• Current & emerging statutory 
requirements  

• operational delivery/optimisation 
• digitisation of process and 

customer access 
 

 
To ensure the programme is focused on those areas where we can make the biggest difference 
given the current pressures, the Powering Our Futures Programme Board has undertaken a high-
level rapid review of the programme plan with advice from Inner Circle consulting. 
 

Page 22



 

8 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

This will ensure that our capacity is prioritised effectively, and scope of the reviews is aligned to our 
aims of being more innovative, creative and working more collaboratively with our communities and 
partners. This will in turn enable us to provide good outcomes whilst being in a stable financial 
position. 
 
Cabinet is recommended to agree in principle the scope of Phase 1 reviews as set out above. It is 
recommended that the Powering Our Future Programme Board (comprised of Corporate 
Management Team Members) has responsibility to agree the final scope, based on the outcome of 
the rapid review (noted above) and consideration of the full Project Initiation Documents. 
 
Whilst there is a need to act with urgency to realise savings in the short-term, the Transformation 
Programme will form part of a longer-term approach to Powering Our Future. A proposed timetable 
for Phase 2 reviews will be brought to a future meeting of Cabinet for approval.  
 

7. Our Colleagues Powering Our Future 
 
Our Colleagues will be key to delivering Powering Our Future. We want to ensure that our 
workforce can step up to the challenging budget situation by using their knowledge and skills to 
work with our partners and communities in innovative, adaptable and dynamic ways with the best 
interests of our residents being the focus of everything they do. 
 
An Employee Survey took place in September / October 2023. This has formed the baseline for 
our Workforce Development Strategy and will also support the future review of our Investors In 
People Accreditation, which expires in July 2024.  
 
Employee Survey Results  
1,613 employees completed the survey which is approximately 46% of the workforce. 
 
Overall, the results are positive and equivalent to, or slightly above the industry average. This is 
reassuring, especially given the amount of change (internally and externally) and challenge that has 
been experienced over the last few years.   
 
Our highest scores included the following areas: 

• My role enables me to work well with others  

• I understand what is expected of me in my role  

• My behaviours reflect the organisation’s values  

• I understand how my role contributes to the organisation. 
 
Areas identified for improvement were: 

• I am rewarded in ways that match my motivations  

• I am consistently recognised when I exceed expectations  

• I get appropriate recognition for the work I do  

• I have a say in decisions that affect my role.  
  
Workforce Development Strategy  
The Employee Survey, together with our Workforce Profile Data, has formed the evidence base for 
the Workforce Development Strategy, which is focused around the following areas:  

• Organisational Culture - To have a strong organisational culture of shared values and 
behaviours that guide the way we work and how we make decisions, aligned to Powering 
Our Future ambitions 

• Communications & Engagement - To have an effective communication and engagement 

strategy at all levels. This will ensure our colleagues and stakeholders understand 

corporate aims and priorities. It will facilitate bold, innovative and collaborative working, and 

ensure everyone understands the reason and context for change 

Page 23



 

9 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

• Smarter Working – To ensure we have the right resources, processes and working 
environment to do the job in the most efficient and smart way. This will empower staff to do 
their best for communities  

• Attract & Retain – To have the best people with the right skills to Power Our Future. It is 
important we remain competitive with our Employee Reward Offer to be an attractive 
employer of choice and retain a talented and dedicated workforce. 

• Happy & Healthy Workforce – To ensure that everyone supports and pays attention to 
their own as well as their colleagues’ wellbeing. 

• Workforce Planning - To ensure we have a workforce fit for the future we will embed and 
improve workforce planning across our organisation so that we understand our workforce 
profile to address future demands. 

• Workforce Development – To provide employees with development opportunities to 
support retention, succession planning, future leaders and ensure we have a workforce with 
the right skills able to meet current and future demands. We will empower our colleagues to 
use their skills and talent to be innovative, entrepreneurial, dynamic and adaptable in all 
that they do. 

 
Each of the areas above will form a workstrand of the Colleagues Powering our Future Mission. A 
project management approach will be coordinated through the Colleagues Powering our Future 
Steering Group. Cabinet will be updated on  workstrand progress in future Programme Update 
reports. 
 
Smart Working Policy  
A Draft Smart Working Policy is attached at Appendix 1 for Cabinet approval. This forms part of the 

Council’s Workforce Strategy and is key to Powering our Future. The policy will replace the Flexible 

Working Pilots and builds on the report considered by Members’ Advisory Panel in October 2022, 

which recognised that a one size fits all approach is not appropriate and that a customer and 

business focused approach needs to be retained. 

The draft policy sets out high-level principles for Smart Working, which will be supplemented by 
detailed guidance, training and support for our employees.  

Our Principles for Smart Working are: 

• We will be Bold, Brave and Innovative in the way we work 

• We will work more collaboratively with our stakeholders, including our communities and 
partner organisations 

• We will drive innovation and continuous improvement, whether through service changes or 
challenging and changing working practices 

• We will use our resources such as data, technology, equipment and workplaces more 
efficiently 

• Our Colleagues will have more choice about where and when they work, to improve 
community wellbeing and reduce inequality. 

 
8. Regeneration Powering Our Future  

 
Our approach to regeneration and economic growth will be critical to the future prosperity and 
wellbeing of our communities.  
 
Our exciting regeneration projects will make sure Stockton-on-Tees is a place of choice for 
business. Not only will this generate more income through Council Tax and Business Rates, but 
there will also be more employment opportunities too, which will reduce demand on services, 
saving us money. 
 
The focus of our activity will be:  
 

Page 24



 

10 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

• Building a bright future for Our Six Towns - our towns are at the heart of our communities 
and we have a large scale programme of investment across all of them to make sure we 
adapt to the changing face of retail and the pressures that they face. 

• Delivering our ambitions for a Care and Health Innovation Zone at Teesdale Business Park 
and the adjacent Marshalling Yards in Thornaby   

• Ensuring we have the transport infrastructure that connects communities with opportunities 
for work, learning and leisure 

• Developing a bold Place Brand that celebrates our assets, reflects the strengths and 
vibrancy of our communities, to reinforce our Pride in Place, attract investment and talent to 
our Borough. 

 
 
COMMUNITY IMPACT IMPLICATIONS 
 
Powering Our Future puts communities at the heart of everything we do. It will change the way we 
work with our communities so they use their knowledge, skills and strengths to help them deliver 
positive outcomes for themselves. Not only will this save money, it will mean that our residents are 
healthy, happy and feel like they belong. 
 
Our approach will:  

• Empower communities and increase individual, family and community level activities, 
helping people and communities to be independent and have less reliance on Council 
services.  

• Always look for opportunities to be innovative and improve the way we work, so that we 
remain in the best possible financial position now and in the future 

• Ensure that if we redesign a service, we will do this in a way that minimises impact for our 
residents, communities and partner organisations. 

 
A Community Impact Assessment will be undertaken for individual reviews as required.  
 
CORPORATE PARENTING IMPLICATIONS     
 
There are no direct impacts on Corporate Parenting as a result of this report. Implications will be 
identified as part of individual project activity for Powering Our Future.  
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
As outlined in the Medium Term Financial Plan update report to Cabinet in December 2023, the 
Council is forecasting a budget gap of £9m by 2026/27. The Transformation Programme will ensure 
we address the budget gap and deliver a balanced budget each year.  
  
The achievement of financial savings from the Phase 1 reviews will be essential to addressing the 
budget gap. Updates will be brought back to future Cabinet meetings regarding Phase 1 and Phase 
2 reviews.   
 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
There are no direct legal impacts as a result of this report. Implications will be identified and legal 
advice sought/provided as part of individual project activity for Powering Our Future. 
 
RISK ASSESSMENT   
 
This report provides an update on the development of the Powering out Futures Programme. There 
are two main risks associated with the programme. Firstly, the programme doesn’t achieve the levels 
of financial savings needed to put the Council on a financially sustainable footing. Secondly, the 
programme does not improve outcomes for our communities. Both these risks could lead to 
reputational risk. 

Page 25



 

11 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

  
To manage the risks, the Council has implemented a robust governance structure to manage the 
Powering our Futures programme. The structure includes senior management oversight, steering 
groups for each strand of the programme, clearly defined projects and programme and project 
management arrangements and regular reporting to Cabinet. In addition, the programme will be 
appropriately resourced with additional officer capacity to ensure outputs are achieved that lead to 
delivering the aims of the programme. 
 
WARDS AFFECTED AND CONSULTATION WITH WARD/COUNCILLORS  
 
Powering Our Future is a Borough-wide Programme.  
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

• Financial Update and MTFP Report to Cabinet (December 2023) 
 
Name of Contact Officer: Geraldine Brown 
Post Title: Head of Policy Development & Public Affairs  
Telephone No. 01642 527657 
Email Address: Gerladine.brown@stockton.gov.uk  
 

Page 26

mailto:Gerladine.brown@stockton.gov.uk


 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Smarter Working 
 
Human Resources 
January 2024 
 

 

Page 27



1 

 

 1 

Introduction 

The Council’s Smarter Working Policy forms part of the Council’s Workforce Strategy and is key to the Powering our 
Future Programme. 

Powering our Future sets the Council’s ambition to be a bold, brave and innovative Council.  Where together with 
our partners, we will make sure Stockton-on-Tees is a fair and equal place, where everyone is proud to live and work, 
where our communities flourish and people feel they belong.  We want everyone in our Borough to participate in 
building a brighter future for all of us. 

Our Colleagues will be critical to the success of the Council’s Powering our Future Programme and will be empowered 
to do the best they can for our communities.  

It is important that our talented workforce can step up to the challenging budget situation by using their knowledge 
and skills to work with our partners and communities in innovative, adaptable and dynamic ways with the best 
interests of our residents being the focus of everything they do. 

This will include Smarter Working.  

 

Working smarter applies to all of our employees. This policy is not just about the ability to work remotely; we recognise 
that many of our employees might not be able to choose where they work but the principles of working with our 
communities and partners, and doing the right work in the most productive way for the benefit of our residents will 
apply. 

 

This Policy sets out our high-level principles for Smarter Working, which will be supplemented by detailed guidance, 
training and support for our employees.  

Our Smarter Working Principles are: 

• We will work collaboratively with our stakeholders.  

• We will drive innovation and continuous improvement.  

• We will use our resources efficiently, including data, technology, equipment and workplaces  

• Colleagues will have more choice about when and where they work. 

 

What is Smarter Working? 

Smarter working is about working with our communities and partners in an innovative, efficient and effective way to 
meet the needs of the people in our Borough.  This will include: 

• Being Bold, Brave and Innovative in the way we work 

• Working more collaboratively with our stakeholders, including our communities and organisational partners 

• Driving continuous innovation and improvement whether through service changes or challenging and 
changing working practices. 

• Using our resources such as data, technology, equipment, and workplaces more efficiently 

• More choice about where and when you work, to improve community wellbeing and reduce inequality.  

 

Smarter Working Principles 

1. We will work collaboratively with our stakeholders. 

We need to move away from our ‘traditional’ role as a provider of services to one where we enable and empower our 
communities to do more for themselves in partnership with external organisations and the Council.  

In order to do this, we need to change the way we work with our communities, partners and other stakeholders so 
that we use their knowledge, skills and strengths to deliver positive outcomes for local people. As a result, we need 
to collaborate more with colleagues internally and externally, consider more integration, joint working and delivery. 

This will include removing barriers and silos to ensure we can work collaboratively across teams to secure the best 
outcomes for our residents and communities.  

We need all of our employees to understand and think community and partnership ways of working in everything we 
do.  

Page 28



2 

 

 2 

 

2. We will drive innovation and continuous improvement.  

We need to focus on providing efficient services that offer value for money and are valued by our residents. We will 
therefore always look for opportunities to be innovative and improve the way we work, so that we can meet our 
communities’ needs in the most efficient way. 

Key to smarter working is a desire to improve working practices and business processes that continue or better meet 
the needs of our communities ideally by reducing red tape and steps needed in a process. 

We will develop a culture that embraces challenge to our service delivery and working practices, where our 
employees are empowered and involved in improving not only what we do but how we do it. Our employees will need 
to be adaptable, skilled and resilient to changes in our services and practices. 

 

3. We will use our resources efficiently. 

We need to use our resources as efficiently as possible including: 

• data to performance manage our services and target resident needs. 

• take advantage of existing and new technology to streamline processes and make services more accessible. 

• use other equipment in new and innovative ways to make our ways of working more efficient and effective. 

Our physical working environment needs be fit for purpose and office accommodation should encourage shared use 
of the workplace with spaces that allow for collaboration, innovation and creativity. 

Guidance on smarter technology is Coming Soon… 

 

4. More Choice about where and when you work. 

We recognise that some of our frontline employees are not able to have a choice as to where or when they work, 
however, as far as is possible our HR policies and manager discretions will build in as much flexibility whilst meeting 
business demands. 

For our employees who can work remotely, greater flexibility is available to determine where and when work is 
undertaken, provided that this is in accordance with a manager, team and service area’s expectations and 
requirements. Employees will be provided with the necessary technology, tools and information to work remotely, 
and be able to decide on the best location based on the task to be completed in support of working with our 
communities and partners in an innovative, efficient and effective way to meet the needs of the people in our Borough.  

When determining where and when work is undertaken employees must ensure: 

• they are maximizing the positive impact of their work for communities.   

• The needs of the Council are being met efficiently and effectively, and in a way that can demonstrate 
continuous improvement.  

• they remain flexible and adaptable to meet changing work requirements. 

• they are available to spend  time in the workplace to meet and collaborate with colleagues.   
 

Guidance on Remote Working together with expected behaviours is here (link to follow) 

 

Statutory Flexible Working Requests 

This policy does not affect an employee’s right to request statutory flexible working – please see Intranet for further 
information 

 

Review of this Policy and Smarter Working Arrangements 

A 12month corporate review of our Smarter Working arrangements will take place to ensure that the necessary 
support, training, expectations and behaviours are being embedded.  

Individual teams and services can review their smarter working arrangements at any time to ensure that the smarter 
working principles and service demands are being met as efficiently and effectively as possible. 

Page 29

https://intranet.stockton.gov.uk/employee-support-and-benefits/work-life-balance-attendance/flexible-working-scheme/


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 30



 

 1 
 
 
 
 
 

  

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

   AGENDA ITEM 
 

REPORT TO CABINET 
 
18 JANUARY 2024 

 
REPORT OF CORPORATE  
MANAGEMENT TEAM 

 

CABINET DECISION  
 
Leader of the Council – Councillor Bob Cook 
 
MINUTES OF VARIOUS BODIES 
 
SUMMARY 
 
The attached minutes are for consideration by Cabinet. 
 
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS/DECISIONS 
 
To enable Cabinet to view the minutes of various bodies. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That the minutes of the meetings detailed in the appendices be received. 
 
DETAIL 
 
1. In accordance with the Council’s Constitution or previous practice the minutes of the 

meeting of the bodies indicated below are submitted to members for consideration:- 
 

TVCA Cabinet – 15 December 2023 
TSAB – 11 October 2023 
SSP – 20 September 2023 

 
COMMUNITY IMPACT IMPLICATIONS 
 
2. This report is not the subject of any Community Impact Implications. 
 
CORPORATE PARENTING IMPLICATIONS 
 
3. This report is not the subject of any Corporate Parenting Implications. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
4. Where applicable, as specified in the minutes. 
 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
5. Where applicable, as specified in the minutes. 
 
 
 
 

Page 31

Agenda Item 6



 

 2 
 
 
 
 
 

  

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
RISK ASSESSMENT   
 
6. This report is categorised as low to medium risk.  
 
 WARDS AFFECTED AND CONSULTATION WITH WARD/COUNCILLORS 
 
7.      Not applicable. 
 
 
Name of Contact Officer: Jonathan Nertney 
Post Title: Head of Democratic Services 
Email Address: jonathan.nertney@stockton.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 32



 
 
 
 

Anything is possible   1 
 

Minutes  

  

TEES VALLEY COMBINED AUTHORITY CABINET 

Friday 15th December 2023 at 10am 
Teesside Airport Business Suite, Teesside International Airport, Darlington 

  

  
These Minutes are in draft form until approved at the next Cabinet meeting and are therefore subject to amendments.   
  
   
  

ATTENDEES 

 

 

Members  
Mayor Ben Houchen (Chair)   Tees Valley Mayor                                    
Councillor Stephen Harker Leader, Darlington Borough Council 
Councillor Mike Young Leader, Hartlepool Borough Council 
Councillor Robert Cook Leader, Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council 
Matthew Ord Deputy Chair, Tees Valley Business Board 
  

  
Officers and Others in Attendance  
Julie Gilhespie Group Chief Executive, Tees Valley Combined 

Authority 
Emma Simson  Acting Group Chief Legal Officer and 

Monitoring Officer, Tees Valley Combined 
Authority 

Victoria Smith Group Financial Controller, Tees Valley 
Combined Authority 

Tom Bryant Assistant Director Transport & Infrastructure, 
Tees Valley Combined Authority 

Helen Kemp Head of Business & Skills, Tees Valley 
Combined Authority 

Ged Morton Director of Corporate Services, Stockton-on-
Tees Borough Council 

Denise McGuckin Managing Director, Hartlepool Borough 
Council 

Ian Williams Chief Executive, Darlington Borough Council 
Sally Henry Governance Officer, TVCA 

 

Page 33



 
 
 
 

Anything is possible   2 
 

Apologies  
Councillor Alec Brown  Leader, Redcar and Cleveland Borough 

Council                                                         
Mayor Chris Cooke Leader, Middlesbrough Council 
Siobhan McArdle Chair, Tees Valley Business Board 
 
  
  
  
  
  
  
TVCA 
18/23 

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
Apologies received and noted as above. 
  

TVCA  
19/23 

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest declared. 
 

TVCA 
20/23 

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
  
The minutes of the meeting held on 22nd September 2023 were agreed as 
an accurate record. There were no matters arising.   
  
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 22nd September 2023 
were confirmed as an accurate record. 
 

TVCA 
21/23 

MAYOR’S UPDATE REPORT 
 
The Chair introduced a report providing a general update on the key 
activities of the Mayor and Combined Authority since the last Cabinet 
meeting.   
 
Cabinet members were invited to ask questions or comment on the report. 
 
Councillor Cook commented that he is pleased to see the Investment Zone 
Programme progressing for the Tees Valley. He noted that the report states 
that the Tees Valley Investment Zone will focus on digital and technology 
high growth clusters in Middlesbrough, Hartlepool and the Airport.  He 
asked if TVCA will make a commitment to support the growth of a care and 
health technology cluster as part of the Care and Health Innovation Zone in 
Stockton? He advised Cabinet that over one third of all digital businesses in 
Tees Valley are in Stockton meaning that this is the heart of the sector in 
the region so to increase sector growth, we must invest in this area.  
  

Page 34



 
 
 
 

Anything is possible   3 
 

The Mayor advised that, following the Autumn statement, Tees Valley will 
receive £160m for Investment Zones and while we are currently working 
with Hartlepool and Middlesbrough, the Investment Zone programme is not 
specific to those areas and that he fully committed to work with Stockton. 
 
Councillor Cook commented that he is pleased to see that losses at the 
Airport are down from last year.  He asked whether the MTFP for the airport 
can be presented to a future TVCA Cabinet meeting.    
  
The Mayor advised that Council's are shareholders in their own right and 
have access to the same information TVCA has, as well as the Airport Board 
comprising of Local Authority representatives - appointed by each council - 
and they receive financial updates so he encouraged Cabinet members to 
speak to their TIA Board representatives. 
 
RESOLVED that Cabinet noted the update. 
 
 

TVCA 
22/23  

GOVERNANCE & APPOINTMENTS 
 
Cabinet was presented a report which had several items for noting and 
approval. 
 
Cabinet was informed of the sad death of Jim Whiston who had been a 
valued member of the Independent Remuneration Panel.  Cabinet extended 
their sympathy to his family, friends and colleagues. 

 
Cabinet was invited to ratify the appointments set out in Paragraphs 2, 3 
and 5 of the Governance & Appointments Cabinet Report. 
 
Cabinet was invited to note the proposed position in respect of the term of 
Membership for Independent Members of the TVCA Audit & Governance 
Committee.  
 
Cabinet was invited to ask questions or comment on these items. 
There were no questions or comments. 
 
 
RESOLVED that Cabinet:- 
 

i. Expressed their sadness at the death of Jim Whiston and extended 
their sympathy to his family, friends and colleagues; 
 

ii. agreed the appointments set out in the report; 
 

Page 35



 
 
 
 

Anything is possible   4 
 

iii. noted the proposed position in respect of the term of Membership 
for Independent Members of the TVCA Audit & Governance 
Committee.   

 
TVCA 
23/23 

QUARTER 2 BUDGET REPORT AND MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 
UPDATE 
 
Cabinet was provided a report which provided an update on the financial 
position of the Combined Authority for the period ending 30 September 
2023 and presented a revised Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP). 
 
Cabinet members were invited to ask questions or comment on the report. 
 
There were no questions or comments. 
 
RESOLVED that Cabinet:- 

  
i. Approve the quarter 2 outturn position for 2023/24; and  
ii. Approve the revised Medium-Term Financial Plan.  

 
 

TVCA 
24/23 

 TREASURY MANAGEMENT MID-YEAR REVIEW 2023/24  
 
Cabinet was informed of the mid-year performance against the treasury 
management and prudential indicators set in the Treasury Management 
Strategy approved by the authority in March 2023. 
 
Cabinet members were invited to ask questions or comment on the report. 
 
There were no questions or comments. 
 
RESOLVED that Cabinet approved the content of the update report. 
 

 
TVCA 
24/23 

ADOPTION OF INVESTMENT PLAN, BUDGET 2024-25 AND MEDIUM-TERM 
FINANCIAL PLAN  
 
Cabinet members were invited to consider and reconfirm the high-level 
financial allocations for the Investment Plan 2023-29 and consider and 
approve the Draft Budget for 2024-25 for the purposes of consultation.   
  
It was noted that this item would be brought back to the January Cabinet 
for final approval/amends following the consultation process.  
 
Cabinet members were invited to ask questions or comment on the report. 
 

Page 36



 
 
 
 

Anything is possible   5 
 

Councillor Harker enquired when the Overview & Scrutiny sub-committee 
were meeting to discuss the draft budget.  He was advised that the TVCA 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee had met earlier this week as part of the 
consultation process, and they will produce a report that will come to the 
January Cabinet.   
  
RESOLVED that Cabinet considered and reconfirmed the high-level financial 
allocations for the Investment Plan 2023-29 and considered and approved 
the Draft Budget for 2024-25 for the purposes of consultation.  
 
 

TVCA 
25/23 

TVCA INVESTMENT PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT 
 
Cabinet was provided a report which provided an update of the TVCA 
Investment Plan Performance. 
 
Cabinet members were invited to ask questions or comment on the report. 
 
Councillor Young commented that the report showed we are on track 
which is impressive to see. 
 
The Group Chief Executive, Julie Gilhespie asked Cabinet members if they 
had any comments on the format of the report as this is the first time this 
report has been presented to Cabinet. There were no comments. 
 
RESOLVED that Cabinet approved the content of the update report. 
 
 

26/2023 DIRECTOR APPOINTMENT 
At this point in the meeting, a resolution should have been proposed to 
exclude the press and public under paragraphs 1 & 2 of schedule 12a of the 
Local Government Act 1972, in order that Cabinet could consider matters of 
a confidential nature.   
The Mayor suggested that the report be discussed without excluding press 
and public, but without mentioning the individual’s name and Cabinet 
agreed. 
 
In line with the requirements of the s113 of the TVCA Constitution, Cabinet 
was asked to approve the re-grade of Assistant Director of Infrastructure to 
Director grade. 
 
Cabinet was advised that the proposal does not seek to directly increase 
headcount, rather to re-grade an existing post to reflect the level of 
responsibility and budget accountability in the post given the expansion of 
the Transport portfolio to include Infrastructure and Project Development as 

Page 37



 
 
 
 

Anything is possible   6 
 

well as its significant increase in budgetary responsibility in light of the 
current and anticipated level of transport spend. 

Cabinet members were invited to ask questions or comment on the report. 
 
Cllr Cook commented that the Mayor clearly recognises the importance of 
investing in additional capacity at Director level to ensure that TVCA can 
deliver the ambitious plans for the regional economic growth and offered his 
support with this appointment.   
 
He added that one third of the Tees Valley economy is in Stockton and they 
have a transformational capital programme in delivery and expressed his 
disappointment that the importance of appropriate leadership and Director-
level capacity is not supported by some councillors in Stockton-on-Tees.  
He further advised that it is vital that Stockton continues to grow its 
economy in this important area, despite challenges to public finances. This 
will lead to a more prosperous future for everyone and in order to do that 
we need to invest in capacity to deliver the economy. 
 
The Mayor commented that he is disappointed that there has been a delay 
in the appointment of a Director of Regeneration on Stockton and that he 
shared Cllr Cook’s frustrations with the situation in Stockton. He added that 
he hoped the appointment could be made soon and the situation could 
move forward positively. 
 
Ian Williams enquired whether, given the importance of the programme, 
there is sufficient capacity in the Transport team to deliver. He was advised 
that the first role of the Director will be to restructure the team to ensure 
there is sufficient capacity.  There is funding within the CRSTS for this and it 
will not affect TVCA’s core budget. 
 
 
RESOLVED that Cabinet approved the re-grade of the Assistant Director of 
Infrastructure to Director and as a result, promoted Tom Bryant to Director. 
 
 

 DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 
Friday 26th January 2024 at 10am 
 
At this point, The Mayor wished everybody a Merry Christmas and closed 
the meeting. 
 

 
  

Page 38



 
Teeswide Safeguarding Adults Board 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Meeting Date: Wednesday 11th October 2023 

Time: 9.30am – 12pm 

Venue: Microsoft Teams 

 
 

Minutes 
 

Attendees 

Name Role Representing 

Janet Alderton Assistant Director of Nursing & Patient Safety North Tees and Hartlepool NHS 
Foundation Trust 

Richard Baker Assistant Chief Constable Cleveland Police 

Jane Bell Administration Officer TSAB Business Unit 

Cllr Lisa Belshaw Lead Member Redcar and Cleveland Borough 
Council 

Darren Best Independent Chair Teeswide Safeguarding Adults 
Board 

Gordon Bentley Designated Nurse Safeguarding Adults North East and North Cumbria 
Integrated Care Board 

Lindsay Britton-
Robertson 

Assistant Director of Safeguarding South Tees Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust 

Jon Carling**** Chief Executive Catalyst Stockton 

Jeremy Collins 
(Part) 

Detective Chief Inspector (Adult Safeguarding) Cleveland Police 

Elspeth Devanney Group Director of Nursing & Quality Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS 
Foundation Trust 

Natasha Douglas Healthwatch Manager Healthwatch Stockton 

David Felton (Part) Assistant Chief Constable Cleveland Police 

Mike Fleet Principal Lecturer (Programmes) 

Department of Nursing & Midwifery 

Teesside University 

Elaine Godwin Admin Officer TSAB Business Unit 

Jean Golightly  Director of Nursing & Quality North East and North Cumbria 
Integrated Care Board 

Jen Moore Designated Nurse Safeguarding Adults North East and North Cumbria 
Integrated Care Board 

Jill Harrison Director of Adult and Community Based 
Services  

Hartlepool Borough Council 

Neil Harrison Head of Safeguarding & Specialist Services Hartlepool Borough Council 

Gina Hurwood  SAR Co-Ordinator TSAB Business Unit 

Alyson Longstaff Advanced Customer Support Senior Leader Durham Tees Valley Department 
for Work and Pensions 

Graham Lyons  Service Manager Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council 

Amy Mahoney Business Manager TSAB Business Unit 

Samantha Midgley Project Officer TSAB Business Unit 

Jen Moore Designated Nurse Safeguarding Adults North East and North Cumbria 
Integrated Care Board 

Carolyn Nice  Director of Adults and Health Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council 

Cara Nimmo Assistant Director for Adult Care 
Operations 

Redcar & Cleveland Borough 
Council 

Kay Nicolson CEO A Way Out 

Karen Rees (Part) Independent Reviewer  
Page 39



 

 2 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Helen Richmond Safer Custody and Equalities Hub Manager HMP Holme House Prison 

Linda Sergeant Project Coordinator Healthwatch South Tees 

Erik Scollay  Director of Adult Social Care  Middlesbrough Borough Council 

Angela Storm Data Analysis and Performance Monitoring 
Officer 

TSAB Business Unit 

Gaynor Trueman 
(Part) 

CEO North East Sex Work Forum 

Gary Watson Business Manager South Tees Safeguarding Children 
Partnership 

 

Apologies 

Name Role Representing 

Cllr Bob Buchan Lead Member Hartlepool Borough Council 

Angela Connor  Assistant Director Adult Social Care/PSW Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council 

Mayor Chris Cooke Lead Member Middlesbrough Borough Council 

Mark Davis*** Chief Executive  Middlesbrough Voluntary 
Development Agency 

Paula Dewell Detective Superintendent – Head of 
Safeguarding 

Cleveland Police 

Dr Hilary Lloyd  Chief Nurse  South Tees Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust 

John Lovatt Assistant Director Hartlepool Borough Council 

Cllr Ann McCoy Lead Member Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council 

Peter Neal CEO Redcar and Cleveland Voluntary 
Development Agency 

Julian Penton**** Development Officer Hartlepower  

Ann Powell Head of Stockton & Hartlepool PDU National Probation Service 

John Rafferty Compliance Business Partner - Safeguarding Thirteen Group 

Darren Redgwell Head of Middlesbrough, Redcar &Cleveland 
PDU 

National Probation Service 

Patrick Rice Corporate Director of Adults and Communities 
 

Redcar & Cleveland Borough 
Council 

Chloe Swash Admin Officer TSAB Business Unit 

Robin Turnbull  Area Manager Cleveland Fire Brigade  

Helen Wilson Superintendent Cleveland Police  
 

Absent 

Name Role Representing 

Sarah Aspinall Inspector CQC (Middlesbrough, Stockton-on-
Tees and Redcar & Cleveland) 

Sarah Bowman-
Abouna 

Director of Public Health Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council 

Kate Duncan Head of Safer Prisons & Equality HMP Holme House Prison 

Rachelle Kipling Temporary Assistant Chief Executive 
 

Office of Police & Crime 
Commissioner 

Michelle Monty Inspector CQC Hartlepool 

Leanne Stockton Business Manager Hartlepool & Stockton 
Safeguarding Children Partnership 

Katie Tucker Inspector CQC Hartlepool 

Stephen Thomas Development Officer Healthwatch Hartlepool 
 

*Attends for specific agenda items only, ** Attends 2 times per year; ***Attends on behalf of MVDA, RCVA & Healthwatch South Tees, 
 **** Attendance will be shared between Catalyst and Hartlepower 

 

Copies: Chris Brown; Rebecca Duce; Caroline Gallilee; Emily Gibson; Suzanne Glass; Lorna Harrison; Nigel Hart; Kay Mcgowan; 
Suzanne Metcalfe; Judith Oliver; Laura Poppleton; Angela Pringle, Mike Sharman; Karen Sproston; Rachael Surtees; Lyndsay 
Waddington 

 

Page 40



 

 3 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Agenda Item 1 Introductions and Apologies Presenter: Chair 

Darren Best (DB) welcomed members to the October meeting. Apologies will be recorded on the minutes. 

 
Agenda Item 2 Right Care Right Person Presenter: David Felton 

Assistant Chief Constable, David Felton (DF), joined the meeting to provide an update on Right Care 
Right Person (RCRP). 
 
Cleveland Police (CP) have adopted a phased approach to the work, with a current focus on putting 
internal structures in place to deliver the changes over the next 12 months. An internal implementation 
board has been created within CP, led by DF, to look at structures, policies and procedures and project 
support. Richard Baker (RB) has responsibilities in relation to safeguarding and vulnerability. Four key 
themes have been identified internally which will then lead onto the external approach, with a tasking 
group for each theme being led by a senior manager. The four themes are: 
 

• Capability and training of staff – CP are utilising the national toolkit to inform this 

• Data quality – In order to identify benchmarks and future direction the force recognises the need for 
data to improve, which will eventually expand to involve partner organisations 

• Media, Communications and Engagement – Head of communications, Alex Drinkall, leads on this 
work. A strategic meeting involving a number of partner organisations has already taken place to 
provide an external link 

• Strategic Partnership Group – Dominic Gardner from Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation 
Trust (TEWV) has assisted with creating the group. The group have met twice and a further meeting 
is being planned for November to discuss the delivery of RCRP at strategic level and to understand 
some of the challenges that this will involve. 

 
In line with the national agreement a phased approach has been adopted. Phase one looks at concern 
for welfare and splits into three areas – Critical threat to life will continue to be responded to by CP, 
concern for welfare will be considered through system and policy changes and the final area where CP 
are an automated point of reference is being reviewed and some changes have already taken place. 
Concern for welfare will be the priority, followed by other areas including absences from locations such 
as hospitals, hospital transportations and handovers and missing.  
 
Externally meetings have already taken place with TEWV to consider the mental health approach and to 
build relationships in this area. The four Local Authority (LA) Chief Executives have been briefed and the 
next strategic partnership group meeting will consider the creation of a RCRP governance group 
straddling all agencies to help manage the implementation. 
 
Alyson Longstaff advised that the DWP are holding an awareness session to assist staff when dealing 
with welfare calls and requested if DWP could be involved with the Communications Group. DB advised 
that information regarding the meeting planned for November has been provided to TSAB and will be 
circulated to members following this presentation with the minutes of the meeting. DF will provide some 
updated information to be circulated in relation to this. 
 
Lindsay Britton-Robertson noted that from a data perspective it will be helpful to measure the impact that 
the initiative has on the most vulnerable people. From a health perspective consideration will need to be 
given to responding to patients in situations where CP may have been the default option. DF assured that 
CP will work with partner organisations to find the best solutions and that it will not be a situation where 
responsibility is passed over on a set date. 
 
Erik Scollay (ES) attended the Strategic Partnership Group where a question was raised as to how the 
four LAs will be represented. ES is happy to continue to provide representation but will contact the 
Directors in the other LA areas outside of this meeting to agree representation. 
 
DB suggested that it would be useful for CP to provide a schematic showing the different groups that have 
been set up, so that TSAB can identify where they have representation and identify any gaps. DF advised 
that this should be in place by early 2024 at which point an update can be provided to Board. 

Page 41



 

 4 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
A national webinar took place last week which included a presentation from Humberside ICB who began 
work on the project in 2019. DF assured that CP have been in contact with a number of organisations 
including Humberside ICB to consider any learning in relation to costs and timescales. 
 
DB thanked DF for providing the first formal update to the Board in relation to RCRP. 

Action Points Action Owner Deadline 

1. Revised date and details for November RCRP meeting to be 
sent to the Business Unit 

DF 18/10/2023 

2. Details of RCRP November meeting to be circulated with the 
minutes 

BU 25/10/2023 

3. Update and Schematic for RCRP groups to be provided to 
Board in the New Year 

DF/RB 13/03/2024 

 
Agenda Item 3 NE Sex Work Forum Presenter: Gaynor Trueman 

The North East Sex Worker Forum (NESWF) has been in existence for 10 years as a collective of 
agencies, but has operated as a Charity for the last two years. Chief Executive Officer, Gaynor Trueman 
(GT), attended the meeting to provide an update on their work to create the Cleveland Sex Worker 
Strategy. It was recognised that a number of pieces of work were taking place in isolation across the 
region. The Police and Crime Commissioner provided funding for a Sex Worker Strategy to create a more 
collaborative approach. NESFW have conducted research across the region to identify barriers around 
access to services and to consider the broader range of people that may be involved since the pandemic. 
 
Consultations have taken place with people who have lived experience to identify needs and focus groups 
have taken place with front line practitioners to look at areas where there may be gaps in knowledge and 
what is needed to equip them to respond appropriately. A training package has been created to look at 
the changing industry and three sessions have been delivered. It has been acknowledged that Adult 
Sexual Exploitation has links to the sex industry, and meetings have taken place with Jeremy Collins to 
ensure that this is included within the strategy. The NESWF plan to create a strategic Board to ensure 
that the strategy moves forward and to create a collaborative harm reduction process across the region. 
Regional learning days take place across the year to provide a platform for individuals with lived 
experience and practitioners to come together in order to network and learn from each other. The next 
event is scheduled to take place at the end of October where the strategy will be shared and from this a 
number of Task & Finish Groups may be formed to create a policy. An evaluation will take place in 2024 
to consider how things may have changed. 
 
Carolyn Nice offered to provide representation from Adult Services on the strategic Board. 
 
DB thanked GT for her presentation and for raising awareness of the work. A link will now be established 
to TSAB via representation on the Strategic Board. 

Action Points Action Owner Deadline 

1. Carolyn Nice to contact Gaynor Trueman regarding 
representation on the strategic Board 

CN 31/10/2023 

 
Agenda Item 4 SARs for Approval Presenter: Karen Rees 

Independent Reviewer, Karen Rees (KR), attended the meeting to present two SAR cases; Case 1/22 
James and Case 3/22 SK. KR explained that the two reviews were carried out simultaneously as it was 
initially believed that there would be similar themes within the learning and recommendations. Once the 
review process began it became evident that the only similarity was that both cases had been subject to 
a LeDer review, although for differing reasons. 
 
A different process to previous SARs was used in order to make this a raid process. Chronologies and 
work to look at themes and learning from previous reviews were used to compile a pre-workshop report. 
Face to face practitioner workshops took place and feedback from these was then used to make 
amendments to Version 1 of the report. The panel were then used as key leads to look at any outstanding 
information and to work on creating subsequent versions of the report and building the recommendations, 

Page 42



 

 5 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

taking into consideration any barriers that have been encountered in taking forward recommendations 
from previous SARs. 
 
The methodology used during the workshops focused on what ‘good’ may have looked like, rather than 
what didn’t go well, and what the response would be now and any barriers to being able to provide support. 
This approach highlights changes in practice that have already taken place and anything additional that 
still needs to be addressed. The process received positive feedback from those involved including 
allowing for open and honest discussion, identifying learning prior to the reports being produced, providing 
an opportunity to network and to understand perspectives and challenges of other organisations. 
 
James – KR thanked the LA for providing a link worker who was able to make the family aware of the 
process and keep them updated on progress. KR met with the family and James’s carer prior to the 
workshops. The face to face meeting gave an insight into things previously unknown and demonstrated 
the importance of family engagement. Feedback was then provided to both following the final governance 
meeting. They were pleased with the outcome of the review and agreed with the recommendations whilst 
also understanding some of the constraints.  
 
A number of areas of good practice were identified along with areas where change has already been 
made, evidencing that learning around some of the key themes from previous SARs is now embedded. 
Consideration was given to ‘what good would look like’ in relation to the key themes and a number of 
recommendations were then agreed with the Governance Group. 
 
It was highlighted that the Mental Health organisations involved in the review operate within a wider area 
than the four Tees Local Authorities and that there would be benefit in sharing the learning with colleagues 
in Darlington. Jean Golightly offered to action this. 
 
SK – KR met virtually with SK’s brother, as the nominated spokesperson for the family. This provided a 
useful insight into SK’s background and life prior to his difficulties. Feedback was provided following the 
review process. SK’s brother expressed appreciation for the openness and honesty from the professionals 
involved and agreed with the recommendations.  KR noted that in both cases it would be beneficial to 
provide an update to the families in 6 or 12 months’ time as both were keen to see the changes that the 
review would make, not just in the areas where the cases happened but across the wider TSAB area. 
 
KR’s presentation contains a summary of the key points from both reviews. A copy of this will be shared 
with the minutes. 
 
Copies of the Overview Report and Learning Briefing from both cases were shared with the meeting 
agenda. No queries were raised by members so the documents were deemed as agreed. 
 
Publication – Jill Harrison (JH), Chair of the SAR Sub-Group, advised that the aim will be to publish the 
reviews in 3-4 weeks’ time. There is no Coroner involvement to delay this and checks has been made to 
ensure that there are no sensitive dates relating to either case. Press statements will be agreed in 
advance in case of any press interest, and the Communication Leads within the Local Authorities will 
manage this. JH requested that Redcar & Cleveland Borough Council confirm that this will be Chris Styles 
for the James case. Any media interest should be reported to the Business Unit who will liaise with the 
link workers and family to ensure that this is managed sensitively. DB added that he will be happy to 
support with any media interest if needed. 
 
It was agreed that the SARs should be published on different dates to give each the importance and 
attention it deserves. Once dates have been agreed this will be communicated to the families and 
members are encouraged to share the reports and learning widely within their organisations. 
 
Final drafts of the reports will be shared with the families prior to publication. For SK a link will be shared 
with the brother. James’s family would like to receive a printed copy which will be hand delivered by the 
link worker. James’s informal carer would like a link or a printed copy to review in his own time and will 
come back to the link worker if he has any questions. Gina Hurwood (GH) will liaise with the link worker 
to organise this. 

Page 43



 

 6 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
DB expressed thanks to both families for their involvement and engagement in the process, to KR for 
producing the reports and recommendations, to the Governance Group led by JH, to the Business Unit 
for their support and to everyone that has been involved in shaping the reports. Adding that the important 
work now is to take the recommendations forward. 
 
GH advised that discussion has taken place at the North East Champions Group around engagement 
with families, and the difficulties that this can pose. GH suggested that it may be beneficial to obtain some 
feedback from the families involved in both cases regarding the process and if there is anything that could 
be done differently to assist. GH will discuss this further with the key workers outside of this meeting. 
 
KR thanked everyone that had been involved in the process. 

Action Points Action Owner Deadline 

1. Learning from James SAR to be shared with colleagues in 
Darlington 

JG 13/12/2023 

2. RCBC to confirm communications lead for the James SAR CN 25/10/2023 

3. Any press interest from the James or SK SAR to be 
communicated to the Business Unit 

All Ongoing 

4. Copies of the reports to be shared with families and carers GH 31/10/2023 

5. Discuss gaining feedback from the families regarding the 
SAR process 

GH 31/10/2023 

 
Agenda Item 5 Annual Report 2022/23 Final Draft Presenter: Amy Mahoney 

The first draft of the Annual Report was shared at the September meeting. Following this a number of 
minor amendments have been made and the final draft was shared with the agenda for approval. The 
report aims to showcase the Board’s achievements and the level of work undertaken by partners and the 
Sub-Groups to achieve the objectives set out in the Strategic Plan. Amy Mahoney requested that any final 
amendments or feedback are provided to the Business Unit by Friday 20th October with the aim of 
publishing the report on Monday 6th November. A media statement will be prepared by SBC’s 
communications and media team in preparation for any media interest. 
 
DB thanked everyone that has contributed to the report. 

Action Points Action Owner Deadline 

1. Final comments on the Annual Report to be forwarded to the 
Business Unit 

All 20/10/2023 

 
Agenda Item 6 Q1 Performance Report Presenter: Angela Storm 

A copy of the Q1 Performance Report was shared with the agenda. Angela Storm (AS) highlighted the 
key points from the report: 
 
Data is provided against each of the Boards 4 Strategic Aims. Joint working – In Q1 two Multi Agency 
Audits took place, 50 cases were referred into Team Around the Individual (TATI) and 96% of individuals 
were satisfied with their outcome from the Safeguarding process. People – Figures are shown for the 
number of people that accessed the Boards training across the various platforms and no new SAR 
recommendations were made during the period. Communication – Figures demonstrate the level of social 
media and website activity for the quarter and 93% of individuals were asked about their desired outcome. 
Services – Three non-statutory partners have commenced the Quality Assurance Framework and data is 
included in relation to the Responding to and Addressing Serious Concerns (RASC) Protocol. 
 
Performance Indicators (PI) – The PIs were reviewed by the Performance, Audit and Quality (PAQ) Sub-
Group and the decision was made to keep the same 4 in place for this reporting year. As all the PIs were 
achieved in the previous year the decision was made to increase the criteria to more than 95% for PI 2. 
The way that the PIs are shown in the report now includes a breakdown by Local Authority (LA) area. 
 
Concerns Received – The number of Concerns received increased during Q1. AS noted that the 
percentage increase in Concerns has been impacted by some issues in the way that Concerns were 

Page 44



 

 7 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

being captured within Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council (SBC). This has now been rectified which will 
reduce the increase to 15% when compared to the same period in the previous year. The number of 
Concerns progressing to a Section 42 Enquiry has reduced, impacted by two of the LA areas. This figure 
will continue to be monitored but is currently still above the national average. There have been increases 
in relation to Physical Abuse in comparison to  Q1 of the previous year and increases in Concerns received 
from Care Homes and NHS Secondary Care. 
 
Section 42 Enquiries Commenced – There has been a small increase in the number of S42 Enquiries 
commenced. Over half related to females, with more than half of these being in the age category 65+. 
The four main types of abuse were Neglect & Acts of Omission, Physical, Financial & Material and 
Domestic Abuse with increase in Neglect & Acts of Omission and Financial & Material Abuse. The number 
of Enquiries relating to Organisational Abuse has more than doubled, although the numbers do remain 
low. 
 
Location of Abuse – For some time the main location of abuse has been Own Home. During Q1 this has 
changed to Care Homes. The main types of abuse were Neglect & Acts of Omission and Physical. This 
data may have been impacted by issues from 2 of the LA areas in relation to RASC. Financial, Domestic 
Abuse and Self-Neglect are the main categories of abuse recorded against Own Home. 
 
Concluded Section 42 Enquiries – In more than half of the cases the source of risk was known to the 
individual. The figure is usually higher but may have been impacted by an increase in the Service Provider 
category. Safeguarding action was taken in the majority of cases with 93% of people being asked about 
their desired outcome and outcomes being fully or partially achieved in 96% of these cases. Risk was 
reduced or removed in over 90% of cases. 
 
Multi Agency Data – There was an increase in the number of Concerns referred to the LAs from both 
North-Tees & Hartlepool Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and South-Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust with Neglect & Acts of Omission as the main type of abuse. Allegations against the Trusts included 
similar themes to previous years around Communication, Discharge, Medication and Pressure Ulcer 
Care. Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys (TEWV) NHS Foundation Trust also reported an increase in the number 
of Concerns referred to the LAs. The main type of abuse was consistently reported as Physical, but this 
is now more varied. Cleveland Police recorded a 1% decrease in overall recorded crime force wide since 
Q1 last year. Domestic Abuse crimes have increased since Q1 in the previous year with a small increase 
in the Repeat Victim rate. Cleveland Fire Brigade continue to identify and refer to the LAs. The main types 
of abuse are Self-Neglect and Psychological. Thirteen Housing made 35 referrals with 17 progressing to 
S42 Enquires. More than half of these related to males which is a change from previous quarters. The 
main types of abuse reported were Self-Neglect, Neglect & Acts of Omission and Domestic Abuse. 
 
In response to a query around the use of conversion rates to monitor performance DB advised that this 
was removed as a formal PI due to the fact that a high figure could be viewed as a positive or a negative 
outcome. The figure continues to be monitored by the PAQ Sub-Group alongside narrative from the LAs 
which provides assurance in relation to the figures. Carolyn Nice queried if a Vulnerable Adult Risk 
Management (VARM) process existed regionally for individuals that don’t meet the criteria for a S42 
Enquiry, whether all LAs are assured that referrals are appropriate and that systems are in place to identify 
repeat referrals and ensure the right links are made. DB agreed that feedback from the independent peer 
review that took place in SBC has highlighted some weaknesses in the way that TSAB consider data, 
particularly in relation to cases that don’t meet the criteria for a S42 Enquiry. DB suggested that these 
areas should be something for the PAQ Sub-Group to look at in further detail. DB also suggested that 
data and the assurance that it provides on an individual and collective basis could be a key focus for both 
the Operational Leads and Board Development sessions due to take place in February 2024. 
 
DB highlighted 5 key points from the performance report: 

• Linked to the SAR presentation from KR, the need to gain assurance around cases that fall below 
the criteria for a S42 Enquiry 

• It is beneficial to see the PIs broken down by LA area, and DB suggests that this is something that 
continues 

Page 45



 

 8 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

• The move to Care Homes as the main location of risk is something that should continue to be 
monitored 

• The query in relation to conversion rates is often raised during scrutiny meetings following the 
publication of the Annual Report. The aim should be to be able to provide a more coherent 
response in relation to this. This could also be added to the agenda for the Development Session. 

• Data in relation to housing is currently only provided by Thirteen Housing. Would it be possible to 
obtain data from the other major providers across Tees? 

Action Points Action Owner Deadline 

1. Consideration to be given to the way that TSAB collect & 
consider data  

PAQ Sub-
Group 

27/11/2023 

2. Data to be a key focus for Operational Leads and Board 
Development sessions 

BU February 2024 

3. Conversion rates and narrative around this to be considered 
during the Development session 

BU February 2024 

4. Establish if data could be provided by other major housing 
providers across Tees 

PAQ Sub-
Group 

27/11/2024 

 
Agenda Item 7 Strategic Plan Monitoring Framework – Mid-

Year Update 
Presenter: Angela Storm 

A copy of the Framework was circulated with the agenda. All actions are on schedule and there are no 
areas for concern. 

 
Agenda Item 8 Sub-Group and Task & Finish Group 

Update 
Presenter: Sub-Group Chairs 

Updates were provided by the Chairs of the Sub-Groups that have met since the last Board meeting in 
September. 
 
Communication & Engagement (CE) – Neil Harrison 
 
The CE Sub-Group met on 2nd October.  
 
The formal launch of the High Risk Adults Panel (HRAP) will take place on Monday 6 November 2023. 
The new suite of documentation will be hosted on the TSAB website, and information will be shared via 
internal websites, newsletters and bulletins to ensure that all professionals are aware of the changes 
being made.   
 
Plans for the Spotlight on Modern Slavery & Exploitation campaign which took place between 2nd – 6th 
October were shared with the group. TSAB hosted a comprehensive resource page online to support the 
campaign. A social media campaign across the week was also implemented to raise important messages 
and to share resources around Modern Slavery and Sexual Exploitation. 380 professionals from both 
adults and children’s services across Tees attended a half day conference which took place on 
Wednesday 4th October. This featured presentations from guest speakers including The Chair of the Anti-
Slavery Network, Cleveland Police, North East Regional Organised Crime Unit, Barnardo’s, Causeway, 
The Salvation Army and Local Adult and Children’s Safeguarding teams. Attendees also heard from a 
guest speaker with lived experience. Feedback from the event has been really positive and an in-depth 
evaluation will be presented to Board following the next CE Sub-Group meeting.   
 
The National Safeguarding Adults Week Task and Finish Group have met twice with a third meeting 
scheduled for the end of October. Planned activity includes a Bus Stop campaign, a trauma informed 
practice session, DBS session for professionals, resident magazine articles, radio campaigns and 
sessions with an independent advocacy service user group. Once plans are confirmed a multi-agency 
communication plan, social media plan and resource pack will be shared with CE members to provide an 
overview of all activity across Tees during the week.  
 

Page 46



 

 9 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

A Safeguarding Champions Event will be hosted across Sexual Abuse and Sexual Violence Awareness 
Week (5th – 11th February 2024). The half day event will include presentations from ARCH Teesside, 
financial abuse and scams, safe place scheme and learning from SARs. 
 
The Annual Consultation Survey is now live and was launched immediately after the Modern Slavery and 
Exploitation conference. Small amendments have been to the survey for 2023/24. The loneliness and 
isolation question has been removed along with the refence to Liberty Protection Safeguards. As in 
previous years there is a Professionals, a General Public, and a General Public Easy read version. The 
survey will close on 31st January 2023. The results and analysis will be published within the 
Communication & Engagement Report for 2023/24. 
 
The CE Strategy has been updated and some minor amendments made. A copy of the revised version 
was shared with the agenda. 
 
Learning, Training & Development (LTD)– Cara Nimmo on behalf of Patrick Rice 
 
The Q1 report for Me-Learning was shared with the Sub-Group. The platform continues to be well used 
with a good spread across all sectors and a high completion rate. 
 
The Training Budget was reviewed. The current plan does allow for any additional learning that may be 
identified from reviews. Due to demand an additional date has been added for the Digitally Assisted 
Stalking Awareness webinar that is being hosted in conjunction with the Children’s partnerships. In 
response to the Molly SAR a Trauma workbook and webinar course are being developed. The Sub-Group 
agreed the outline proposals for these. 
 
The Charging policy for non-attendance at training events was reviewed, and different options for 
enforcing this were considered. 
 
TSAB have updated their Training Web Page to provide information on all the courses offered, including 
dates for scheduled sessions. 
 
Discussion took place around the Oliver McGowan mandatory training with an action for members to 
feedback on the position within their own organisations. Jen Moore (JM) advised that she is conducting a 
piece of work in relation to this covering providers and LAs across Tees. JM will provide feedback to the 
Business Unit and the LTD Sub-Group and any issues will be highlighted to Board. 
 
Operational Leads 
 
The Sub-Group have not met since the last Board meeting. Graham Lyons attended the meeting to 
present the findings from SBC’s Multi Agency Report on incidents Between Residents. Copies of the 
reports from the two cases considered were shared with the agenda. Areas of good practice were 
identified around use of the TSAB Decision Support Guidance and timely interventions. An area for 
potential learning was identified in relation to actions and timescales been made clearer within case notes. 
This has been fed back to the teams so that improvements can be made. 
 
Safeguarding Adults Review – Jill Harrison 
 
Two SARs have been concluded and were covered under Agenda Item 4. 
Two SARs are almost completed, and the final reports will be shared with members at the December 
Board meeting. 
The Jack SAR is due to commence with Mike Ward as the appointed reviewer. 
The Sub-Group met last week to discuss a new SAR notification and the recommendation has been 
forwarded to DB for approval. 
 
Adult Sexual Exploitation Toolkit & Risk Screening Tool – Copies of both documents were shared with 
the agenda for approval prior to being launched in November. Jeremy Collins (JC) advised that within the 
toolkit there is a query around the best way to include the MAPPA, MARAC and MATAC referral 

Page 47



 

 10 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

documents. The toolkit is a PDF format which does not allow the documents to be embedded, and as 
they aren’t TSAB documents they are not available via the TSAB website. JC suggested that options 
included the documents being added in the background where they would not be publicly visible, 
circulating them as part of the communications plan during the launch, including an email link at the end 
of the toolkit in the event of any queries or alternatively as most organisations will already have the 
documents there is no need to include them. 
 
Due to the late running of the meeting DB requested that the documents are circulated to members with 
the minutes for any feedback or suggestions regarding the inclusion of the MAPPA, MARAC and MATAC 
documents. 

Action Points Action Owner Deadline 

1. Feedback in relation to the Oliver McGowan training to be 
provided to the Business Unit and LTD Sub-Group 

JM Once Available 

2. ASE Toolkit and Risk Screening Tool to be circulated with the 
minutes for any feedback 

BU 25/10/2023 

3. Feedback in relation to the ASE Toolkit and Risk Screening 
Tool to be provided to the Business Unit by 31st October 

All 31/10/2023 

 
Agenda Item 9 Information Sharing Agreement Presenter: Amy Mahoney 

The Information Sharing Agreement (ISA) will be circulated with the minutes for feedback or comments. 
Changes made have been highlighted in yellow. If no feedback in received by the end of October, the 
document will be deemed as agreed. 

Action Points Action Owner Deadline 

1. ISA to be circulated with the minutes for approval. BU 25/10/2023 

2. Feedback or comments in relation to the ISA to be forwarded 
to the Business Unit by 31st October 

All 31/10/2023 

 
Agenda Item 10 Any Other Business Presenter: All 

No further points raised for discussion. 

 

Next Meeting Date: Wednesday 13th December 2023 

Time: 9.30am – 12pm 

Venue: Microsoft Teams 

 
Minutes approved by Independent Chair: 

 
 
Date: 19/10/2023  

 

Page 48



 

 11 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

Appendix 1 - Attendance Matrix

The table below reflects named members of the TSAB, although deputies have been shaded.

Company 1
6
/0
2
/2
0
2
3

0
7
/0
3
/2
0
2
3

1
9
/0
4
/2
0
2
3

1
4
/0
6
/2
0
2
3

1
3
/0
9
/2
0
2
3

1
1
/1
0
/2
0
2
3

1
3
/1
2
/2
0
2
3

6
Catalyst Stockton / Hartlepower 2 1 1 1 2 1 0 100%

ICB 2 2 3 1 2 3 0 100%

Cleveland Fire Brigade 1 0 1 1 1 1 0 83%

Cleveland Police 1 1 2 1 2 1 0 100%

CQC Board Member (Mlbro, Redcar, Stockton)
(committed to attend 2 meetings per year)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0%

CQC Board Member (Hartlepool) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

Durham Tees Valley CRC 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

DWP 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 67%

Hartlepool and Stockton Safeguarding Children 

Partnership
0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0%

Hartlepool Borough Council 2 2 3 2 1 2 0 100%

HBC Lead Member 0 1 1 1 1 0 0 67%

Healthwatch Hartlepool 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 33%

Healthwatch South Tees 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 50%

Healthwatch Stockton 1 1 1 0 0 1 0 67%

HMP Holme House Prison 1 0 1 1 1 1 0 83%

Middlesbrough Borough Council 1 1 2 1 2 1 0 100%

MBC Lead Member 1 1 1 0 1 0 0 67%

Middlesbrough VDA / Redcar & Cleveland VDA 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 17%

National Probation Service Cleveland 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 17%

North East Ambulance Service
(attend for specific agenda items only)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0%

North Tees & Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust 1 1 1 1 1 1 0 100%

Public Health 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 50%

Office of Police & Crime Commissioner (committed to 2 

meetings per year)
1 1 0 1 1 0 0

67%

Redcar & Cleveland Borough Council 1 1 1 2 1 1 0 100%

RCBC Lead Member 0 1 1 1 0 1 0 67%

Stockton on Tees Borough Council 1 1 2 1 1 2 0 100%

SBC Lead Member 0 1 1 0 1 0 0 50%

South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 1 1 1 1 1 1 0 100%

South Tees Safeguarding Children Partnership 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 33%

Teesside University 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 17%

Tees Esk & Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust 1 1 1 1 1 1 0 100%

Thirteen Housing 1 1 0 1 1 0 0 67%

TSAB Independent Chair 1 1 1 1 1 1 0 100%

TSAB Business Unit 5 6 7 6 7 6 0 100%

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 50



SAFER STOCKTON PARTNERSHIP 
 
A meeting of Safer Stockton Partnership was held on Wednesday 20 September 
2023. 
 
Present: 
 

Cllr Norma Stephenson OBE (Chair), Cllr Steve Nelson, Cllr Stefan 
Houghton, Marc Stephenson, Errol Parks, Chris Dunwell, Dawn 
Tyerman (SBC- Community Services), Mandy Mackinnon (SBC-
Public Health), Dave Willingham (SBC- Children Services), Chloe 
Willow (SBC  Environmental Crime Co-ordinator), Gary Knight 
(SBC-Housing), Jon Carling (Catalyst), Angela Corner (Thirteen 
Group), Sarah Wilson (OPCC), Stu Hodgson, Dan Heron (Cleveland 
Police), Ann Powell (Probation Service), Kay Nicolson (A Way Out). 
 

Officers: 
 

Judy Trainer (Democratic Services). 
 

Also in 
attendance: 
 

 NA 

Apologies: 
 

 Cllr Mrs Ann McCoy, Leanne Maloney-Kelly (SBC- Licensing), Alex 
Sinclair (NHS), Sharon Cooney (SBC  Community Services), 
Richard Brown (Cleveland Fire Brigade). 
 

 
SSP/9/23 Minutes 

 
AGREED that the minutes of the meeting held on 19 July 2023 be approved as a 
correct record. 
 

SSP/10/23 Appointment of New Chair and Vice Chair 
 
AGREED That Councillor Norma Stephenson OBE be appointed at Chair. 
AGREED That Superintendent John Whitmore be appointed at Vice Chair. 
 

SSP/11/23 Stockton on Tees Bonfire Strategy 
 
The Partnership received a presentation outlining: 
 
The aims and objective of Operation Bonfire 2023 

 Education and awareness 
 Community Engagement 
 Enforcement 
 Response 
 Monitoring and reporting 

Understanding community motives and our actions 
 The communities motives 
 Our intentions 
 Two elements to our approach: 
 Educational  
 Operational 
 How are hotspot locations identified 
 Assessing the Operation and effectiveness for next year 

Page 1Page 51



 Policy Position  
 
Key issues highlighted and discussed: 
 

 A list of hot spot areas was being finalised and would be circulated  
 Success measures for the Operation included achieving a reduction in hot spot 

areas and minimising combustibles and bonfires 
 A community event for next year was being investigated to provide a 

diversionary activity  
 Details of the Action Day would be circulated when finalised 
 Communications focused on Bonfire Night and not Mischief Night to avoid 

raising the profile of this 
 Jon Carling undertook to provide details of Youth United Stockton (YUS) as 

they had Borough wide coverage 
 

Partners were encouraged to keep feeding in any intelligence to 
Civic.Enforcement@Stockton.gov.uk. 
 
AGREED that the presentation be noted and a further update provided in November. 
 

SSP/12/23 Public Space Protection Order Update 
 
The Partnership received an update on the operation of the Public Space Protection 
Order which had been introduced in April 2023 and focusing on areas within Stockton 
and Norton. As at 10 September 2023, the following warnings/ notices had been 
issued: 
 

 Tier 1 PSPO instruction  Individuals breaching PSPO for first time - 129 (74 of 
which issued in April and May, 55 issued since end of May) 

 Tier 2 PSPO warning  Individuals breaching PSPO for second time (within 28 
days from Tier 1) - 44 

 Tier 3 PSPO Fixed Penalty Notice  Individuals breaching PSPO for third time 
(within 28 days from Tier 2) - 17 (15 issued before end of June, 2 since) 

 Alcohol confiscations  seized or destroyed at the scene of incident - 28 
 
The Partnership acknowledged the positive impact of the PSPO. Key issues 
discussed included: 
 

 Some displacement had been experienced from the fountains area to the 
bottom of Silver Street and Parish Gardens; the local community/ Church 
helped to flag up issues being experienced in this area 

 Positive feedback had been received from market traders 
 Officers continued to patrol in Norton Village although there were very few 

cases where legislative powers had been exercised  
 Use of the legislation was discretionary and Enforcement Officers often 

signposted individuals to other support available; a formal referral process 
was something that could be explored in the future 

 
AGREED the update be noted. 
 
 
 
 

Page 2Page 52



SSP/13/23 Recorded Crime and Disorder Report (paper) 
 
Members considered a report providing an overview on recorded crime, anti-social 
behaviour incidents and domestic abuse in Stockton on Tees for the 12-month period 
between July 2022 and August 2023. 
 
Key issues highlighted and discussed included: 
 

 There was an overall reduction in total crime in Stockton on Tees 
 Recognising the younger workforce, younger officers were being teamed with 

more experienced officers. Work was focusing on improving investigation 
and response  

 A Week of Action was planned in October providing crime prevention visits and 
advice to tackle Shop Theft  

 Further analysis was needed to understand burglary statistics due to changing 
definitions  Operation Elder was still running  

 Operation Deterrence continued to provide a focus on violent crime hotspots 
 Action to break the drug supply continued - six houses supplying drugs had 

been targeted in last two months  
 Members commented that they would expect an increase in acquisitive crime 

due to cost of living pressures and questioned where there was an element 
of under reporting. This would be a message for the Week of Action. It was 
also noted that police divert shoplifters to other agencies. Jon Carling 
undertook to provide details of VCS organisation who could provide support 

 Thirteen Group were keen to work with the police to tackle bike hotspots and 
had access to funding to support this. 

 
AGREED that the report be noted and actioned as appropriate. 

 
SSP/14/23 Any Other Business 

 
Domestic Homicide Review (DHR) 
 
The Chair of the SSP had taken a decision to commence a DHR following a suicide 
earlier in the year with Domestic Abuse as a potential contributory factor. A 
conference has been held in August attended by key stakeholders and NEPO had 
been instructed to commence a tendering process to appoint an Independent Chair. 
Once appointed, the Independent Chair would be in touch with every member of the 
Partnership and the review would be completed within 6 months. 

It was noted that where there was a suicide with Domestic Abuse known, there should 
be a DHR. In addition, the Suicide Prevention Co-ordinator should inform Public 
Health in cases where Domestic Abuse was present. Mandy Mackinnon undertook to 
contact the Suicide Prevention Co-ordinator to ensure that notifications were being 
received.  

AGREED that the update be noted and actioned as appropriate. 

Problem Solving Masterclass 

In response to a recognised need, a well-respected and experienced trainer had been 
identified to provide a training day for partnership members around problem solving. It 
was proposed to use a scheduled meeting of the Partnership to deliver the training 
which would cost in the region of £1000. 

Page 3Page 53



AGREED that the training proposal be supported. 

Bid to Safer Streets 5 

Stockton on Tees Borough Council and the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner had submitted a bid to the Home Office for Safer Streets 5 funding. The 
bid was seeking to secure a range of crime prevention measures and also support 
engagement work with women and girls. For this round, match funding could include 
officer time. The outcome was expected in September and a Working Group would be 
established if funding was secured to deliver the actions. 

AGREED that the update be noted. 

 
SSP/15/23 RESTRICTED - iQuanta Report (paper) 

 
Members were presented with a restricted report that provided an overview on crime 
comparisons against other similar CSPs utilising iQuanta. 
 
This report was a restricted document due to the statistical information only made 
available as an intelligence tool for partnerships until released by the Home Office. 
 
AGREED that the report be noted. 
 

Page 4Page 54



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
 

AGENDA ITEM 
 

REPORT TO CABINET 
 

18 JANUARY 2023 
 

REPORT OF CORPORATE 
MANAGEMENT TEAM 

 
 

COUNCIL DECISION 
 
Regeneration and Housing - Lead Cabinet Member – Councillor Nigel Cooke 
 
Local Plan five year review  
 
SUMMARY 
 
The development plan (a local plan) is at the heart of the planning system, setting out a vision and 
strategy for future development of the Borough. Included within it are a series of policies which 
support the delivery of that strategy and against which planning applications are assessed.  
 
Under regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 
2012, there is a legal requirement to ‘review’ local plans at least once every 5 years from their 
adoption to ensure they remain fit for purpose. In the case of the Stockton on Tees Local Plan that 
is required to be complete by the 31 January 2024.   
 
Cabinet are being asked to ratify the outcomes of the Local Plan review and to recommend to Council 
to begin the process of a full update of the Local Plan. 
 
 
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION / DECISION 
 
Officers consider that the current local plan requires an update due to changes in; the calculation 
process of the housing requirement; implications of changes to the retail sector and use classes 
order; and a changing policy landscape with regards the environment and climate change (full review 
contained at appendix 1).  
 
A full update of the Local Plan is deemed necessary due to the interdependent elements of these 
factors across the Local Plan as a whole and as they are not ‘narrow’ enough to be adequately dealt 
with by a partial Local Plan review. Furthermore, given the emerging planning reforms a full review 
and formulation of a new Local Plan under the new emerging Local Plan system is considered to be 
the most robust and cost-effective way forward.  
 
It will also offer an opportunity to update and align the Borough’s planning policies with a number of 
the Councils recent and emerging policies and aspirations on climate change, addressing 
inequalities and in driving forward economic growth and regeneration.   
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Cabinet are recommended to;  
 

1. Agree the findings and recommendations of the internal officer review of the Stockton on 
Tees Local Plan (Appendix 1).  

Page 55

Agenda Item 7



 

1 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

2. Agree that the findings of the Local Plan review are made publicly available and published 
on its website. 
 

3. Recommend to Council that a full update of the Stockton on Tees Local Plan commences.  
 

4. Authorise the Director of Regeneration and Inclusive Growth to commence work on 
preparatory work for a new local plan with a review of the evidence base, related project 
management activity and consultation on updated Conservation Area Appraisals in advance 
of the details on government’s new local plan process.  

 
BACKGROUND  
 
1. The development plan (a local plan) is at the heart of the planning system with a requirement set 

in law that planning decisions must be taken in line with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.  

 
2. Both the National Planning Policy Framework and regulation 10A of The Town and Country 

Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 require a review of local plans at least 
once every 5 years from their adoption. The Current Stockton on Tees Local Plan was adopted 
on the 30 January 2019 and thus a review needs to be complete by 31 January 2024. 

 
3. Failure to carry out the review would mean the Council is in breach of its legal duty of regulation 

10A. There is no prescribed approach, but a review of a Local Plan against a standardised 
template produced by the Planning Advisory Service is being promoted nationally as good 
practice. 

 
REVIEW PROCESS 
 
4. As part of the Local Plan Review, there are only three available outcomes, either that;  

 
i) The Local Plan is up-to-date and no changes are required;  

ii) Some changes are required and there is the need for a partial update of the plan;  

iii) Significant changes are required and a full update or new local plan is required.  

 

5. Consultation has occurred with key consultees and stakeholders regarding their own 
professional view of whether the policies of the Local Plan remain ‘fit for purpose’. No 
fundamental aspects have been raised which would indicate the Local Plan is not ‘fit for purpose’.  
 

6. In the event that a partial update to a Local Plan is required, then the processes and stages are 
the same as they would be for a new plan or full plan update, with critique and examination by 
the Planning Inspectorate.  
 

7. Within the report is a summary of the processes undertaken for the review of the Local Plan. In 
order to ensure that the review of the Stockton on Tees Local Plan has been undertaken robustly, 
Officers have used the Planning Advisory Service’s (PAS) Local Plan route planning and toolkit.  

 
8. A review by the independent Planning Officers Society (POS enterprises) acting as a ‘critical 

friend’ has also been commissioned. The outcome of the PAS toolkit/POS review comments are 
attached at appendix 1 of this report. 

 
REVIEW OUTCOMES  
 
9. Within the review of the Local Plan it is considered that there are three areas of significant 

change, these are discussed below;  
 
Housing  
 

Page 56



 

2 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

10. Whilst the Council can currently demonstrate a five year supply and delivery is generally 
consistent with that identified in the Local Plan, the housing requirement of the Local Plan is 
based on an Objective Assessment of Need (OAN) for new housing as originally required by the 
NPPF (2012). Subsequent revisions to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
introduced a ‘Local Housing Need’ (LHN) also known as the ‘Standard Methodology’ for 
calculating housing requirements. The Local Plan housing requirement does not use the local 
housing need as a starting point. 
 

11. Although the housing requirement in the Local Plan is at a higher figure than LHN, there is a 
significant difference between the adopted housing requirement and the baseline LHN. As a 
result, an update to the housing requirement of the Local Plan will need to consider LHN and 
other relevant factors such as local demographics and market trends. In the interim period the 
five-year supply assessment will be made against the local housing need in accordance with the 
NPPF paragraph 77. 

 
Retail  
 
12. With regards to delivering the local plan objectives for commercial floorspace, the local plan 

adopted a cautious approach to comparison retail floorspace with the requirement for beyond 
2022 being informed by a future retail capacity assessment. 
 

13. Given changes to retail habits, which were accelerated by the pandemic and lack of demand for 
comparison retail floorspace that review has not been carried out. In conjunction with changes 
to the Use Class Order (which have combined retail with a number of other town centre uses 
under the commercial E-use class) the effectiveness of current policies to influence changes to 
and from retail use have been curtailed. 

 
14. Furthermore,  the ambitious regeneration strategy for Stockton to try and address the decline of 

town centres, through the demolition of the Castlegate Centre, has improved vacancy rates but 
brought about a significant reduction of comparison retail floorspace.  

 
15. The market for comparison retail is currently weak and it is unlikely there will be a need to bring 

forward significant comparison retail floorspace in the near future. However, a new town centres 
study which considers comparison retail needs alongside other town centre activities, should be 
undertaken in the future once there is greater certainty over the outcomes of the town centre 
programme and retail trends stabilise.   

 
Local Environment 
 
16. Policies within the Local Plan, remain consistent with the NPPF and other guidance, with more 

locally focussed issues such as a strategic mitigation solution within Seal Sands requiring further 
review alongside other strategic opportunities such as the Local Nature Recovery Strategy and 
10% Biodiversity net gain.  
 

17. However, the introduction of ‘Nutrient Neutrality’ has created a significant change in 
circumstance since the adoption of the Local Plan and is having implications for the delivery of 
residential development and other overnight accommodation. Additionally, a review of the Local 
Plan would also allow opportunities to align more closely with the Council’s Environmental 
Sustainability and Carbon Reduction Strategy and net zero aspirations (2022-2032) and any 
emerging Air Quality Strategy. 
 

PLANNING REFORMS  
 
18. The Planning White Paper in 2020, proposed fundamental planning reforms although some of 

the more radical proposals have to date not been brought forward. Instead, the Levelling Up and 
Regeneration Act (LURA) introduces a range of focussed changes rather than a full overhaul of 
the current planning system. 

Page 57



 

3 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
19. Following the NPPF consultation (Dec 2022), Government have very recently released an update 

to the NPPF (20 December 2023). This revised NPPF, does not result in any fundamental 
changes which affect the current Local Plan or this review.   

 
20. Notwithstanding that, further planning reforms remain on the horizon. The Regeneration and 

Levelling Up Act (LURA) has introduced a series of reforms to the planning system, most notably 
with regards to the Local Plan making system (Part 3 and Schedule 7). This is intended to 
introduce a ‘new generation’ of local plan which are simpler to produce and use. The associated 
legislation is expected to be enacted during 2024 which will provide greater detail.   
 

21. There has also been the indication of further changes to the NPPF and it is expected that this 
will include the introduction of national development management policies which would represent 
a significant future change for the current local plan.   

 
REVIEW CONCLUSIONS  
 
22. The  changes in the calculation process of the housing requirement, changes to the retail sector 

(including shopping habits and introduction of the use classes order), along with a changing 
policy landscape with regards the environment and climate change, all represent significant 
changes in circumstance since the adoption of the Local Plan.   

 
23. All of these elements are considered to have ‘cross cutting’ factors and changes to one, may 

undermine another element of the Local Plan. Individually they are not considered to be narrow 
enough to be satisfactorily addressed through a partial review of the Local Plan.  The associated 
required resources and cost of a partial plan review will also be significant as the process mimics 
the full review process. 

 
24. As detailed above, the passing of the Levelling Up and Regeneration Act introduced a ‘new style’ 

local plan system, which are intended to be easier to prepare and understand, but will require a 
new plan being produced every five years. Further details are awaited and expected later this 
year. Other significant planning reforms are also anticipated which include the introduction of 
National Development Management Policies and these elements will also have consequences 
for the current adopted Local Plan.  

 
25. Given the change in circumstances since the Local Plan adoption and additional emerging 

planning reforms, a full review/formulation of a new Local Plan under the new emerging Local 
Plan system is considered to be the most robust and cost-effective way forward. It will also offer 
an opportunity to update and align the Boroughs planning policies with the Council’s other recent 
and emerging policies and aspirations such as climate change, addressing inequalities and 
economic growth and regeneration.     

 
26. With regards to implications on the status of the Local Plan, the strategic policies will continue to 

aim to meet anticipated development needs up to 2032. In the intervening period before any new 
Local Plan is adopted, the five-year housing supply would be considered against the 
government’s standard methodology, given that the Local Plan housing requirement needs 
review.  
 

27. The determination of planning applications will continue to use the current Local Plan as the 
starting point alongside relevant material planning considerations with weight being attributed to 
those being based on the consistency with the NPPF, as is currently the case.  

 
 
 
 
 
COMMUNITY IMPACT IMPLICATIONS 

Page 58



 

4 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
28. The provision of a new Local Plan will encompass and have the potential to affect all areas of 

the Borough and the varied elements of all our communities and further detail across community 
impact will be provided in future reports.  
 

29. Any new Local Plan will be produced in accordance with the statutory Local Plan process which 
will include  effective engagement and consultation with our communities and stakeholders.  This 
will include a variety of communication methods which will be likely to include community 
engagement sessions, use of social media, press releases and the Council website (or linked 
dedicated site). Further consideration will be given throughout the Local Plan process and any 
impacts will be identified within future reports. 

 
CORPORATE PARENTING IMPLICATIONS     

 
30. There will be no implications for Corporate Parenting as a result of this report. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
31. The are no direct financial implications as a result of this report.  The delivery of a new local plan 

and the associated evidence base will incur future cost and details of the financial implication will 
be identified within future reports.  

 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
32. Regulation 10A of The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 

requires a mandatory five-year review of Local Plans. This report and outcome of the Local Plan 
review comply with that requirement.  
 

RISK ASSESSMENT   
 

33. A Cabinet decision on the Local Plan review does not raise any immediate risk to the Council is 
categorised as low to medium risk. Existing management systems and daily route activities are 
sufficient to control and reduce risk. 
 

WARDS AFFECTED AND CONSULTATION WITH WARD/COUNCILLORS  
 

34. The Local Plan review affects all wards and Councillors.  
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
35. Relevant background papers include; 

• Stockton on Tees Local Plan – 2019 

• National Planning Policy Framework - 2023 

• National Planning Practice Guidance  
 
 
Name of Contact Officer: Simon Grundy  
Post Title: Planning Services Manager  
Telephone No. 01642 528550 
Email Address: simon.grundy@stockton.gov.uk  

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 60



 

1 

PAS LOCAL PLAN ROUTE MAPPER TOOLKIT PART 1:  LOCAL PLAN REVIEW ASSESSMENT 
 

Why you should use this part of the toolkit 
 

The following matrix will assist you in undertaking a review of policies within your plan to assess whether they need updating.   
 
The matrix is intended to supplement the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (paragraph 33 in particular) and the associated National Planning 
Practice Guidance on the review of policies within the plan.  Completing the matrix will help you understand which policies may be out of date for the 
purposes of decision making or where circumstances may have changed and whether or not the policy / policies in the plan continue to be effective in 
addressing the specific local issues that are identified the plan.  This in turn will then help you to focus on whether and to what extent, an update of your 
policies is required. We would recommend that you undertake this assessment even if your adopted local plan already contains a trigger for review 
which has already resulted in you knowing that it needs to be updated.  This is because there may be other policies within the plan which should be, or 
would benefit from, being updated.   
 

This part of the toolkit deals only with local plan review. Part 2 of the toolkit sets out the content requirements for a local plan as set out in the NPPF.  
Part 3 of the toolkit outlines the process requirements for plan preparation set out in legislation and the NPPF. Soundness and Plan Quality issues are 
dealt with in Part 4 of the toolkit. 

 

How to use this part of the toolkit  
 

Before using this assessment tool it is important that you first consider your existing plan against the key requirements for the content of local plans 
which are included in the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended); The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012 (as amended) and the most up to date NPPF, PPG, Written Ministerial Statements and the National Model Design Code. To help you 
with this Part 2 of the toolkit provides a checklist which sets out the principal requirements for the content and form of local plans against the relevant 
paragraphs of the NPPF. Completing Part 2 of the toolkit will help you determine the extent to which your current plan does or does not accord with 
relevant key requirements in national policy.  This will assist you in completing question 1 in the assessment matrix provided below, and in deciding 
whether or not you need to update policies in your plan, and to what extent. 
 

To use the matrix, consider each of the statements listed in the “requirements to consider” column against the content of your current plan. You will 
need to take into consideration policies in all development plan documents that make up your development plan, including any ‘made’ neighbourhood 
plans and/ or any adopted or emerging Strategic Development Strategy. For each statement decide whether you:  

• Disagree (on the basis that your plan does not meet the requirement at all); 

P
age 61

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/plan-making
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/plan-making
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/all?title=The%20Town%20and%20Country%20Planning%20%28Local%20Planning%29%20%28England%29%20Regulations
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/all?title=The%20Town%20and%20Country%20Planning%20%28Local%20Planning%29%20%28England%29%20Regulations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-model-design-code


 

2 

• Agree (on the basis that you are confident that your current plan will meet the requirement) 
 

Some prompts are included to help you think through the issues and support your assessment. You may wish to add to these reflecting on your own 
context.  
 

Complete all sections of the matrix as objectively and fully as possible. Provide justification for your conclusions with reference to relevant sources of 
evidence where appropriate. You will need an up to date Authority Monitoring Report, your latest Housing Delivery Test results, 5 year housing land 
supply position, any local design guides or codes and the latest standard methodology housing needs information.  You may also need to rely on or 
update other sources of evidence but take a proportionate approach to this.  It should be noted that any decision not to update any policies in your local 
plan will need to be clearly evidenced and justified. 
 

 

How to use the results of this part of the toolkit 
 

The completed assessment can also be used as the basis for, or as evidence to support, any formal decision of the council in accordance with its 
constitution or in the case of, for example, Joint Planning Committees, the relevant Terms of Reference in relation to the approach to formal decision-
making, as to why an update to the local plan is or is not being pursued.  This accords with national guidance and supports the principle of openness and 
transparency of decision making by public bodies.   
  

P
age 62



 

3 

Matters to consider 
Agree / 
Disagree 

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement. 
 

A. PLAN REVIEW FACTORS 

A1. 

The plan policies still reflect current national planning policy 
requirements. 
 
PROMPT:  
As set out above in the introductory text, in providing your answer to this 
statement consider if the policies in your plan still meet the ‘content’ 
requirements of the current NPPF, PPG, Written Ministerial Statements 
and the National Model Design Code (completing Part 2 of the toolkit will 
help you determine the extent to which the policies in your plan accord 
with relevant key requirements in national policy). 

Agree The Local Plan policies broadly reflect current national planning policy and 
associated guidance. The overall content and direction of the Local Plan 
Policies are considered to be consistent with the current requirements of 
national planning policy with few areas of significant divergence.  
 
However, one key area of change since the adoption of the Local Plan has 
been the introduction of a ‘Local Housing Need’ (LHN) also more commonly 
known as the ‘Standard Methodology’ for calculating housing 
requirements. The remainder of this assessment explains in greater detail 
that change along with any further changes in circumstances affecting Local 
Plan policies.  

A2. 

There has not been a significant change in local housing need numbers 
from that specified in your plan (accepting there will be some degree of 
flux).  
 
PROMPT: 
Look at whether your local housing need figure, using the standard 
methodology as a starting point, has gone up significantly (with the 
measure of significance based on a comparison with the housing 
requirement set out in your adopted local plan).  
 
Consider whether your local housing need figure has gone down 
significantly (with the measure of significance based on a comparison with 
the housing requirement set out in your adopted local plan). You will 
need to consider if there is robust evidence to demonstrate that your 
current housing requirement is deliverable in terms of market capacity or 
if it supports, for example, growth strategies such as Housing Deals, new 
strategic infrastructure investment or formal agreements to meet unmet 
need from neighbouring authority areas. 
 

Disagree The Local Plan is based on an Objective Assessment of Need (OAN) for new 
housing as required by the NPPF (2012). Revisions to the NPPF introduced 
a ‘Local Housing Need’ (LHN) also known as the ‘Standard Methodology’ 
for calculating housing requirements. Consequently , the Local Plan housing 
requirement does not use the local housing need as a starting point.  
 
At 655 dwellings per annum (2022 – 2032) the Local Plan Housing 
Requirement remains greater than the base level of housing indicated by 
the LHN (443 dwellings).   
 
Although the housing requirement is at a higher figure than LHN, there is a 
significant difference between the adopted housing requirement and the 
baseline LHN. As a result, there is a need to consider updating the housing 
requirement in the Local Plan which will need to consider LHN and  other 
relevant factors such as local demographics and market trends. 
 
Consequently, when demonstrating a five-year housing supply after the 
Local Plan is five-years old, the assessment will be made against the local 
housing need in accordance with the NPPF paragraph 74. 
 
Although the LHN is lower than the housing requirement, past delivery 
indicates that the market will be able to continue to deliver the housing 
sites identified in the Local Plan and the level of planned housing remains 

P
age 63



 

4 

Matters to consider 
Agree / 
Disagree 

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement. 
 
appropriate until a new housing requirement has been provided. In 
addition, the lower requirement of LHN is not considered to be a deficiency 
in the Local Plan but instead a matter for attention and consideration 
within in future plan making.   
 
It is recommended that the Council progress an update of the housing 
requirement under the emerging Local Plan system which has been 
introduced by the Regeneration and Levelling-Up Act (2023) or as may be 
amended thought other planning reforms. 

A3. 

You have a 5-year supply of housing land 
 
PROMPT: 
Review your 5-year housing land supply in accordance with national 
guidance including planning practice guidance and the Housing Delivery 
Test measurement rule book 
 

Agree As part of this review of policies in the Local Plan the Council has 
undertaken a five-year supply update. This assessment is made against 
both the Local Plan Housing requirement and the Local Housing Need (see 
A1) for the Borough as set out in the Government’s Standard Methodology. 
 
Based on assessments against both the Local Plan Housing requirement 
and LHN, it is identified that the Council can demonstrate a deliverable five-
year supply of new housing with the latest figure demonstrating a supply 
of 5.21 years. For clarity under the Housing Delivery Test (2022) 
measurement, the Council’s performance is 157% resulting in no 
consequences for the authority.  

A4. 

You are meeting housing delivery targets  
 
PROMPT: 
Use the results of your most recent Housing Delivery Test, and if possible, 
try and forecast the outcome of future Housing Delivery Test findings.  
Consider whether these have/are likely to trigger the requirement for the 
development of an action plan or trigger the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. Consider the reasons for this and whether you 
need to review the site allocations that your plan is reliant upon. In doing 
so you need to make a judgement as to whether updating your local plan 
will support delivery or whether there are other actions needed which are 
not dependent on changes to the local plan. 
 

Agree  It is noted that the toolkit only seeks to refer to delivery against the Housing 
Delivery Test.  The net delivery of new housing during the plan period is set 
out below. 

Year 
Net 
Delivery  

Year 1 - (2017/2018) 770 

Year 2 - (2018/2019) 795 

Year 3- (2019/2020) 1,012 

Year 4 - (2020/2021) 582 

Year 5 - (2021/2022) 337 

Year 6 - (2022/2023) 605 

 
Government’s Housing Delivery Test was introduced in February 2019 and 
considers housing delivery over a three-year period against the LHN. The 
result is given as a percentage with 100% meaning that an authority has 
met the requirement of the LHN. The results for the 2022 period, have 

P
age 64



 

5 

Matters to consider 
Agree / 
Disagree 

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement. 
 
recently been released and the 2022 measurement for Stockton on Tees 
Borough Council is 157%.  
 
Since the test was introduced the lowest result that the Council has 
achieved is 124%, meaning that the Borough has achieved a positive 
delivery when compared to LHN. It is anticipated that housing delivery will 
continue to achieve the required levels set out in the Government’s 
Housing Delivery Test. 
 
In the interests of transparency and purely for information purposes rather 
than review outcomes, delivery against the Local Plan requirement of 4,255 
dwellings (April 2017 to March 2023) has meant a shortfall of 145 dwellings. 
However, significant factors in this shortfall have been the demolition of 
Hudson and Anson House equating to the loss of 184 dwellings (which was 
not expected at the time of the adoption of the Local Plan) and the 
introduction of Nutrient Neutrality which has curtailed housing delivery 
since its introduction in March 2021. 
 
Given the performance against the Housing Delivery test and despite the 
challenge of the Covid-19 Pandemic, on-going cost of living crisis, the 
demolition of Anson and Hudson House (2021/22) in Thornaby, and the 
implications of Nutrient Neutrality, housing delivery in the Borough has 
been positive and the forecast against the Housing Delivery Test remains 
strong going forwards.  

A5. 

Your plan policies are on track to deliver other plan objectives including 
any (i) affordable housing targets including requirements for First 
Homes; and (ii) commercial floorspace/jobs targets over the remaining 
plan period. 
 
PROMPT: 
Use (or update) your Authority Monitoring Report to assess delivery. 

(i) Agree 
(ii) Disagree 

(i) Affordable housing 
The Local Plan sets an affordable housing requirement target that 20% new 
homes on developments will be affordable. As noted in Section A7, 
development proposals have generally been submitted along with the 
necessary infrastructure requirements and when viability has been 
questioned, the council has been successful in demonstrating viability. 
 
Local Plan policy H4 does not set out how affordable housing should be split 
between different tenures, although the supporting text highlights a 
preference for 70% of homes to be affordable rent and 30% to be 
‘intermediate’ tenures. The wording of this policy has allowed the Council 
to respond flexibly to the change in national policy relating to First Homes 

P
age 65



 

6 

Matters to consider 
Agree / 
Disagree 

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement. 
 
/ Affordable Home Ownership products to ensure an appropriate mix of 
affordable housing. 
 
(ii) Commercial  
The employment land requirement in the plan was based on evidence 
which considered job projections and economic growth trends. However, 
the Local Plan did not include an annual target for delivery, seeking to 
identify a portfolio of suitable economic growth locations to meet potential 
development in the plan period. 
 
The retail need in the plan was prepared using the Stockton Town Centre 
Study which predicted the need for 4,500 sqm of comparison retail 
floorspace to 2021/22, with significant further growth beyond this. In 
preparing the Local Plan, the Council adopted a cautious approach beyond 
2022 and did not propose to bring forward significant new retail 
development or town centre extensions with any need being informed by 
future retail capacity assessment. Convenience floorspace needs remain 
up-to-date and consistent with national policy and a number of food-stores 
have been delivered to meet this need. 
 
However, changes to comparison retail shopping habits were accelerated 
by the pandemic, with an increase in online shopping meaning there has 
been little demand for new floorspace, except for previously permitted 
schemes at Teesside Park. In addition, changes to the Use Class Order have 
combined retail with a number of other town centre uses under the 
commercial E-use class, which limiting the ability to control changes to and 
from retail use. An update to the study was therefore not justified in 2022.   
 
Equally, national planning policy promoting town centre uses has not 
shifted to reflect the changing regulatory framework and until this happens 
any new study would be at risk of being quickly out-of-date.  
 
The council has also embarked on an ambitious regeneration strategy 
which reflects the decline of town centres and seeks to address and ‘re-
balance’ those centres. This includes the demolition of the Castlegate 

P
age 66



 

7 

Matters to consider 
Agree / 
Disagree 

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement. 
 
Centre, the loss of which involves a significant reduction of comparison 
retail.  
 
In view of those circumstance and given the market for comparison retail 
is weak, it is unlikely that there will be a need to bring forward significant 
retail floorspace in the near future. However, a new town centres study 

which considers comparison retail needs alongside other town centre 
activities will be undertaken in the future once there is greater certainty 

over the outcomes of the town centre programme and retail trends 
stabilise.   
 
Planning applications will continue to be considered against the sequential 
and impact tests set out in the Local Plan and national policy.  

A6. 

There have been no significant changes in economic conditions which 
could challenge the delivery of the Plan, including the policy 
requirements within it. 
 
PROMPT: 
A key employer has shut down or relocated out of the area. 
 
Unforeseen events (for example the Covid-19 Pandemic) are impacting 
upon the delivery of the plan.  
   
Up-to-date evidence suggests that jobs growth is likely to be significantly 
more or less than is currently being planned for. 
 
Consider if there is any evidence suggesting that large employment 
allocations will no longer be required or are no longer likely to be 
delivered. 
   
You will need to consider whether such events impact on assumptions in 
your adopted local plan which have led to a higher housing requirement 
than your local housing need assessment indicates. 
 
Consider what the consequences could be for your local plan objectives 
such as the balance of in and out commuting and the resultant impact on 

Agree Since the adoption of the Local Plan there has been significant economic 
development in the area on general employment sites. This has included 
the development of over 30 hectares of employment land, as well as take-
up of unallocated land at Wynyard which was required to deliver a large 
distribution warehouse. In addition to this inward investment by Fujifilm 
has led to expansion adjacent to this site on land that is not allocated in the 
Local Plan. Additional development has also occurred at Teesside Industrial 
Estate and Cowpen Lane.  
 
Development plans have also been permitted at Preston Farm as well as 
Dynamo Park at Portrack Interchange with work expected to commence in 
the near future. General employment land at Durham Lane, Belasis and 
Teesside Airport is now in public ownership securing this land for economic 
growth activity which will be promoted over the remaining plan period. An 
access road to the south side of Teesside Airport is nearing completion and 
development on employment land has commenced. Loss of land allocated 
in EG1 to residential use is limited to a residential development at North 
Shore, which the policy recognises as a mixed-use site where this use is 
encouraged. Teesside Airport, a part of Billingham Riverside and an existing 
business are identified within the Tees Valley Freeport area which will 
provide further support for investment in these locations. 
 

P
age 67



 

8 

Matters to consider 
Agree / 
Disagree 

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement. 
 

proposed transport infrastructure provision (both capacity and viability), 
air quality or climate change considerations. 

Specialist employment allocations in the Seal Sands and North Tees areas 
have not been subject to significant development. However, the specialist 
nature of potential uses in this area means significant land take-up can be 
focused in a small period of time. The Local Plan also recognises the need 
for strategic mitigation for the impact of development on land which is 
functionally linked to the Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast SPA. 
 
Strategic mitigation has not progressed as the Council continues to assess 
the opportunities for strategic mitigation through emerging projects and 
contributing to the emerging Local Nature Recovery Strategy.  
 
The Local Plan recognises the Teesdale area as a location where new office 
development should be directed to. However, in recent years, there has 
been an increase in vacant office space, as well as several buildings on the 
park being transformed from office accommodation to residential. In 
addition, accommodation at the Durham University is under-utilised and 
there are further regeneration opportunities at Tees Marshalling Yard. The 
Council is progressing a vision to regenerate the area as a care and health 
innovation zone. The final outputs of the strategy will influence future 
planning policy in the area. 
 
Since the Covid-19 pandemic there have been changes in working practices 
across different sectors that have affected travel to work patterns across 
the country. However, there is evidence emerging which suggests that 
travel volumes are recovering and returning to pre-covid levels.  

A7. 

There have been no significant changes affecting viability of planned 
development. 
 
PROMPT: 
You may wish to look at the Building Cost Information Service (BCIS) All-in 
Tender Price Index, used for the indexation of Community Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL), or other relevant indices to get a sense of market changes.  
 
Consider evidence from recent planning decisions and appeal decisions to 
determine whether planning policy requirements, including affordable 
housing, are generally deliverable.  

Agree Since the Local Plan was adopted development proposals have been 
submitted along with the necessary infrastructure requirements to achieve 
the development and meet the policies in this plan. Where viability has 
been questioned, the council has generally been successful in 
demonstrating viability to ensure a compliant s106 scheme is permitted, 
including full affordable plan allocation. 
 
Recently a development was referred to the District Valuer who produced 
Stage 1 and Stage 2 reports, which confirmed the scheme as s.106 
compliant including affordable housing as required by the Local Plan. This 

P
age 68



 

9 

Matters to consider 
Agree / 
Disagree 

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement. 
 

 
Ongoing consultation and engagement with the development industry 
may highlight any significant challenges to delivery arising from changes in 
the economic climate. 
 

was initially challenged by the applicant but has subsequently been 
accepted.  
 
Whilst the introduction of Biodiversity Net Gain and Natural England’s 
nutrient neutrality guidance can result in an additional need to deliver 
environmental mitigation, there is no evidence that this has / will 
negatively impact on the viability of development proposals. Should 
viability be an issue Policy SD7 provides a framework to consider and 
balance infrastructure provision and determine planning applications. 

A8. 

Key site allocations are delivering, or on course to deliver, in accordance 
with the local plan policies meaning that the delivery of the spatial 
strategy is not at risk. 
 
PROMPT: 
 
Identify which sites are central to the delivery of your spatial strategy. 
Consider if there is evidence to suggest that lack of progress on these sites 
(individually or collectively) may prejudice the delivery of housing 
numbers, key infrastructure or other spatial priorities.  Sites may be 
deemed to be key by virtue of their scale, location or type in addition to 
the role that may have in delivering any associated infrastructure.   
 

Agree  Appendix 1 includes an update on the progress of site allocations in the 
Borough. This provides an overview of progress of delivery of sites with 
planning permission when the plan was adopted (Commitments) and 
housing allocations. 
 
Overall delivery on the identified sites has been generally positive, with 
development commencing on the majority of commitments and 
allocations. Build out rates have been impacted through the pandemic, 
changes to the economy and introduction of nutrient neutrality.  
 
Progress has also been made on key strategic allocations, while a number 
of sites identified in Local Plan Policy H1 have completed including the 
former Visqueen Site, Blakeston School, South of Junction Road, Urlay 
Nook, Sandhill and the Rings, Morley Carr Farm and land south of Cayton 
Drive. 
 
Development is also progressing on significant planning permissions at 
Allens West (845 dwellings) and Little Maltby Farm, although it is 
anticipated that the latter site may realise fewer homes than the 1155 that 
were originally granted. 
 
Approval of planning applications at West Stockton has been impacted by 
nutrient neutrality. However, part of the site at Yarm Back Lane is 
permitted, under construction and delivering new dwellings. It is 
anticipated other sites across the West Stockton SUE will commence as 
they secure the mitigation to address the impacts of nutrient neutrality.   
 

P
age 69



 

10 

Matters to consider 
Agree / 
Disagree 

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement. 
 
Planning permissions granted at Wynyard Park prior to the adoption of the 
Local Plan were delivered promptly and have now been completed. 
However, no additional housing planning permissions have been granted. 
Nevertheless, the site remains an attractive developable greenfield 
location with few constraints and the associated infrastructure 
requirements should be achievable via planning obligations and funding 
from the Tees Valley Combined Authority. 
 
The Local Plan also sought to allocate a number of sites which have 
previously been designated as playing pitches. Planning permission was 
granted for one of these sites South of Junction Road in Stockton, which 
has now been developed. The remainder of the sites are unlikely to come 
forward in the near future and have not been identified in the five-year 
supply. However, it is anticipated that the loss of these numbers will be 
compensated for by increased dwelling yields on various sites, including 
Yarm Back Lane and the wider West Stockton. 

A9. 

There have been no significant changes to the local environmental or 
heritage context which have implications for the local plan approach or 
policies.  
 

PROMPT: 
You may wish to review the indicators or monitoring associated with your 
Sustainability Appraisal (SA) / Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) / 
Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA). 
 
Identify if there have been any changes in Flood Risk Zones, including as a 
result of assessing the effects of climate change. 
 
Consider whether there have been any changes in air quality which has 
resulted in the designation of an Air Quality Management Area(s) or 
which would could result in a likely significant effect on a European 
designated site which could impact on the ability to deliver housing or 
employment allocations. 
 

Disagree An extension to the Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast Special Protection 
Area and Ramsar site was confirmed on 18th April 2019. Whilst this 
occurred after the plan was adopted, the extension was under 
consideration throughout the preparation of the Local Plan and at the time 
of adoption the extension was classified as a potential SPA (pSPA) giving it 
the same protection as a confirmed SPA. The Habitats Regulations 
Assessment supporting the adopted plan fully considered the pSPA and the 
plan remains up-to-date. 
 
Development of employment allocations at Seal Sands are dependent on 
there being no adverse impact from development on the integrity of the 
Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast SPA. Local Plan policy EG4 recognises a 
need to identify strategic mitigation to mitigate the development of site 
allocations at Seal Sands. Since adoption of the Local Plan the council and 
its partners have been unable to identify locations for strategic mitigation 
and planning applications must demonstrate this matter on an individual 
basis. 
 
As strategic mitigation has not progressed the Council continues to assess 
the opportunities for this infrastructure through emerging projects and 

P
age 70



 

11 

Matters to consider 
Agree / 
Disagree 

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement. 
 

Consider whether there have been any changes to Zones of Influence / 
Impact Risk Zones for European sites and Sites of Special Scientific 
Interest or new issues in relation to, for example, water quality. 
 
Consider whether there have been any new environmental or heritage 
designations which could impact on the delivery of housing or 
employment / jobs requirements / targets.  
 
Consider any relevant concerns being raised by statutory consultees in 
your area in relation to the determination of individual planning 
applications or planning appeals which may impact upon your plan - 
either now or in the future. 

strategies like the Local Nature Recovery Strategy, whilst also having regard 
to the need to achieve a 10% Biodiversity Net Gain. In accordance with the 
supporting text of the Local Plan (paragraph 6.32) the Council will seek to 
assess this issue having investigated and reviewed the available evidence.   
 
Taken as a whole the policies in the Local Plan, in particular those in the 
Environment chapter, provide the framework for considering the 
implications of climate change and the need for new development to 
mitigate its impact and adapt to climate change. This remains consistent 
with policy in the NPPF and other guidance. However, a review of the Local 
Plan would also allow opportunities to align more closely with the 
aspirations of the Council’s Environmental Sustainability and Carbon 
Reduction Strategy and net zero aspirations (2022-2032).    
 
In March 2022 Natural England contacted the local authorities in the 
catchment of the River Tees to provide guidance on nutrient pollution 
which was adversely affecting habitats in the SPA. This identified that 
nitrogen discharged into the River Tees from a variety of sources was 
leading to eutrophication within the Tees Estuary. Natural England’s advice 
was that new development should demonstrate that it is ‘nutrient neutral’. 
As this advice primarily related to residential development and other 
overnight accommodation the determination of a number of planning 
applications has been delayed. Nevertheless the introduction of nutrient 
neutrality has created a significant change in circumstance.  
 
There are no Air Quality Management Areas or Clean Air Zones within the 
Borough. Air quality levels are monitored using three automatic monitoring 
stations at Eaglescliffe School, Nelson Terrace and Cowpen Depot, as well 
as diffusion tubes at thirteen locations. The latest monitoring information 
indicates that air quality continues to remain within specified limits. Policy 
ENV7 sets a framework to consider pollution during the determination of a 
planning application, requiring assessment of the impact of development 
and if necessary suitable mitigation. The Environment Act (2021) has 
introduced a requirement for the Council to undertake an Air Quality 
Strategy which is currently being prepared and will inform any future 
planning decisions and future policy development. 

P
age 71



 

12 

Matters to consider 
Agree / 
Disagree 

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement. 
 
 
The Local Plan retains a positive strategy for the management of the 
historic environment, which reflects the NPPF. Since 2019, there have been 
some important additions to protected heritage in the Borough with the 
addition of 2 new scheduled monuments (Roman Villa at Ingleby Barwick 
and the S&DR track bed at Preston Park) and 1 new listed structure 
(Fountain at Ropner Park, grade II). These assets are within areas of open 
space and designation does not impact on Local Plan policies. There have 
been no changes to the heritage at risk register, with 2 buildings remaining 
on the list and 2 buildings have been formally de-listed by Historic England. 
 
Historic England have identified various strategies and requirements for 
Local Plans to include policies on tall-buildings, which can complement the 
application of existing policies in the Local Plan and also influence any 
future review of Local Plan policies. Historic England reference work on a 
heritage action zone which will celebrate heritage assets linked to the 
Stockton and Darlington Railway, with the possibility of appraising 
conservation areas and other heritage assets. Officers have commenced 
background work on appraising a number of conservation area reviews 
which will be taken forward in 2024. 

A10. 

No new sites have become available since the finalisation of the 
adopted local plan which require the spatial strategy to be re-evaluated.  
 
PROMPT: 
 
Consider if there have been any new sites that have become available, 
particularly those within public ownership which, if they were to come 
forward for development, could have an impact on the spatial strategy or 
could result in loss of employment and would have a significant effect on 
the quality of place if no new use were found for them.   
 
Consider whether any sites which have now become available within your 
area or neighbouring areas could contribute towards meeting any 
previously identified unmet needs. 

Agree No significant new sites have been permitted since the Local Plan was 
adopted. 

P
age 72



 

13 

Matters to consider 
Agree / 
Disagree 

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement. 
 

A11. 

Key planned infrastructure projects critical to plan delivery are on track 
and have not stalled / failed and there are no new major infrastructure 
programmes with implications for the growth / spatial strategy set out 
in the plan. 
 
PROMPT:  
You may wish to review your Infrastructure Delivery Plan / Infrastructure 
Funding Statement, along with any periodic updates, the Capital and 
Investment programmes of your authority or infrastructure delivery 
partners and any other tool used to monitor and prioritise the need and 
delivery of infrastructure to support development. 
 
Check if there have been any delays in the delivery of critical 
infrastructure as a result of other processes such as for the Compulsory 
Purchase of necessary land. 
 
Identify whether any funding announcements or decisions have been 
made which materially impact upon the delivery of key planned 
infrastructure, and if so, will this impact upon the delivery of the Local 
Plan. 

Agree The Council continue to support improvements to the public transport 
network and routes for pedestrians and cyclists to deliver a sustainable 
transport network. The progress of the Sustainable Transport Schemes and 
Highways Infrastructure schemes included within Points 4 and 7 of the 
Local Plan are monitored within the Annual Monitoring Report.  
 
The sites and routes which are safeguarded in the Delivering a Sustainable 
Transport Network section 4 of Policy TI1 of the Local Plan are still desirable 
and continue appropriate to safeguard. The cycleway/footway from 
Durham Lane to Elton Interchange is currently being delivered. The new 
footbridge over the railway line at Eaglescliffe Station has obtained prior 
approval consent from the local planning authority.  
 
The Council seeks to ensure the road network is safe and journey times are 
reliable. Using the data recorded within the Annual Monitoring Report, in 
regards to delay times on locally managed A roads, it demonstrates that 
the delay time was significantly reduced during covid and is now slightly 
rising again. The bus and train station patronage also significant reduced 
during 2020/21 covid period, which is now increasing steadily. However, it 
is highlighted that it has not returned to pre-pandemic levels and there has 
been a change in people’s travel behavior, such as the rise of working from 
home. 
 
The targeted improvements to the strategic road network included within 
the Highways Infrastructure section 7a of Policy TI1 of the Local Plan are 
either complete, underway or currently within the design process. The local 
road network targeted improvements within the Highways Infrastructure 
section 7b of Policy TI1. The A689 at Wynyard improvements at A1185 Seal 
Sands Link Road and Wynyard West have been completed. The remaining 
local road network improvements are currently in design and remain 
appropriate to safeguard. 
 
Policy TI2 remains fir for purpose with community infrastructure being 
secured as required through the determination of planning applications. 
Land safeguarded for a crematorium in Stockton and for a leisure centre 
and community centre in Ingleby Barwick have all been delivered.   

P
age 73



 

14 

Matters to consider 
Agree / 
Disagree 

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement. 
 
 
Infrastructure associated with the key housing sites at Wynyard and West 
Stockton informed through the associated masterplans continue to the 
secured through the associated housing applications.  

A12 

All policies in the plan are achievable and effective including for the 
purpose of decision-making. 
 
PROMPT: 
Consider if these are strategic policies or those, such as Development 
Management policies, which do not necessarily go to the heart of 
delivering the Plan’s strategy. 
 
Identify if there has been a significant increase in appeals that have been 
allowed and /or appeals related to a specific policy area that suggest a 
policy or policies should be reviewed. 
 
Consider whether there has been feedback from Development 
Management colleagues, members of the planning committee, or 
applicants that policies cannot be effectively applied and / or understood. 

Agree Reason (with reference to plan policies, sections and relevant evidence 
sources): 
 
The Council’s appeal performance since the adoption of the Local Plan is 
set out in the table below, excluding withdrawn appeals and appeals 
rejected by the Planning Inspectorate. Since April 2019 the Planning 
Inspectorate has dismissed over 65% of appeals. Of the allowed appeals 
only one case related to a scheme greater than 10 dwellings, this being a 
proposal to expand an existing Local Plan commitment (Policy H2.Y5) to the 
South of Yarm School Playing Fields expanding the site area and increasing 
the number of dwellings from 100 to 300 dwellings. No appeals for major 
commercial developments have been allowed during the period. 
  

Allowed Dismissed 
Part Allowed 
/Dismissed 

Total 

2019/20 14 34  48 
2020/21 6 22 1 29 
2021/22 14 12 1 27 
2022/23 7 13  20 

Total 41 81 2 124 

 
The policies in the Local Plan remain effective for the determination of 
planning applications with feedback from statutory consultees not 
highlighting any fundamental problems. However, changes in 
circumstances mean that a number of policies could benefit from an 
update. 
 
Amendments to the use-class order including the creation of the E-use class 
which merges retail and office amongst others into a single use class. This 
has an influence on the application of Policies EG2, EG3 and EG6, which 
relate to the determination of retail planning applications. 
 

P
age 74



 

15 

Matters to consider 
Agree / 
Disagree 

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement. 
 
Improvements to Part L of the Building Regulations to require increased 
energy efficiency in new buildings. This improvement affects the 
application of policy ENV1 which requires new development to achieve a 
10% reduction in CO2 over and above the existing building regulations. 

A13. 

There are no recent or forthcoming changes to another authority’s 
development plan or planning context which would have a material 
impact on your plan / planning context for the area covered by your 
local plan.  
 
PROMPT: 
In making this assessment you may wish to:  
● Review emerging and adopted neighbouring authority development 

plans and their planning context. 
● Review any emerging and adopted higher level strategic plans 

including, where relevant, mayoral/ combined authority Spatial 
Development Strategies e.g. The London Plan. 

● Review any relevant neighbourhood plans 
● Consider whether any of the matters highlighted in statements A1- 

A12 for their plan may impact on your plan - discuss this with the 
relevant authorities. 

● Consider any key topic areas or requests that have arisen through 
Duty to Cooperate or strategic planning discussions with your 
neighbours or stakeholders - particularly relating to meeting future 
development and /or infrastructure needs. 

Agree Reason (with reference to plan policies, sections and relevant evidence 
sources): 
 
In preparing the Local Plan, the Council agreed a statement of common 
ground with neighbouring authorities which identified the broad levels of 
housing growth across the Tees Valley. Housing requirements in adopted 
and emerging Local Plans remain committed to these targets. 
 
Prior to the Council adopting the Local Plan both Hartlepool Borough 
Council and Redcar and Cleveland Council adopted Local Plans (May 2018). 
Neither Council has identified plans to produce new Local Plan documents.  
 
A garden village has been announced within the part of Wynyard Park in 
Hartlepool Borough and a planning application has subsequently been 
submitted for additional homes not anticipated in the Local Plan and 
Wynyard Masterplan and has potential implications for the Local Plan 
strategy in the Wynyard area. 
 
Following adoption of the Local Plan other neighbouring authorities have 
adopted Local Plans including Durham County Council (2020), Hambleton 
District Council (2021) and Darlington Borough Council (2022). None of 
these plans have negatively impacted the Council or have identified unmet 
needs for neighbouring authorities to meet. 
 
Natural England’s advice on nutrient pollution affecting protected habitats 
in the River Tees Catchment affects all local authorities in the Tees Valley 
as well as North Yorkshire County Council, Durham County Council and 
Eden District. The Council’s are working together with Natural England to 
identify solutions to this issue and unlock development. In addition Natural 
England has introduced strategic mitigation for the Tees.  
 

P
age 75



 

16 

Matters to consider 
Agree / 
Disagree 

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement. 
 
The Environment Act has also introduced the need for Local Nature 
Recovery Strategies. Stockton-on-Tees Borough is within the Tees Valley 
LNRS. It is anticipated that the LNRS will be complete in 2025 and the 
Council is engaging with the Tees Valley Combined Authority, Natural 
England and other local authorities in the preparation of the strategy. 

 A14. 

There are no local political changes or a revised / new corporate 
strategy which would require a change to the approach set out in the 
current plan.  
 
PROMPT:  
In making this assessment you may wish to:  
 
● Review any manifesto commitments and review the corporate and 

business plan. 
● Engage with your senior management team and undertake 

appropriate engagement with senior politicians in your authority. 
● Consider other plans or strategies being produced across the Council 

or by partners which may impact on the appropriateness of your 
current plan and the strategy that underpins it, for instance, Growth 
Deals, economic growth plans, local industrial strategies produced by 
the Local Economic Partnership, housing/ regeneration strategies and 
so on. 

Agree A number of Council strategies have emerged since the Local Plan was 
adopted including the Inclusive Growth Strategy, Fairer Stockton 
Framework and Environmental Sustainability and Carbon Reduction 
Strategy. The aims and objectives of these strategies broadly align with 
Local Plan policies and there are no significant changes which trigger the 
need for an update to the plan. 
 
In July 2023 the Council introduced its ‘Powering our Future’ programme 
which will set out a new ambitious long term vision for the future of the 
Borough. This activity is at an early stage and the outcomes of this work 
are likely to influence the strategic direction of the council. As a result this 
emerging agenda does not impact on the current Local Plan although will 
be considered within any future Local Plan.  

 

 

ASSESSING WHETHER OR NOT TO UPDATE YOUR PLAN POLICIES YES/NO 
(please 
indicate 
below) 

 

A15. 

You AGREE with all of the statements above No If no go to question A16.  
 
If yes, you have come to the end of the assessment.  However, you must be 
confident that you are able to demonstrate and fully justify that your existing 
plan policies / planning position clearly meets the requirements in the 
statements above and that you have evidence to support your position.  
 

P
age 76



 

17 

Based on the answers you have given above please provide clear explanation 
and justification in section A17 below of why you have concluded that an 
update is not necessary including references to evidence or data sources that 
you have referenced above.  Remember you are required to publish the 
decision not to update your local plan policies.  In reaching the conclusion 
that an update is not necessary the explanation and justification for your 
decision must be clear, intelligible and able to withstand scrutiny. 

A16. 
You DISAGREE with one or more of the statements above and the issue 
can be addressed by an update of local plan policies 

Yes If yes, based on the above provide a summary of the key reasons why an 
update to plan policies is necessary in section A17 below and complete 
Section B below.  

A17. 

Decision: Update plan policies 
 
Reasons for decision on whether or not to update plan policies (clear evidence and justification will be required where a decision not to 
update has been reached):  
 
Other actions that may be required in addition to or in place of an update of plan policies  
Although the majority of the Local Plan policies remain up to date, changes to legislation, planning policy and guidance means that many policy 
areas would benefit from being updated. The review has identified that there is a need to update the following elements of the Local Plan: 
 

• The strategic needs set out in the Local Plan require an update to consider the Local Housing Need as a starting point and to update the 
needs for new retail development. 

• To understand the future need for and potential opportunities for strategic environmental mitigation at North Tees which can unlock 
employment land allocations at Seal Sands and North Tees 

• To further consider the implications of nitrogen pollution and Natural England’s ‘Nutrient Neutrality’ advice, in addition to the 
requirement for new development to identify a mandatory 10% Biodiversity Net Gain. 

• Development Management Policies that have been impacted by amendments to the Use Classes Order, in particular the creation of 
Use Class E. 

 

 

B. POLICY UPDATE FACTORS YES/NO 
(please 
indicate 
below) 

Provide details explaining your answer in the context of your plan / 
local authority area 

P
age 77



 

18 

B1 

Your policies update is likely to lead to a material change in the housing 
requirement which in turn has implications for other plan requirements / 
the overall evidence base. 

Yes The impact of an update to the Local Plan on the housing requirement is 
unknown. However, as an update to the Local Plan will be required to consider 
an extended time horizon, it is possible that additional housing above LHN may 
be required once demographics, market trends and future economic growth 
have been appropriately assessed and considered. 

B2 

The growth strategy and / or spatial distribution of growth set out in the 
current plan is not fit for purpose and your policies update is likely to 
involve a change to this. 

No The housing and economic growth strategy set out in the Local Plan remains 
appropriate to consider planning applications in the short-term. However, in 
the medium to long term there may be a need to update this strategy as part 
of a new Local Plan. In the longer term there may be concerns over the 
strategy for new town centre uses, depending on the need for new 
comparison retail floorspace. 

B3 
Your policies update is likely to affect more than a single strategic site or 
one or more strategic policies that will have consequential impacts on 
other policies of the plan. 

Yes 

The recalculations for the housing requirement are unlikely to have significant 
implications in the short term to housing given the LHN is below the Local Plan 
requirement and many of the allocations/commitment are underway or 
progressing with planning applications. 

 

Current retail trends combined with the changes to the use classes order limit 
the effectiveness and ability of the current policies to control changes to and 

from retail use. Combined with the Councils own regeneration strategy for the 
defined centres, there are consequences for strategic policies across the local 
plan.   

 

Within Seal Sands, a strategic mitigation solution has not progressed but at this 
stage requires further investigation of the available evidence in line with the 
steps outlined in the Local Plan.  Taken as a whole the policies in the Local Plan, 
in particular those in the Overall the environment chapter remains consistent 
with policy in the NPPF and other guidance, although a review would provide an 
opportunity to align with other Council strategies and aspirations.   
 
The introduction of ‘Nutrient Neutrality’ is affecting the delivery of key 
development proposals for housing and other overnight accommodation which 
is a significant factor cutting across a series of strategic sites and policies.  

 
You have answered yes to one or more questions above.   

You are likely to need to undertake a full update of your spatial strategy and 
strategic policies (and potentially non-strategic policies). Use your responses 
above to complete Section B4. 
 

P
age 78



 

19 

 

 
 
You have said no to all questions (B1 to B3) above 

 
 

 

If you are confident that the update can be undertaken without impacting on 
your spatial strategy and other elements of the Plan, you are likely to only 
need to undertake a partial update of policies.  Complete Section B4 to 
indicate the specific parts / policies of the plan that are likely to require 
updating based on the answers you have given above.  

B4 

Decision: Full Update of Plan Policies/ Partial Update of Plan Policies (delete as necessary) 
Reasons for scope of review: 
 
The Local Plan provided strategic policies to meet anticipated development needs up to 2032 and there is a need to undertake a new Local Plan to ensure 
that a replacement can be brought in to force well in advance of this timeline being met. A new Local Plan would allow the Council to consider a positive 
strategy for future growth across the Borough beyond 2032, having regard to the needs and aspirations of communities and businesses in our area. This 
option would allow the Council to move forward having regard to the emerging legislative and policy context. 

 

As detailed within the toolkit above, consideration needs to be given to the change in calculating a housing requirement with the LHN and standard 
methodology being the starting point alongside  consideration of other factors including the areas demographics, market trends and future economic growth. 
In addition, whilst it is anticipated further demand for comparison retail floorspace is unlikely, the Council’s retail need and available capacity needs further 
consideration in view of the changing retail environment, shopping habits and changes to the use classes order. All of which have implications for the Council’s 
current policy approach. A further consideration are the environmental implications such as nutrient neutrality which has implications for industrial and 
residential developments. All of these factors are considered to have potential consequences for several strategic sites and/or policy implications and 
therefore a full update to the Local Plan is required.  

 

Reforms to planning legislation aim to introduce a system which will facilitate the production of a Local Plan within a 30-month time period from when work 
officially commences on a new plan. This system is expected to come in to force from Autumn 2024. Further details of those regulations and updated policies 
and guidance are awaited, therefore there remains the potential for change.   

 

It is currently envisaged that Government will invite local authorities to prepare new Local Plans in a phased roll-out from Autumn 2025. This will involve 10 
‘front-runner’ authorities with further phases every 6-months allowing 25 local authorities to commence Local Plans. Authorities will be allowed to commence 
based on their ranking chronologically from the date that they have most recently adopted a plan containing strategic priorities.  

 

An alternative option exists where the Council commence a new Local Plan under the existing legislative process. However, this would require the submission 
of the Local Plan to the Secretary of State in June 2025. This 18-month period is unlikely to be sufficient to develop a robust strategy and engage with 
communities effectively. This approach would also result in the Council producing an old-style Local Plan, which would not be designed to meet the 

P
age 79



 

20 

Government’s aspirations of a more digital based planning system. There is the possibility that this route could also lead to the need to undertake an early 
review of the plan following adoption. 

 

Given the above, it is recommended that preparatory work for a new Local Plan should commence immediately, with a review of the evidence base and early 
engagement with our communities linking in to the council’s ‘Powering our Future’ programme and emerging regeneration proposals. Such measures may 
also include related project management activity, developing suitable elected members steering groups and associated decision-making arrangements.  
However, the formal commencement on a new style Local Plan would only commence when the emerging Local Plan system comes in to force although the 
Council has aspirations to be involved early in the production of a ‘new style’ Local Plan and has commenced engagement with DLUHC to understand the 
process and express an interest in the ‘new-style’ local plan approach.  

 

In the intervening period the Council will consider planning applications on a case-by-case basis starting with policies within the Local Plan and having regard 
to material considerations where necessary. As noted above, as the Local Plan housing requirement is in need of review the NPPF currently advises that five-
year housing supply will be considered against the Government’s housing standard methodology. The Council is currently able to demonstrate a five-year 
supply against this methodology. Notwithstanding this current position, there may be future changes to national policy and / or the Government’s Standard 
Methodology which could affect this position. Such circumstances will be considered through the determination of planning applications. 

 

The emerging planning reforms may also impact on the approach to considering planning applications before a new Local Plan comes in to force. The 
Regeneration and Levelling Up introduces the concept of National Development Management Policies (NDMP) which will have an equivalent status in the 
decision-making process to the Local Plan. As NDMPs are brought in to force it is anticipated that the application of existing adopted Local Plan policies may 
be affected. 

 

Date of assessment: 
 

27/11/2023 

Assessed by: 
 

Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council Planning Services Team 

Checked by: 
 

POS Enterprises, the consultancy arm of the Planning Officers Society.  

Comments: 
 

The conclusions of the review are set out in the response to Section A17 of the PAS toolkit.  The critical friend 
sees no reason to dissent with any of the four reasons given.  Section B of the draft review develops these 
conclusions further. 
 

P
age 80



 

21 

The issue then is one about the timing of an update of the local plan.  Section B4 sets out a useful discussion 
of the approach proposed for an update of the local plan, including matters of timing.  This is considered to 
represent sound reasoning and present a practical way forward. 
 
As a matter of strict law, work on a new local plan can only begin when the relevant provisions are the subject 
of a commencement order.  It would also be beneficial to refer to that preparatory work including project 
management activity, including setting up suitable elected member steering and decision-making 
arrangements. 

 

P
age 81



 

1 

Appendix 1 – Policy H1 Housing Supply Update 
Allocation 
Type 

Location Reference  Name 

Area (ha) 

Total 
Dwellings 

2018 
(approx) 

Change in 
Total 

Dwellings 

Remaining 
Supply 

April 2023 

Commitment Eaglescliffe H1.2.E1. Urlay Nook 6.8 145 0 0 

H1.2.E2. Allens West 40.9 845 0 797 

H1.2.E3. West Acres 2.6 81 -18 0 

H1.2.E4. Hunters Rest Farm 6.5 130 -21 98 

H1.2.E5. South of Urlay Nook Road 2.02 23 -1 13 

Ingleby 
Barwick 

H1.2.IB1. The Rings 19 480 0 0 

H1.2.IB2. Sandhill 7 138 0 0 

H1.2.IB3. Little Maltby Farm, Low Lane 35 1155 0 *1 1014 

H1.2.IB4. Blair Avenue 0.9 40 -40 0 

H1.2.IB5. Roundhill Avenue 4.3 65 0 65 

H1.2.IB6. Betty’s Close Farm 2.1 17 0 16 

H1.2.IB7. Lowfield 4.2 66 3 69 

Regenerated 
River Tees 
Corridor 

H1.2.R1. North Shore Home Zone (Phase 3) 1.9 82 0 0 

H1.2.R2. Navigation Way 3.9 150 -33 117 

H1.2.R3. Parkfield and Mill Lane Regeneration Scheme 3.3 117 0 0 

H1.2.R4. Former Visqueen Site 15.8 480 -30 0 

H1.2.R5. Alma House 0.62 34 0 0 

H1.2.R6. Parkin Street 0.2 43 0 43 

Stockton H1.2.S1. Summerville Farm 17 340 +14 102 

H1.2.S2. Corus Pipe Mill 7.9 311 0 0 

H1.2.S3. Norton Park Regeneration Scheme 4.4 174 0 0 

H1.2.S4. Former Blakeston School 3.3 80 0 0 

H1.2.S5. South of Junction Road 3.9 96 0 0 

Thornaby H1.2.T1. Land South of Cayton Drive 1.6 45 0 0 

Village Sites H1.2.V1. Jasper Grove, Stillington 1.7 55 0 6 

H1.2.V2. South Avenue, Stillington 1.1 39 0 0 

P
age 82



 

2 

H1.2.V3. Kirk Hill , Carlton 3 61 0 0 

H1.2.V4. Land South of Kirklevington 10.8 145 0 41 

H1.2.V5. Land West Of St Martins Way, Kirklevington 5.6 90 +7 97 

H1.2.V6. Jasmine Fields, Kirklevington 1.3 19 +1 0 

H1.2.V7. Thorpe Beck Farm, Thorpe Thewles 1.4 24 +7 0 

H1.2.V8. Land North of Thorpe Thewles 3.1 40 +3 0 

Wynyard H1.2.W1. Land at Wynyard Village 82.6 500 +124 411 

H1.2.W2. Wellington Drive 21 44 +82 126 

Yarm H1.2.Y1. Morley Carr Farm 22.2 350 0 0 

H1.2.Y2. Tall Trees 16.3 288 -12 118 

H1.2.Y3. Land South of Green Lane 16 357 +11 0 

H1.2.Y4. Mount Leven & Land off Busby Way 30 346 0 346 

H1.2.Y5. Land South of Yarm School Playing Fields 10.5 100 +200 300 

Allocation Billingham H1.5.2. Former Billingham Campus School Site* 10.9 150 0 150 

Eaglescliffe H1.5.7. Eaglescliffe Golf Course** 8.9 150 0 150 

Regenerated 
River Tees 
Corridor 

H1.3.1. Victoria Estate 5.1 210 -67 46 

H1.3.2. Queens Park North 15.3 400 0 134 

H1.3.3. Land off Grangefield Road 19 600 0 600 

H1.3.4. Yarm Road* 1.1 30 0 30 

H1.4. Tees Marshalling Yard 34 1100 0 1100 

Stockton H1.5.1. Darlington Back Lane* 1 25 0 25 

H1.5.3. Bowesfield 6.5 150 0 150 

H1.5.4. Kingfisher Way 1.4 37 0 37 

H1.5.5. South of Kingfisher Way 0.5 20 6 26 

H1.6.a.. West Stockton SUE ‘Allocated Land’  115.2 2150 +140 *2 2256 

Thornaby H1.5.6. Magister Road, Thornaby 0.6 20 0 20 

Wynyard H1.8. Wynyard Park 66.6 1100 0 753 

Reserve Stockton H1.6.b.. West Stockton SUE ‘Reserve Land’ 19.6 400 0 400 

*1 – Potential for numbers on Little Maltby Farm allocation to be reduced. 
*2 - Several applications under consideration which may increase this further. 

P
age 83



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 84



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM 
 

REPORT TO CABINET 
 

18 JANUARY 2024 
 

REPORT OF CORPORATE 
MANAGEMENT TEAM 

 
 

COUNCIL DECISION 
 
Access, Communities and Community Safety – Lead Cabinet Member Councillor Norma 
Stephenson 
 
CONSENT STREET TRADING POLICY REVIEW 2024 
 
SUMMARY 
 
To inform Cabinet of the results of a public consultation, a draft consent street trading policy and 
the proposal to designate the whole borough a consent area for the purposes of street trading. 
 
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)/DECISION(S) 
 
The current consent street trading policy is outdated. The General Licensing Committee agreed to 
a public consultation on a draft resolution for (minimum 28 days) under Paragraph 2(1) of Schedule 
4 to the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982, to designate the whole borough 
as a consent area for the purposes of street trading.  
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. Cabinet members note the contents of this report. 
2. Cabinet members comments are received. 
3. Cabinet members recommend to Council, the proposed resolution to designate the 

whole borough as a consent area for the purposes of street trading.  
 
BACKGROUND 

1. “Street Trading” is defined in paragraph 1 of Schedule 4 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (LG(MP) Act 1982) – as “the selling or exposing or 
offering for sale of any article (including a living thing) in a street”. For the purposes of the 
Act this would include private land that the public has access to without payment. 

 
2. Under the provisions of Schedule 4, a Local Authority may designate streets within its 

borough as either: 

• Prohibited Streets - in which street trading is not allowed. 

• Licence Streets - in which a licence to trade is required. 

• Consent Streets - where prior consent requirements operate. 
 

3. In 1987, the resolution to adopt Schedule 4 of the LG(MP) Act 1982 was taken, members 
approved a list of consent streets and prohibited streets, in 1999 the current street trading 
consent conditions were agreed and in 2001 the policy was amended to add Yarm Lane as 
a prohibited street, the regime has remained largely unchanged since. 
 

4. The Council has no control in areas where it has not designated a street as either a 
consent or prohibited street. This has resulted in the Council being ineffective to respond to 

Page 85

Agenda Item 8



 

1 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

complaints associated with trading and inefficient in responding to requests to trade in 
areas where no provisions exist. 
 

5. In addition to this the current list of prohibited and consent streets is no longer relevant in 
redeveloped areas and is inflexible with the developing Town Centres and Place strategies. 

 
DETAIL 

6. The proposed resolution will designate the whole borough as a consent area for the 
purposes of street trading. The proposal balances the rights: 

• of an applicant to trade in the borough, and to have the application considered on its 
own merits;  

• against the right of any person to live in the borough without being disturbed by the 
trading activity and,  

• of established businesses to continue trading, creating a vibrant local economy.  
 

7. Making the whole borough a consent area allows flexibility and fit with redevelopment. 
When granting or renewing a consent, the Council may attach any reasonable conditions 
and can, at any time, vary the conditions attached to the consent. The consent cannot be 
granted for more than twelve months and can be revoked at any time. 

 
8. Whilst there will be an additional increase in administration and cost to a business wishing 

to trade in an area previously not covered, this is already the case nationally and in 
neighbouring local authorities and the scheme will provide several benefits which include:  

• Provide protection to existing traders, and security to consent holders, as any new 
trader will have to apply to the Council for permission to trade.  

• Consultation process for any new application where local representations will be 
considered, ensuring any new application meets local needs.  

• Traders will be regulated to protect the public across the borough.  

• Higher quality street trading concessions in the right location will enhance the local 
environment.  

• Initiatives such as environmental credentials could be considered. 

• Permits a future proof, business friendly, demand led approach. 

• Opens areas and remains relevant to reflect redevelopment. 

• Gives better regulation on the obstruction of and repair to damage of the highway. 
 

9. A resolution designating the whole borough means that as areas evolve during 
redevelopment, the resolution remains relevant and the Council retains control without 
having to revisit the list of consent streets with the aim to: 

• Prevent obstruction of the streets. 

• Ensure the safety of persons using streets. 

• Recognise the importance of businesses to the local economy and the character of 
the area. 

• Ensuring that the activities do not cause nuisance or annoyance to the people of the 
area. 

 
10. The Local Government Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1982 Schedule 4 sets out the 

statutory process for designating a consent area and rescinding the existing street trading 
resolution. Statutory consultation must take place, statutory consultees are: 

• Public 

• Police 

• Highways 
 

11. Consultation is critical to ensure any changes to the street trading resolution are clear and 
transparent for businesses, members, responsible authorities and the public. The statutory 
consultation process was followed including an advert in the Evening Gazette dated 11 July 

Page 86



 

2 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

2023. A report containing a summary of the results of the online public consultation is 
attached as Appendix 1.  

 
12. Alongside the online consultation in depth discussions have helped to shape the revised 

policy and the application / determination process. These discussions have included: 

• Existing traders 

• Potential Traders 

• Voluntary Sector 

• Charity and non-profit groups 

• Parish Councillors 

• Members 

• Council Departments 
 

13. A copy of the revised draft consent street trading policy 2024, which outlines how officers 
will manage and review the regime including the application / determination process is 
attached as Appendix 2. 

 
14. The most significant changes following the consultation have been around: 

• Non for profit and charity fundraising (detailed at pg. 3 of the draft policy document) 

• DBS and convictions information (detailed at pg. 8 and Appendix 3 of the draft 
policy document) 

 
15. The revised policy document has been circulated for comments to all respondents to the 

consultation who provided contact details and again internally with Council departments. 
Additional responses to the revised policy are attached as Appendix 3. 
 

16. On 14 November 2023 the General Licensing Committee considered the revised policy 
document, no further comments were received on the policy and the Committee agreed 
and noted the report. Officers explained to members the draft policy would also help as a 
regulatory tool for nuisance pedlars at events. 

 
Next Steps 

17. Next Steps – The resolution to designate the whole borough a consent area for the 
purposes of street trading, the draft policy document and the summary of the consultation 
will be considered full Council for the final decision on 24 January 2024.  
 

18. If the resolution is agreed the Council shall publish notice of the final resolution in a local 
newspaper and on the Council website advertising of the decision. (This should be no later 
than 28 days before the date of operation of the new scheme). 

 
19. Taking these dates into consideration it is proposed any changes would come in to effect 

after 1 March 2024. 
 
COMMUNITY IMPACT IMPLICATIONS 
 
The administration and enforcement of the licensing regime will assist in reducing any community 
impact implications. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
The LG(MP) Act 1982 Schedule 4 paragraph 9 confirms that a council “may charge such fees as 
they consider reasonable for the grant or renewal of a street trading licence or street trading 
consent”. 
 
The cost of administering the consent street trading scheme can be recovered through fees, which 
are set locally and reviewed annually. Fee setting is delegated to officers under the Councils 

Page 87



 

3 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

constitution. The fees will be set at a level to recover the cost of the scheme and can take into 
account the location, the duration of the consent, trading hours, and the articles to be sold. 
 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
The proposal is for Stockton Borough Council to designate the whole of the borough as a consent 
area. The proposed street trading policy must be in accordance with the powers granted in Section 
3 and Schedule 4 of the LG(MP) Act 1982. The implementation and operation of the consent street 
trading policy will be done in accordance with the legislation and associated guidance. 
 
If a person is aggrieved with the adoption of the consent street trading policy then they could 
challenge it by Judicial Review proceedings before the Administrative Court. A claimant must file a 
claim promptly, and in any event not later than three months after the grounds to make the claim 
first arose. 
 
RISK ASSESSMENT   
 
The risks associated with the consent street trading policy are mitigated by the administration and 
enforcement provisions of legislation and associated guidance. 
 
COUNCIL PLAN POLICY PRINCIPLES AND PRIORITIES 
 
The administration and enforcement provisions within the legislation and associated guidance 
follow the council plan principles and priorities. 
 
CORPORATE PARENTING IMPLICATIONS 
 
None. 
 
CONSULTATION INCLUDING WARD/COUNCILLORS  
 
The Cabinet Member for Access, Communities and Community Safety has been consulted, along 
with all Members, Responsible Authorities, the trade and other interested parties. Statutory 
consultees are the public, the Police and the Highways Authority, all three have been consulted.  
 
Name of Contact Officer:  Marc Stephenson 
Post Title:    Assistant Director Community Safety & Regulated Services 
Telephone No.   07341073745 
Email Address:   marc.stephenson@stockton.gov.uk  
 
Education related? No 
 
Background Papers  
Appendices 
 
Ward(s) and Ward Councillors: 
Not applicable – does not relate directly to specific wards. 
 
Property   
 
Not applicable. 
 

Page 88

mailto:marc.stephenson@stockton.gov.uk


 

1 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Consent Street Trading Policy Review Public Consultation 2023 

Summary Overview 49 responses to the consultation 

Do you agree with Proposal? 

 Yes No Not sure 

Member of the public 13 10 1 

Existing Trader 1 3 1 

Potential Trader 4 2  

Interested Parties 1 4 1 

Other 3 5  

 

  

P
age 89



 

2 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Members of the Public – In Agreement with Proposal - Responses to Consultation  

Have you been 

involved in any street 

trading in the last 12 

months 

Do you agree, Tell us why What should be included/excluded from 

the current conditions 

Officer Comments / Actions 

As a visitor to, or 

customer of street trading 

YES - It will make it a fair opportunity for trade for everyone. 

Provided the fees charged are reasonable. 

  

None of the above YES 
  

None of the above YES - More opportunity for traders/local businesses to 

operate in various locations and gives members of the public 

more variety and choice within their communities. 

Not that I can think of at present. 
 

As a visitor to, or 

customer of street trading 

YES 
  

None of the above YES 
  

As a visitor to, or 

customer of street trading 

YES 
  

None of the above YES Exclude rights to play music/use 

microphones/voice enhancers. 

This could be added to a 

consent as an additional 

condition if any complaints / 

issues after a consent granted. 

None of the above YES 
  

 

  

P
age 90



 

3 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Have you been 

involved in any street 

trading in the last 12 

months 

Do you agree, Tell us why What should be included/excluded from 

the current conditions 

Officer Comments / Actions 

None of the above YES - I actually thought this was already the case and I am 

surprised if its not. 

Pedlars should be excluded. Pedlars are excluded from the 

CST regime, this is detailed in 

legislation and policy, email to 

respondent to advise. 

None of the above YES 
  

None of the above YES - I think its a very good idea as traders know what is 

expected of them. I hope the peddlers are dealt with and 

turned out of the town centre. They turn up every time they 

know there will be a crowd, i.e., xmas light switch on, 

fireworks, SIRF etc. selling their cheap dangerous toys for 

extortionate amounts which break within10 mins. 

Stop the peddlers selling, give the local 

traders a chance to trade. 

Pedlars are excluded from the 

CST regime. However, the 

regime will provide increased 

enforcement tools to deal with 

those pedlars not 'peddling' and 

trading from a fixed location. 

None of the above YES 
  

As a visitor to, or 

customer of street trading 

YES - To prevent over development and extensive spill over 

onto public paths which can impact on those with disabilities. 

No street trading installations to be 

allowed without consultation with council 

officers and a code of conduct to ensure 

clear public passage. 

Clarification on accessibility 

added to draft policy to meet 

accessibility legislation all 

trading locations will need an 

access route of minimum of 

1.5m past the location. 

 

 

  

P
age 91



 

4 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Members of the Public – Not in Agreement with Proposal - Responses to Consultation 

Have you been involved in 

any street trading in the 

last 12 months? 

Do you agree with the proposal? Tell us why, and 

include any improvements or alternative suggestions? 

Do you have any suggestions of 

what should be 

included/excluded from the 

current conditions attached to 

street trading? 

Officer Comments / Actions 

As a visitor to, or customer 

of street trading 

NO 
 

Has not provided any details why 

or alternatives to consider. 

As a visitor to, or customer 

of street trading 

NO - This will harm many of the small independent traders 

who provide such an important part of our communities. 

 
No contact details provided. 

None of the above NO - For people that sell honey from the door, they are 

generally small scale hobbyists. They tend to be retired 

people who spend a great deal of time both developing 

associations, teaching people, and doing good for the 

environment. They tend to sell off excess honey quite 

cheaply and seldom make any profit given the time taken to 

produce the honey, required equipment. This is another 

bureaucratic move from the council to try and collect small 

money which will result in fewer people taking up the hobby 

and therefore harm personal webbing of those practicing 

beekeeping. Better to spend you time and effort in removing 

the drugs free m our area which is devastating our area. 

 
Selling goods door to door is not 

within the scope of the consent 

street trading regime. Email to 

respondent. 

None of the above NO - Private land/property does not constitute a street so 

why would a street trading licence be required. 

 
Private land is included in the CST 

regime, if public have access. 

None of the above NO - Potential impact on people selling their own property 

from outside their own property, particularly cars. My 

suggestion would be to exclude residential areas from this 

change. 

No Selling vehicles from the roadside, 

is included in the policy, but 

compliance will be aimed at repeat 

or commercial sellers. 

 

  

P
age 92



 

5 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

As a visitor to, or customer 

of street trading 

NO - I enjoy going to local fairs that have local small 

businesses that would not be able to afford premises, and 

charity stalls. I have bought many good items over the years 

and do want to support small local businesses rather then 

buy things from the internet. I also want to support our 

charities, and these stalls are an excellent way of doing this. 

Whilst buying items, it is a chance to donate to the charities 

in other ways. For small craft businesses for instance, as 

well as charities, the bureaucracy involved would be quite 

off-putting. I don't think I have bought anything that I could 

buy in a shop in the borough. The rules in the proposals 

would be very restrictive indeed, and I see no need for DBS 

checks on such stalls that would not need them otherwise if 

indoors. 

I think small businesses and 

charities/churches/general voluntary 

sector organisations should be 

excluded. We surely want to support 

such in Stockton Borough? I am 

pleased that a stop could be put to 

any trader having a stall that 

impedes pedestrians on a 

pavement. It would be good if shops 

could be stopped from putting out 

advertising material on the 

pavement causing problems too. 

Non profit / charity trading is 

covered in detailed in the updated 

draft policy document. 

 

Advertising such as A boards is not 

covered in this policy and 

responsibility for this lies with the 

Highways, Transport and Design 

Team. 

As a visitor to, or customer 

of street trading 

NO - Will place huge burdens on organisations such as 

schools, churches and community groups who are trying to 

both fundraise & create community spirit to complete 

onerous applications - potential for groups to unwittingly 

overlook the requirements to do so is also significant. There 

is no rationale in the policy for the requirement of a DBS and 

in what ways this offers any protection. Someone giving free 

food or sweets away does not require a DBS but could be 

deemed more of a risk in terms of their intent than a trader 

with signage and overt purpose. 

Exclude DBS check Exclude public 

spaces such as church car parks, 

school fields, community shared 

spaces. 

Non profit / charity trading is 

covered in detailed in the updated 

draft policy document. 

No contact details provided to 

obtain further details. 

Reasoning and further information 

on DBS requirements has been 

added to the draft policy document 

As a visitor to, or customer 

of street trading 

? - clear whether there will be any unintended negative 

consequences affecting local community / voluntary/ faith 

groups and schools/ colleges holding fundraising / charity 

events and activities. - It does not mean it is a good thing 

because other local authorities have decided to do it. How 

long has it been operating in those other area, and what 

evidence is there of how this has made a massive difference 

in the other places that have already adopted this approach? 

- It sounds like it could create a lot of and extra expense for 

the groups mentioned above if they have to apply/pay for 

consent. If this is so, it could deter people from a lot of 

positive and much needed fundraising activity/events. - 

Including the whole Borough is likely to be very hard to 

consistently enforce. - Including the whole Borough is very 

likely to create circumstances where people are deemed to 

Community /Voluntary/ Faith Groups 

and Schools / Colleges 

Held a hour meeting with 

respondent, addressing some of 

these points. 

Non profit / charity trading is 

covered in detailed in the updated 

draft policy document. 

The respondent also refers to a 

pilot scheme, the full regime will be 

reviewed within 12-18 months of 

operation. 

No contact details provided to 

obtain further details. 

P
age 93



 

6 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

be breaking the law and committing a criminal act because 

of being in the borough rather than because they are  

causing a genuine nuisance or problem in the community. - 

It seems like a potential back door' to raise extra funds by 

charging fees to local voluntary /community groups, 

charities, and schools/colleges - that are not traders. - There 

could be a deluge of reports, complaints about breaches of 

this, and end up with a massive backlog of 'cases' to be 

dealt with; or some people face the consequences of failing 

to comply, whilst others get away with it; - It will be extremely 

difficult to sure that the public and businesses/organisations 

know and understand the consent system and process and 

how it applies to them. - It has not been demonstrated that 

this is actually seeking to address a genuine and significant 

problem, or just giving greater control and power to the 

council that is not needed or necessary? - It has not been 

demonstrated that this proposal is an effective and 

proportionate action / response to address the issue being 

described in the report. - The consultation is described as 

"critical to ensure any changes to the street trading 

resolution are clear and transparent for businesses, 

members, responsible authorities and the public" - yet the 

consultation process has been very limited and relatively 

short, and it does NOT make sure that the public and 

businesses have enough information and understanding 

about the proposal to properly understand its implications; 

and then properly participate in it. The words 'clear' and 

transparent' do not appear to apply - It appears to be a 'tick 

box' exercise rather than genuine attempt to consult and 

engage with those who will be impacted by its 

implementation. - It should be piloted and tested in a smaller 

area to ensure it is appropriate, effective in achieving the 

aims BEFORE it is rolled out across the whole borough. 

 

  

P
age 94



 

7 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

As a visitor to, or customer 

of street trading 

NO - Because there will probably be a cost implication to 

obtain the license. In the current climate so many 

businesses are struggling. If the cost has then to be 

transferred to customers there may be a fall in customer 

numbers if prices rise again to cover this cost. This in turn 

may lead to the closure of a business on already struggling 

high streets. 

I need to re read the draft policy to 

check whether this might affect 

things such as preloved sales in 

community centres or garage sales 

such as that developed in Saltburn. I 

wonder why this policy is being 

introduced at this stage when 

business owners are already 

struggling. The damage this policy 

may cause and the possible 

increase in empty premises and loss 

of local markets. 

Selling goods inside a community 

centre is not within the scope of 

the consent street trading regime. 

Email to respondent to advise. 

None of the above NO - I have concerns about the charges for this and the 

amount of paperwork needed and worry it would put off the 

smaller traders and community groups/ volunteers. These 

groups and people are important for the vibrancy of our 

borough. Smaller traders such as food producers make a 

positive contribution to food sustainability and the 

environment. They also showcase key local products that 

could make our area stand out. How would the costs affect 

groups such as schools and their fund raising activities- it 

could take funds away from services already under funding 

pressures? There should be an expectation that for example 

food providers have food hygiene training and it would be 

useful to know what is meant by a sliding scale of costs- 

would training, and support be part of this cost? 

Process needs to very simple. Non profit / charity trading is 

covered in detailed in the draft 

policy document. 

Application process will online and 

follow the current pavement 

licence application process. 

No contact details provided. 

None of the above NO - I believe this needs to be scalable, if street trading 

consent comes at a financial burden a small start up or 

charity may not find it viable to embark on trading or raising 

funds. 

 
No contact details provided. 

 

  

P
age 95



 

8 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Existing Traders  - Responses to Consultation 

Have you been 

involved in any street 

trading in the last 12 

months 

Do you agree with proposal? Tell us why, and include 

any improvements or alternative suggestions 

What should be included/excluded from the 

current conditions 

Officer Comments 

Wood Fired pizza 

trailer operating from 

Billingham Beck Valley 

Country  Park 

YES - As previously discussed, I believe a street trading 

licence adds professionalism and also security for 

members of the public purchasing food or other from 

street traders.  

I think it is also important to protect the chosen location for 

the street trader from others who opt not to carry out 

operations correctly. 

Pitch protection for street traders. The CST regime will give 

existing traders protection over 

pitches not currently available. 

In addition, any existing trader 

would form part of a new grant 

application consultation process 

and their comments taken into 

account. 

I set up Norton Green 

Market to bring 

something new to the 

residents of Norton 

I won’t say Yes or No as to be honest without talking 

through conditions I have confusion I agree with your 

intention to create a street trading environment which 

compliments the area of trading, is sensitive to the needs 

of residents and nearby businesses, and which promotes 

consumer choice and community values, whilst ensuring 

the safety of the public and the prevention of nuisance. 

Norton Green Market was setup with similar ethics. We 

don't sell on the street; our businesses sell from private 

land which we understand could be affected. 

To support small independent businesses who 

can not even attempt to rent premises on the 

over inflated commercial landlord rented 

premises on the high street. To bring our 

community together, reduce isolation and help 

support the local economy. Lots of the 

businesses in attendance are in the borough 

and through trading support the High Street. 

Our event is held on private land. Its community 

led and as such we also use the market to 

support community groups at no cost. We are 

on private land, if you were to charge us a fee 

to have stall holders then this would be passed 

onto the stall holders which would cause a 

greater financial burden at a time where they 

really don’t need it. I cannot charge entry fee as 

my insurance goes up. Charging an entry fee 

for a regular market also would affect interest 

and footfall. I would not consider organising a 

market if there were increased financial costs to 

us as an enterprise. I totally agree on the need 

to protect rate paying businesses but here in 

Norton most don’t, and we are supportive of 

businesses and bring new things that actually 

help them with trading. My issue is your 

Email exchange with respondent 

to discuss concerns. 

 

Non profit / charity trading is 

covered in detailed in the 

updated draft policy document. 

Arranged a visit to next event 

11/11/23 

P
age 96



 

9 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

enforcement on private land and see schools 

and other events affected. 

As a stallholder / street 

trader;  

As a visitor to, or 

customer of street 

trading 

NO - Many street traders operate as hobby businesses 

others may be start ups with both of which have can have 

little income. complicating the process will only make it 

more difficult for traders and inevitably more expensive to 

be a trader and lead to less diverse trade. 

private land should not be considered public 

access for street trading purposes. Public 

access should be taken into account when a 

market is initially purposed. Many markets are 

run as community support events, paying to 

access them is counter to that very idea. 

Non profit / charity trading is 

covered in detailed in the 

updated draft policy document. 
 

Handmade furniture 

and homewares using 

local and sustainable 

materials.  

As a stallholder / street 

trader 

NO - This will mean many markets have to discontinue, 

which in turn would hugely affect the trade of small local 

businesses and certainly cause some to close completely 

which would again massively affect the area and the 

money spent locally. 

Stop trying to make money out of already 

struggling small businesses. 

The CST regime will provide 

greater opportunity for markets 

in areas previously prohibited. 

Bee Farmer producing 

Honey and Hive 

products from our 

home address. We sell 

both from the Front 

Door and Farmers 

Markets on private 

land.  

As a stallholder / street 

trader 

NO - Best improvement would be to scrap the whole idea. 

This will cause the small local Farmers Markets to 

shutdown and put small traders like myself to go out of 

business. 

I sell at a number of farmers markets on private 

land in the Stockton Borough forcing them to 

register as street traders and pay a fee would 

only deter these popular markets. The market 

organisers have to recoup the cost of the fee 

this canp only be done by 2 methods.  

1. Charge the stalls a higher fee for the pitch. 

This additional cost would put vendors off from 

attending the farmers markets and the 

additional cost would have to be passed onto 

the customers by putting prices up.  

2. The Market Organisers could charge an 

entrance fee, but this would have the knock-on 

effect of reducing footfall and increasing the 

organisers public liability insurance costs to the 

organiser. Again, any increase in costs would 

have to be passed onto the stall holders. 

Additionally like a lot of other Beekeepers in the 

area I sell to people who turn up at my front 

door of my house asking to buy honey this 

Door to door or doorstep selling 

is not covered by the CST 

regime. The CST regime will 

provide greater opportunity for 

markets in areas previously 

prohibited. 

P
age 97



 

10 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

proposal would mean that because they are 

coming onto private land to buy my Honey I 

would have to register as a street trader. Which 

means incurring additional cost. If I decide not 

to register as a Street Trader, people will still 

turn up at my door asking to buy Honey and 

what can I do, turn them away and tell them I 

can't sell to them because of the rules set by  

Stockton Council? All the farmers markets 

attend insist that I have Public Liability 

Insurance and a 5 star food hygiene rating as 

part of their insurance, this proposal is just 

going to add an extra layer of unnecessary 

bureaucracy. We make very little profit as it is, 

and the additional cost would probably put me 

out of business. Farmers Markets on Private 

Land. People selling goods of their own 

production from their own front door. 

 

  

P
age 98



 

11 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Potential Street Traders  - Responses to Consultation 

Have you been involved in any 

street trading in the last 12 months Tell us why, and include any improvements or alternative suggestions Officer Comments 

Local honey producer, Eaglescliffe 

Stockton on Tees 

As a stallholder / street trader 

NO - Basically the local council should help and promote local businesses and start ups not give 

them extra stealth tax to pay shocking I will look at starting my business over the border if this is 

brought in. Don’t bring in this stealth tax! 

Need further details on 

operation, email sent 

asking for contact number. 

Micro business - bakery. 

Attend farmers markets, community 

events, fates etc. around Stockton, 

including Norton, Grange field, 

Billingham. 

As a stallholder / street trader;  

As a visitor to, or customer of street 

trading 

NO - I don't agree as I feel it is just creating more red tape for a micro businesses such as mine. 

There are already so many hoops to jump through including food hygiene rating, PLI etc. and 

this is adding yet another thing and I really can't see any benefit for someone like myself who 

attends community events - it just seems like its to bring in money to the Council with the 

collection of fees. In addition, I believe it may put off organisers of community events from 

organising events with stalls - these people are often volunteers and again this is just something 

else to make putting on an event harder. Surely, we want to encourage these kinds of events 

that bring communities together and generate spending in the local area. The policy states - The 

Council is also committed to improving the support provided to small businesses, ensuring there 

are no unnecessary burdens placed on them - when requiring license applications is an 

unnecessary burden in itself. I think the Council needs to better explain the reasoning behind this 

proposal. 

Non profit / charity trading 

is covered in detailed in the 

updated draft policy 

document. 

No contact details provided. 

Barista Coffee trailer selling quality 

coffee from local roasters, hot and cold 

drinks and locally made 

produce/snacks. I am based on private 

land within my own farm, but I am 

looking for a pitch in the borough. 

YES - By having all the information and access to it in one place, I hope it would make it easier 

to apply and keep everyone equal and the same standards. 

Agree with proposal, CST 

will streamline the current 

application process as 

consent to trade on Council 

land will be including in one 

application. 

Florist on private land YES 
 

Coffee van selling gourmet coffee and 

cake/flapjacks/confectionary/snacks 

was hoping to take a round around the 

offices around the Council of Europe 

Blvd area. 

As a visitor to, or customer of street 

trading 

YES - I think it makes sense to ‘Police’ what is being sold on the streets to prevent people being 

scammed and also to protect homeowners from nuisance. I also think it's important for existing 

businesses to not be crowded out. I think it sounds like a sensible and considered way forward. 
 

 

P
age 99



 

12 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

I would like to look at trading location 

in Norton and Yam 

As a stallholder / street trader;  

As a visitor to, or customer of street 

trading 

YES - Anything which opens the Borough up to trade and give traders security of locations and 

access to events is welcome. Access to council events organisers, and preferential treatment 

given to traders already trading in Borough at events, if we are already contributing to the area 

economy, we should be given first refusal at events could there be a link to business start ups 

and grants. 

Explore how existing street 

traders can link into events 

and be given more 

opportunity to get involved 

in events. 

 

Interested Parties  - Responses to Consultation 

Have you been involved in any 

street trading in the last 12 

months 

Tell us why, and include any improvements 

or alternative suggestions 

Tell us more, and include any improvements 

alternative suggestions 

Officers Comments 

Small scale Beekeeper who sells 

honey locally 

NO - It will stop any beekeeper selling products 

at any farmers markets. 

Please exempt small scale beekeepers. 
 

Parish Councillor NO - This proposal would cause additional 

expense, delay and administrative burden on 

small private enterprises and would be a 

deterrent to entrepreneurship. 
  

School Governor, School has fetes 

etc. which are attended by members 

of the public with no fee required. 

NO - Additional bureaucracy for school staff. 

Parent.volunteers may not have DBS. The 

school has safeguards in place regarding parent 

helpers on the premises. Food e.g., cakes may 

be sold - is food hygiene certificate required? 

The policy should give more specific and 

adapted regulations for voluntary organisations. 

School premises should be exempt. 

Need further information on 

events. email sent for 

contact details 16/10/23. 

I am writing as a member of 

Stockton Fairtrade Borough 

Partnership. We have stalls that sell 

Fairtrade goods on a non profit 

making basis. 

NO - Our stalls have been or planned to be at 

events in Ropner, Preston and John Whitehead 

Park. Village greens, outside places of worship. 

It is not clear in the proposal if it would cover 

marquees erected on such land. Some of these 

places would not be legally able to charge 

admission (such as a village green), and some it 

would be physically impossible because of the 

number of different access points. Having an 

admission charge could put people off from 

looking round stalls, thus not being able to look 

at what is on offer. There would be a lot of 

additional bureaucracy for us as a small group. 

Fees to be fixed by the Council to cover its costs 

are yet to be fixed. They might be nil if the 

It does not cover such as a Fairtrade stall, where 

any profit is donated to a relevant charity. 

"Fairtrade” changes lives by changing trade. We 

transfer wealth back to farmers and workers in 

developing countries who deserve a decent 

income and decent work.". The policy needs to 

exclude organisations like ourselves. 

Held a hour meeting with 

respondent, addressing 

some of these points. 

 

Non profit / charity trading 

is covered in detailed in the 

updated draft policy 

document. 

 

P
age 100



 

13 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

proceeds are to be for organisations like 

ourselves, but they might not, and any 

assurances by the current administration of the 

council might be changed by any future 

administration. Giving organisations no right to 

appeal is heavy handed and extremely 

undemocratic. The proposal has blanket 

coverage, and the Council could fix its own 

criteria for giving or withholding consent. 

If anyone of us running a stall it would be an 

extra administrative burden and possible cost to 

have a DBS check, and a severe barrier to 

having anyone help at the stall, even if for a very 

short time. No DBS check would be required for 

a stall exactly the same that was indoors. The 

proposal asks that if there will be the provision of 

food in any form on a stall, applicants must also 

have a food safety certificate. But the only food 

being sold is pre-packaged and sealed, not 

opened by anyone on the stall, so this is yet 

another barrier to us being able to have a stall. 

Stockton is a Fairtrade Borough, and these 

proposals would severely curtail our ability to 

have a stall at many events. 

Registered charity operating with 

and on behalf of colleagues in the 

VCSE sector 

? - Would it be possible to extend the 

consultation period please? Colleagues in the 

community have commented to me that the 

consultation period has been short 

 Hour meeting with 

respondent discussing 

concerns. 

Cleveland Fire Service YES - Under the Public Safety header it is stated 

that the Council would expect a minimum of 

1.5m of unobstructed highway/walkway on at 

least one side of the proposed trading 

unit/location. Would this be referring to roadway 

or path as Cleveland Fire Brigade would require 

3.1m to pass through? 

 1.5m is public accessibility 

not vehicle accessibility. 

Discuss with fire. 

  

P
age 101



 

14 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Other - Responses to Consultation 

Have you been involved in any street 

trading in the last 12 months 

Tell us why, and include any improvements or 

alternative suggestions 

Do you have any suggestions of what 

should be included/excluded from the 

current conditions attached to street 

trading. 

Officer Comments 

Small business selling from home 

address. 

 As a visitor to, or customer of street 

trading 

NO - The costs involved are more than I take in a year 

selling honey. I keep bees as an environmental positive. I 

sell honey which helps towards the costs. I have a site 

that us used by the national bee unit to monitor pest and 

disease. The cost of a license is more than the money I 

make selling honey. The money I raise I put back into the 

beekeeping. This proposal will make it impossible for me 

to keep bees. 

Businesses with small turnover should be 

excluded. 

The CST regime will not 

cover door to door or 

doorstep selling of honey. 

Email to respondent to 

advise 16/10/23. 

Elected Member of Egglescliffe Parish 

Council, assisting with community 

events involving it & voluntary bodies.  

As a stallholder / street trader;  

As a visitor to, or customer of street 

trading 

NO - The effect of the proposals, including the 

bureaucracy & fees, is excessive & oppressive in the light 

of the perceived harms (which are not quantified) of not 

introducing these controls to the whole Borough. It is not 

stated why existing problems cannot be handled under 

other legislation. The Report to Licensing Committee 

says, Human Rights Implications Consideration must be 

given. The restrictions imposed on the owners & 

occupiers of off-highway open spaces are an interference 

with their property disproportionate to the needs of a 

democratic society. Administrative convenience for the 

Council (e.g., when circumstances require a change in 

areas controlled) or synergies with other Council policies 

are insufficient to restrict freedoms. I suggest that the 

Council revisit the proposals in the light of evidence 

whether they are necessary. There will be a heavy 

burden of bureaucracy on the voluntary & community 

sector organising fundraising events. There is no 

guarantee yet that application & consent fees will be 

affordable or nil. While the effects of the Act may be 

avoided by charging admission, this may discourage 

attendance. In some places (e.g., village greens) 

charging admission may be impracticable or not legally 

possible. It is not stated why a Basic Disclosure 

Certificate (DBS) would be required.  

The following phrases need rewording: 

CST5 electronic communications 

apparatus kept in united for the purposes 

of that network CST16 The Consent 

Holder shall ensure that a competent 

person in units all generators The 1st 

bullet point of SPECIAL CONDITIONS 

FOR MOBILE ICE CREAM TRADERS 

should apply only when the 2nd bullet 

point applies. Under All Traders 

Supporting Documents a Basic 

Disclosure Certificate must be not more 

than 6 month old under Suitability of the 

Applicant dated within 12 months The 

certificate must meet the requirements of 

the application type at the time of 

submission is nowhere explained. The 

term assistants appears in several places. 

As it is in inverted commas I would expect 

a definition, but there is none. 

Held a hour meeting with 

respondent, addressing 

some of these points. 

P
age 102



 

15 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

 

 

Street traders do not deal with under-18’s or vulnerable 

adults to a greater or lesser extent than other traders, so 

this requirement would discriminate against street 

traders. Has the Council checked whether people can 

apply for a DBS check solely because they want to be a 

street trader?   

Resident NO 
  

Part of a number of voluntary, non profit 

making, and charity sector who has or 

helps at stalls on land with public 

access free of charge. 

As a stallholder / street trader;  

As a visitor to, or customer of street 

trading 

NO - I am writing as a member of a number of 

organisations in the voluntary sector. Note that the whole 

of the consultation period is within the school holidays so 

many organisations have not had meetings to be able to 

discuss the impact of the proposals. As I understand it 

street affected include a road, footway, or other area to 

which the public have access without payment. This 

would mean such as parks, village greens, open spaces 

that are both publicly and privately owned, areas around 

churches, car parks, school playing fields places like 

Yarm High Street. Some of these would not be legally 

able to charge admission, and some it would be 

physically impossible because of the number of different 

access points. Having an admission charge could put 

people off from looking round stalls, thus having an 

impact on fund raising. There would be a lot of additional 

bureaucracy for small voluntary organisations that are 

needing to raise funds. Also, fees to be fixed by the 

Council to cover its costs are yet to be fixed. They might 

be nil if the proceeds are to be for charity or a non profit 

making organisation, but they might not, and any 

assurances by the current administration of the council 

might be changed by any future administration. Giving 

organisations no right to appeal is heavy handed and 

extremely undemocratic. The proposal has blanket 

coverage, and the Council could fix its own criteria for 

giving or withholding consent. There may well be different 

circumstances not covered by the legislation that would 

There is no provision at all for the 

voluntary, community non profit making 

sector. This needs to be specifically 

excluded in the policy. 

 

P
age 103



 

16 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

need to be taken into account. If anyone running a stall, 

including anyone assisting in the stall will have to have a 

DBS check this is going to cause a huge problem for 

organisations where stalls and helpers do not need a 

valid DBS check. 

 

 I note that the proposal has 2 different times for a DBS 

check to be valid, both 6 and 12 months. The proposal 

asks that if there will be the provision of food in any form 

on a stall, applicants must also have a food safety 

certificate. But there are times when the only food being 

sold is pre-packaged and not touched by anyone on the 

stall, so this is yet another burden on the voluntary 

sector. 

  

Town Council.  

As an organiser of street trading 

NO - On behalf of the Town Council this was discussed 

at the Services & Engagement Committee meeting on 

19th September 2023. Members object to this proposal 

due to the negative impact on the local voluntary sector, 

extra costs, and administration time on smaller not for 

profit organisations. 

  

Organiser of events in Ropner Park 

which include traders. As a visitor to, or 

customer of street trading 

YES - Traders will then have to operate using the same 

guidelines. 

  

As a visitor to, or customer of street 

trading 

YES - Traders will then have to operate using the same 

guidelines. 
  

Councillor YES – hard copy of comments provided to Licensing  
  

 

P
age 104



 

1 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

SBC Consent Street Trading Policy 2023 – DRAFT v4 – Following Consultation 

Introduction and Scope 

Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council (the Council) recognises the valuable contribution that street 

trading can make to the local culture and economy, and the service that street traders provide 

to residents of the Borough, some of whom are unable to travel to centralised shopping centres. 

Street trading can provide people with a flexible way of working, to meet the demands of the 

public where and when that demand arises. 

 

The Council is also committed to improving the support provided to small businesses, ensuring 

there are no unnecessary burdens placed on them and they are provided with sufficient advice 

to enable them to operate successfully.  The intention is to create a street trading environment 

which complements areas of trading, is sensitive to the needs of residents and nearby 

businesses, and which promotes consumer choice and community values, whilst ensuring the 

safety of the public and the prevention of nuisance.  

 

Local Authorities have a legal discretion to regulate street trading in their area. Street trading is 

covered by the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 Schedule 4. This street 

trading policy is produced in accordance with the powers granted in Section 3 and Schedule 4 

of the Act. Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (legislation.gov.uk) 

 

Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council has designated the whole borough as a “Consent Street” 

area. The effect of this designation means if you want to sell goods on a street, you are classed 

as a street trader and, subject to legal and policy exemptions, and will need to have the 

appropriate consent.   

 

Conditions can be attached to the consent as are considered ‘reasonably necessary’ and are 

detailed at Appendix 1. Trading without the required consent is a criminal offence. 

 

This policy will guide the Council when it considers applications for street trading consents, and 

it will inform applicants of the criteria against which applications will be considered. This policy 

sets out the Councils framework and approach for the management of street trading in the 

borough which are:  

• To ensure the suitability of applicants to hold a consent 

• To ensure the suitability of the structures used for trading 

• To control the number and location of street traders and complement existing street and 

premise-based trading 

Page 105

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1982/30/schedule/4/crossheading/street-trading-licences


 

2 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

• To prevent obstruction of the highway by street trading activities 

• To ensure that traders operate within the law, act fairly with the public and do not present 

a risk to public order 

• To prevent public nuisance by taking measures to reduce the risk of nuisance from 

misbehaviour, noise, refuse, vermin, fumes, and smells 

• To ensure that the process involves opportunities for consultation with relevant agencies 

• To maintain the quality and add value to the townscape 

• To encourage inward investment by introducing a stop one application process for 

businesses 

 

Consultation 

In determining this Policy, the Council has consulted with the following:  

• Cleveland Police (statutory consultee) and Cleveland Fire Service 

• SBC Highways, Transport and Design (statutory consultee) 

• Members of the public (statutory consultee) 

• Current Street Traders & Local Businesses 

• Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) Sector 

• SBC Responsible Authorities inc. Trading Standards, Planning, Environmental Health 

• SBC Regeneration and Inclusive Growth 

• SBC Community Services, Environment and Culture 

• SBC Adults and Health 

• SBC Corporate Services 

• Elected Members 

 

Review of the Policy  

This policy comes into effect on the DATE and supersedes any previous policies. The policy will 

be regularly evaluated and may be changed without full consultation to reflect: 

• administrative changes 

• legislative changes 

• local considerations within the borough 

 

This policy will be fully reviewed in line with the current constitution, including a review with a 

public consultation process within twelve to eighteen months of adoption and then when 

required. 

If after reading this policy, you require further information please contact the Licensing Team.  

Email: licening@stockton.gov.uk Phone: 01642 524802 Web: www.stockton.gov.uk/licensing 

Page 106

mailto:licening@stockton.gov.uk
http://www.stockton.gov.uk/licensing


 

3 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Regulatory and Policy Framework 

Street trading means selling, exposing, or offering for sale any article (including a living thing) 

in a street. This includes a wide range of retail activities e.g., food, beverages, arts and crafts, 

jewellery, household goods, clothing etc, it could also include the sale of vehicles from the 

roadside. 

 

A street means any road, footway, beach, service area or other area to which the public have 

access to without payment. The Courts have confirmed that any land located away from the 

highway which the public can access without payment, including privately owned land, is 

capable of being a street for these purposes. For example, this could include open spaces, 

parks, car parks, trading estates, forecourts, business/retail parks and pedestrianised precincts. 

 

Certain activities are exempted from street trading control by the legislation. These include: 

• trading as a pedlar under a pedlar's certificate 

• trading at an established market or fair the right to hold which having been obtained by 

a grant, enactment, or order 

• trading as a news vendor 

• trading at a petrol station or shop or from a street adjoining a shop which is used as part 

of the business of the shop 

• trading as a roundsman (i.e., delivering pre-ordered goods to customers) 

• trading from a licensed highway area (pavement licence) 

• trading under a street collection permit for charitable purposes 

 

The Council recognise the valuable work the charity, community and voluntary sectors 

contribute to the borough, which includes trading as part of fundraising activities. Organisers of 

these events make no commercial gain from trading and all profits made are put back into the 

purpose of the registered charity / association. These activities are exempted from street trading 

control by this policy and include: 

• Trading by a registered charity or recognised association or other non-profit making 

organisation 

• Non-profit / fundraising trading taking place within a church or educational grounds e.g., 

church events, school festivals and PTA events 

 

There are no prohibited streets within the Borough. The A19 and A66 are designated as major 

roads, roadside sales are controlled by section 23 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 

Page 107



 

4 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Provisions) Act 1982 and Section 147a of the Highways Act 1980 prohibits roadside sales where 

it is likely to cause a danger to road users. 

The Licensing and Determination Process  

Each application will be dealt with on its own merits, this policy gives prospective applicants an 

indication as to whether their application is likely to be granted or not. It also provides 

prospective applicants with details of what is expected of them should an application be granted. 

 

Applications can only be made by persons over 17 years of age, who have the right to reside 

and work in the UK.  Some of the information provided on the application form is published on 

a ‘Public Register’ which members of the public can view. Application forms can be found on 

the Council website. 

Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council has different types of street trading consent: 

Consent Type Notes Examples 

Annual Fixed 

Site Consent 

An individual trader at a fixed annual site  Food vans at fixed 

locations 

Annual Roaming 

Consent  

 

An individual trader with Borough wide consent 

when a schedule of stop/locations is included 

with the application. Stops are for no more than 

20 minutes at a time, and no location is revisited 

within a 4 hour period 

Roaming ice cream / 

food vans with short 

stops at multiple 

locations 

Annual Mobile 

Multi Site 

Consent 

 

An individual trader with site specific consent 

when a schedule of locations is included with the 

application. Stops are longer than 20 minutes at 

a time 

Coffee / food vans 

with longer stops at 

multiple locations 

Single Use 

Consent  

(fixed site only) 

An individual trader at a fixed site for a period not 

exceeding 72 hours (or 3 consecutive days)  

Commercial seasonal 

trader, annual consent 

not needed 

Temporary 

Event Consent  

(fixed site only) 

 

Multiple traders at a temporary fixed site location 

for a period not exceeding 72 hours (or 3 

consecutive days). The number of traders 

covered is as follows: 

Category 1 – Up to 20 traders 

Category 2 – Between 21 and 49 traders 

Category 3 – Between 50 and 75 traders 

Category 4 – Between 76 and 99 traders 

Category 5 – over 100 traders 

Commercial and for 

profit markets and 

events 

Page 108



 

5 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Application Process 

Each application form must be accompanied by the following supporting documentation: 

All Traders Supporting Documents (except temporary event consent) 

• Details of any assistants to be included on the consent 

• A Basic Disclosure Certificate (DBS) for the applicant and any assistants to be included 

on the consent (not more than six months old) 

• Three colour photographs of the unit / vehicle that will be used for the street trading 

activity (Front, Back and Side views) 

• A passport sized photograph of the applicant and each assistant 

• FSA Food Hygiene Rating Score for food traders 

• Evidence that the applicant and any person(s) operating the stall / vehicle / unit holds a 

valid right to work in the U.K. 

 

Fixed Site Consent Additional Supporting Documents 

• All trader supporting documents as detailed above 

• A site map clearly identifying the proposed site position by marking the site boundary 

with a red line 

• A photograph of the proposed site 

• Permission from the landowner (private land only) 

 

Roaming Consent Additional Supporting Documents 

• All trader supporting documents as detailed above 

• A route of proposed stops/locations 

 

Mobile Multi Site Consent Additional Supporting Documents 

• All trader supporting documents as detailed above 

• A complete list of proposed site locations  

• A site map of each location, clearly identifying the proposed site position by marking the 

site boundary with a red line 

• A photograph of each of the proposed sites 

• Permission from the landowner (private land only) 

 

Temporary Event Consent Additional Supporting Documents 

• A complete list of traders attending the event following the standard format published on 

the council website 

Page 109



 

6 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

• A site map clearly identifying the proposed site position by marking the site boundary 

with a red line. 

• A photograph of the proposed site 

• Permission from the landowner (private land only) 

• FSA Food Hygiene Rating Score for food traders 

 

Sites can remain with the same person for several years on successful renewal. In the event of 

the Consent being revoked, surrendered or if it lapses without being renewed, the Council will 

accept new applications for the vacant site. This might be at any time of the year. 

 

Fees 

Fees will be made on application, renewal, transfer, variation or to issue a replacement consent. 

The Council can recover the full costs associated with the consent scheme and fees are 

reviewed annually and published on the Council website. 

 

In arriving at fees, the Council may charge a lesser amount for temporary event consent 

applications to promote and support such activities. Fees are broken down into 2 elements, an 

application fee, and a consent fee. 

 

The level of fees applicable to the street trading function takes into account the administrative 

costs associated with the consideration of application, the issue and administration of the 

consent, and the costs associated with compliance checks carried out by the licensing authority 

to ensure that traders operate in accordance with the conditions of their consent.  

 

No application will be deemed valid until payment of the appropriate fee. Where trading ceases 

during the term of the consent refunds will not be issued for any outstanding period of less than 

three months. Where a temporary event consent has been granted, no refund will be issued 

should a trader not attend the event, or the event is cancelled. 

 

Equality and Diversity 

The Council is committed to promoting equal opportunities, valuing diversity, and tackling social 

exclusion. The Council will aim to provide opportunities that meet the diverse needs of different 

people and groups of people by ensuring that services and employment opportunities are 

accessible to all. Everyone will be treated fairly and with respect. Diverse needs will be 

understood and valued. The Council will aim to eradicate all forms of discrimination. Policy 

guidance and application forms relating to consent street trading will be made available in 

Page 110



 

7 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

English which is the most common language of customers and stakeholders. On request the 

Council will signpost applicants to providers of guidance and information relating to translation 

services. 

 

Consultation 

Upon receiving a full application, all supporting documentation and the correct fee the Licensing 

Service will begin the consultation process with interested parties.  

 

There are no statutory consultees on street trading applications however the police, highways 

authority, fire service and other responsible authorities will be consulted and a minimum of 14 

day consultation period will be required. This consultation period may be extended if 

representations are received, or further information is required. Local Ward Councillors will also 

be notified of an application. Public notification will be achieved through the Council webpage.  

 

Once the Council has accepted a valid application the applicant shall also put up a notice of the 

application at the proposed street trading location, advising the public how to comment on the 

application. (This requirement will not apply to roaming consents). Photographic evidence of the 

notice in place shall be submitted on request. The applicant shall remove the notice at the end 

of the consultation period. A draft copy of a notice is available on the website. 

 

Applications for street trading consents are delegated to officers for determination in line with 

the Councils constitution. Officers will take all information into consideration including relevant 

representation made in writing to the Licensing Service.  

 

A relevant objection is one made by a person, business or body that is likely to be directly 

affected by a successful application. The objection must not be vexatious or frivolous and should 

concern itself only with matters likely to be affected by a successful application. The applicant 

will be provided with a copy of any representation received including contact details, to promote 

mediation and the applicant will be given an opportunity to comment before a final decision is 

taken. Officers will determine whether an objection is relevant according to its merit and any 

benefit of doubt will be given to the objector.  

 

Following the determination of an application, the Council will notify the applicant of the decision 

in writing. No street trading may take place until a consent has been issued.  To trade without a 

consent is an offence. 

 

Page 111



 

8 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

If more than one application is received for any new or vacant site, applications will be 

considered in consultation with the Chair or Vice Chair of the Licensing Committee.  

 

If the applicant has any relevant convictions, it is likely that the application will be considered in 

consultation with the Chair or Vice Chair of the Licensing Committee. All applications will be 

assessed against the Assessment Criteria.  

 

Assessment Criteria  

Each case will be dealt with on its own merits, failure to meet conditions which would be attached 

to a consent are grounds for refusal. In considering applications the following factors will also 

be considered:  

• Suitability of the applicant 

• Suitability of the location 

• Appearance of the Unit or Vehicle 

• Public Nuisance 

• Public Safety 

• Environmental Credentials 

 

Suitability of the Applicant 

All applicants and assistants (excluding temporary event consents) are required to submit a 

Basic Disclosure Certificate dated within six months at application and renewal of a consent. 

The purpose of considering an applicant’s previous convictions is to enable the Council to 

assess whether:- 

• an applicant for the grant or renewal of a street trading consent is a suitable person to 

hold, or to continue to hold, a street trading consent; 

• a person who wishes to be registered as an assistant to a street trading consent holder, 

or to continue to be registered as an assistant to a street trading consent holder, is a 

suitable person to be registered as an assistant to a street trading consent holder 

 

Each case will be decided on its own merits and follow policy guidance and in making its 

decision the Council will consider the following:- 

• whether the conviction is relevant; 

• the seriousness of the offence; 

• the length of time since the offence occurred; 

• whether there is a pattern of offending behaviour; 

• whether that person’s circumstances have changed since the offence occurred; 

Page 112



 

9 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

• the circumstances surrounding the offence and the explanation offered by that person; 

 

Applicants and assistants should refer to Appendix 3 for details of the general approach that will 

be taken to certain categories of offences. 

 

Suitability of Locations and Needs of the Area  

Consent will not be given in any location which infringes parking or traffic requirements, causes 

obstruction of the highway, or presents a danger to other road users or pedestrians. Any street 

trading which negatively impacts public access by walking, cycling or public transport will 

generally be refused.  

 

The Council would expect a minimum of (1.5m) of unobstructed highway/walkway on at least 

one side of the proposed trading unit/location without causing undue interference or 

inconvenience to persons using the street. Any proposal to use additional signage such as an 

A-board will need to be included with the application, as the location and size will need to be 

considered as part of the determination process. 

 

The retail offer of each individual unit will be considered, the goods should complement and not 

conflict with the goods sold by other established business and traders within the location. The 

Council does however recognise that the surrounding retail offer is subject to change. The 

application shall clearly indicate the locations of other existing businesses and traders, trading 

in similar commodities in an 800m radius to those proposed location and deliver notices to 

similar traders and premises identified giving details of the application. 

 

The applicant must also deliver notices to the nearest six premises (being residential, 

commercial, or otherwise) to the proposed site giving details of the application. Evidence of 

notices delivered to traders and premises should be produced on request. A draft notice can be 

found on the council website. 

 

Where any proposed trading is within 50 metres of a school perimeter, the Council will seek the 

views of the school. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 113



 

10 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Appearance of the Unit or Vehicle 

Full details of the unit or vehicle which the applicant intends to use must be supplied to the 

Council at the time of making the application, including 3 colour photographs. Arrangements 

maybe made for the Unit or Vehicle to be inspected by a duly authorised officer prior to the 

application being considered. 

 

Trading units should not significantly detract from the visual appearance of a particular location 

and may even enhance the setting and be constructed in a suitable scale, style and using 

appropriate materials. The unit should also be designed to be accessible for all customers and 

advertising material must be limited e.g., the name of the unit, the type of product sold, and a 

simple price list suitably designed and printed.  

 

The Council will generally not permit trading units where the unit fully, or substantially, blocks 

lines of sight to established traders in the location.  

 

Public Nuisance 

The street trading activity must not cause nuisance to the public, or properties in the location, 

from obstruction, misbehaviour, noise, refuse, vermin, fumes, and smells etc. Particular regard 

to this will be had in respect of consents in predominantly residential areas and due regard will 

be made to the character of the neighbourhood.  

 

Applicants will need to demonstrate steps to be taken to reduce litter and waste in locations, 

throughput the day and at close of business. 

 

Public Safety  

The street trading activity must not present a substantial risk to the public from the point of view 

of obstruction, fire hazard, unhygienic conditions or danger that may occur when a trader is 

accessing the site.  

 

Overcrowding of the site/area includes the capacity of the street trading area having regard to 

the potential maximum attendance on the site by the public, and the consequent risk of over 

congestion impacting adjacent roads to the site.  

 

Applicants will need to demonstrate steps to be taken to reduce the risk to public order in respect 

of applicants wishing to trade at later hours should be included in an application. This should 

include management of potential flash points and dispersal of customers. 

 

Page 114



 

11 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Environmental Credentials 

Steps taken to promote environmental sustainability should be included in an application. The 

application shall outline the impact of the proposed operation on the local environment, including 

power supply, carbon footprint, supply chain, packaging, waste minimisation and recycling, 

waste disposal and waste created by customers. Noise and pollution levels caused by generator 

will also be a consideration as will the anticipated impact on wildlife or the public enjoyment of 

a particular setting (e.g. Lighting and noise may impact on wildlife and disturb the tranquillity of 

some green spaces). 

 

The Council will encourage the use of sustainable products and will consider the trader’s 

environmental credentials in respect of these when considering whether to approve 

applications.  

 

Renewals  

Renewal forms and fees are available on the Council website. Consents are issued for a set 

date or dates or for a period of up to one year. Consent holders should reapply for a consent if 

they wish to continue to trade at least one month before the expiry of their current Consent. As 

a matter of convenience, the Council will send renewal reminders to Consent holders via 

electronic contact details given at the time of application.  

 

However, the Council is clear that it remains the consent holder’s responsibility to ensure that 

their consent is renewed in time. If, without reasonable excuse, a renewal application is not 

made before the expiry of the current consent it will expire and the site will become available, 

and a new application must be submitted in accordance with the new application procedure. 

  

At renewal, the Council may consult further to determine if the street trading is a cause for 

concern or has been the subject of complaints. Where a renewal application has been made 

and if:  

• there have been no significant complaints, compliance, or enforcement issues;  

• all fees have been paid on time; and  

• there has been no significant change to the retail environment in the location of trading 

the consent will normally be renewed.  

 

If the applicant has without reasonable excuse failed to use the consent to a reasonable extent 

a renewal application could be refused. 

 

Page 115



 

12 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Transfers  

The sub-letting of a consent to another party is not permitted. Consents can be transferred from 

one holder to another, if the holder of the consent is the only change being made. Forms and 

fees are available on the Council website.  

 

Variations 

A request to vary the location of the consent will be treated as a new application for the new 

location. Holders of a consent may apply to vary it, for example by requesting a change of 

trading hours or goods. Forms and fees are available on the Council website.  

 

Decision to Refuse or Revoke a Consent 

The power to grant a street trading consent is discretionary; and the Council may refuse to grant 

a street trading consent if they deem it appropriate to do so. Such decisions will be made in 

accordance with the Council’s scheme of delegation.  

 

If an application is refused the applicant will be informed of the reason for the refusal within 21 

days of the decision being made. 

 

Failure to comply with the conditions of the consent may result in the revocation or refusal to 

renew, a consent. In certain circumstances, formal action such as prosecution may be the most 

appropriate course of action.  If a consent is revoked the holder will be informed of the reason 

for the revocation within 21 days of the decision being made. 

 

Appeals 

There is no statutory right of appeal in respect of refusal or revocation of street trading consent. 

A person aggrieved by a decision of the Council may make an application to the High Court for 

the judicial review of the decision. For further information on potential grounds for judicial review, 

applicants should seek independent legal advice. 

 

If more than one application is received for any new or vacant site, or a high number of 

objections against an application are received, these applications will be considered in 

consultation with the Chair or Vice Chair of the General Licensing Committee. All applications 

will be assessed against the assessment criteria and to ensure the process is open, fair and 

transparent, if an application is refused full and clear written reasons will be given. 

 

Applicants also have recourse to the Council’s complaints procedure if the applicant considers 

that a Council service has not been properly delivered. 

Page 116



 

13 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Compliance and Enforcement  

The Council has a responsibility to regulate street trading in the borough and is therefore 

committed to enforcing the provisions contained within the relevant legislation and this policy 

and to work in partnership with all enforcement agencies. Where street trading activities are 

conducted without appropriate consents the Council will look to gather evidence and take 

appropriate enforcement decisions in accordance with the Councils adopted enforcement 

policy. 

 

Obtaining a consent does not confer the holder immunity regarding other legislation that may 

apply, e.g., Public Liability, Health & Safety at Work, Food Hygiene and Safety, Alcohol and 

Entertainment Licensing, Planning Controls, and consent holders should ensure all such 

permissions are in place. 

 

In undertaking compliance and enforcement action the Council may call for assistance from 

Cleveland Police and will make use of CCTV recordings as evidence. 

 

Conditions Attached to Street Trading Consents 

Consents will carry standard conditions in all cases in addition the Council can impose additional 

conditions including operating hours and goods offered, where it is deemed appropriate and will 

be relevant to the category of consent issued and the nature of the local environment.  

 

Failure on the part of the consent holder (or any other person employed to assist in trading) to 

comply with any of the conditions imposed may lead to the revocation of the consent or to the 

Council refusing to renew the consent. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 117



 

14 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

APPENDIX 1 

STANDARD CONDITIONS (TO BE USED ON ALL CONSENTS ISSUED) 

The Site 

CSTS1 The Site cannot be used for any purpose other than the operation of the Unit as 

described and agreed within the consent and plan attached to the consent. 

CSTS2 Only Trading in accordance with the times and days stated on consent is permitted. 

CSTS3 Facilities for the collection of all waste, refuse or litter arising due to the activity must 

be provided. The refuse storage must be of a substantial construction, suitable 

covered containers. All must be removed from the site at the end of each day of 

trading and properly disposed of, or if the amount of waste and refuse warrants it, 

when the container is full – whichever is the sooner.  

CSTS4 Clear routes of access to the site will be maintained, taking into account the needs 

of disabled people and the recommended 1.5m minimum footway widths and 

distances required for access by mobility impaired and visually impaired people. 

Trading cannot operate in such a way as to cause danger or annoyance to persons 

using the street. 

CSTS5 Activities will not:  

a. prevents traffic, other than vehicular traffic, from— 

i. entering the relevant highway at a place where such traffic could otherwise enter 

it (ignoring any pedestrian planning order or traffic order made in relation to the 

highway), 

 ii. passing along the relevant highway, or  

iii. having normal access to premises adjoining the relevant highway  

b. prevents any use of vehicles which is permitted by a pedestrian planning order, 

or which is not prohibited by a traffic order,  

c. prevents statutory undertakers having access to any apparatus of theirs under, 

in, on or over the highway, or d. prevent the operator of an electronic 

communications code network having access to any electronic communications 

apparatus kept installed for the purposes of that network under, in, on or over the 

highway. 

CSTS6 Statutory and Emergency services will be permitted 24hr emergency access – 

without notice. The Council may temporarily revoke the consent where an 

alternative use for the highway is required for example emergency highway 

maintenance, emergency scaffold access or use of the highway during events that 

are supported by the local authority. The local authority will not be liable for any loss 

of earnings arising from the suspension of the consent. 

Page 118



 

15 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

The Unit 

CSTU1 The dimensions and appearance of the Unit shall at all times follow the details 

described and agreed within the consent and plan attached to the consent. 

CSTU2 At all times while trading the consent issued by the Council must be displayed in 

a conspicuous position on the Unit. For temporary event consents the consent will 

be displayed in at least two conspicuous places – typically these shall be attached 

to the first and last units. 

CSTU3 The Unit shall be clean and tidy and securely erected. The Unit is of such material 

and design, and so constructed and maintained that it is not liable to cause injury 

to any person present on the site or otherwise. 

CSTU4 Liquefied petroleum gas is not used without the express permission of the Council 

and any equipment using this gas shall have only flexible and approved armoured 

hoses complying with the relevant British Standard Specification or equivalent.  

CSTU5 The use and storage of liquefied petroleum gas complies with any relevant codes 

of practice.  

CSTU6 Goods will not be inflammable, corrosive or otherwise dangerous nature.  

CSTU7 No mobile generators are used without the express permission of the Council. 

Where permission is granted, generators shall be so positioned that they do not 

present a danger to the public, do not present a fire or similar hazard to the unit, 

goods displayed thereon, or adjoining premises and do not cause any 

contamination, noise, or fume nuisance.  

CSTU8 Documentation must be provided to show that the generators have been 

maintained in accordance with the manufacturer’s instructions.  

CSTU9 No combustible materials are to be stored in the vicinity of a generator and suitable 

first aid, firefighting appliance(s) must be immediately available.  

CSTU10 All equipment is in a safe working condition and suitably cordoned off to ensure 

that the general public do not have access to the equipment.  

CSTU11 All electric power supplied must be protected by residual current devices. Any 

appliance is to be separated from the supply outlet by a fuse of suitable rating.  

CSTU12 All electrical cables or flexes, which are suspended over the public footway or 

carriageway shall be adequately supported. All electrical cables or flexes, which 

run along the ground and are in a position where the public could come into contact 

with them must be fitted with rubber cable protecting mats/covers, have 

demarcation or warning signage to make them easily visible to the public and not 

pose a tripping hazard. 

Page 119



 

16 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

CSTU13 Authorised vehicles must be roadworthy and valid Road Tax, MOT and vehicle 

insurance which includes cover for the purpose of street trading. 

CSTU14 No unit or vehicle shall remain situated in the location for longer than one hour 

after the authorised trading time(s).  

CSTU15 The holder of the consent shall take adequate precautions to prevent the risk of 

fire at the stall / vehicle / unit. A serviceable fire blanket and suitable fire 

extinguisher/s shall be provided at all times.  

CSTU16 The holder of the consent shall ensure that where the stall / vehicle / unit has a 

240 volt electrical system that an up to date annual electrical safety certificate is in 

force. 

CSTU17 The holder of the consent shall ensure that where gas cylinders are used that an 

up to date annual gas safety certificate is in force. 

CSTU18 The holder of the consent shall ensure that a first aid kit is maintained on the stall 

/ vehicle / unit and made available to any customers injured by the activities of the 

business operation. 

 

The Consent Holder 

CSTH1 Public Liability insurance cover for the unit and site shall be maintained and shall 

indemnify the local authority against all claims in respect of injury, damage or loss 

arising out of the granting of permission, (e.g., damage to the highway or highway 

furniture) to a minimum value of £5,000,000 unless such claims arise out of the 

local authorities’ own negligence. Insurance applies to individual applicants and 

event organisers. 

CSTH2 The consent holder must adequately manage the street trading activity so as not 

to cause a statutory or public nuisance e.g., from noise, fumes, and odour to any 

other person, whether that person is using the street or otherwise, or to the 

occupier of any building in proximity to the consent site. 

CSTH3 The consent holder must pay the Council the cost of carrying out any works, 

including cleansing of the highway or making good any damage, that is required 

due to the consent holders use of the Unit and Site. The permanent surface 

reinstatement shall be carried out to the satisfaction of the local authority. 

CSTH4 The consent holder will observe all statutory and other provisions and regulations 

for the time being in force which relate to the consent holders use of the site.  

CSTH5 The consent holder will be required to take responsibility for and supervise their 

licensed areas and so far, as is reasonable to ensure that patrons or customers of 

the site conduct themselves in an orderly manner.  

Page 120



 

17 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

CSTH6 Where authorised by a consent issued under the Licensing Act 2003, alcohol must 

only be served in polycarbonate or plastic containers. 

CSTH7 The consent holder will inform the Council in writing of the details of any change 

in the operation or staffing of the Unit (including changes in details of named 

assistants) or the sale or transfer of the business to another party.  

CSTH8 The consent holder shall notify the Council in writing within 72 hours if they or an 

assistant is under investigation for or convicted of any offences, including formal 

cautions and fixed penalty notices. 

CSTH9 The Council may at any time vary the conditions of a street trading consent or 

revoke / suspend this consent in the event of:  

• The breach by the consent holder or named assistants of any of the 

conditions attached to the consent;  

• Work being carried out in, under or over the highway on which the Unit is 

located;  

• Change in Council Policy which necessitates termination of this consent;  

• Circumstances outside the Councils control which necessitate termination 

of this consent. 

CSTH10 No furniture or equipment other than as permitted by the consent can be used. If 

furniture or equipment have been approved, they remain in a clean and tidy 

condition and not obstruct the entrance or exit from any premises.  

CSTH11 No consent holder shall trade at the authorised location on dates when road 

closure directives are in place for special events otherwise than with the 

permission of the organisation applying for same.  

CSTH12 The consent holder is encouraged to use sustainable packaging and adopt an 

environmentally friendly approach throughout the operation of the business to 

minimise the impact on the environment 

 

ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS FOR ROAMING CONSENT TRADERS 

CSTR1 Any proposed trading within 50 metres of a school perimeter, is not permitted 

without prior agreement. The Council will seek the views of the schools in these 

cases. 

CSTR2 Trading is limited in any one location for 20 minutes at any one time and the trader 

shall not return to that particular location within 4 hours of leaving it.  

CSTR3 The consent holder shall comply with all traffic regulations, rules, orders, and 

directions which apply to the public highways on which the holder trades.  

Page 121



 

18 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 The consent holder is required to comply with the Code of Practice on Noise from 

Ice-Cream Van Chimes Etc. in England 2013 or any modification or re-enactment 

thereof. 

www.gov.uk/government/publications/code-of-practice-on-noise-from-ice-

cream-van-chimes 

 

EXAMPLE ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS (THIS LIST IS NOT EXHAUSTIVE) 

 The consent holder must not permit the sale of offensive weapons including 

imitation firearms, firearms, airguns, swords, and crossbows. 

 The Consent holder must not sell a knife to anyone under 18. 

 The trader shall not exhibit on the site any advertising signs, stands, posters or 

such except as may be approved by the Council.  

 No animal shall be present on any unit or vehicle save assistance dogs in 

accordance with the Equality Act 2010.  

 The trader is not permitted to hold any auction or like sale.  

 There shall be no discharge of wastewater or other liquid waste onto the Consent 

site or surrounding areas. 

 No form of amplified music shall be permitted. 

 

  

Page 122

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/code-of-practice-on-noise-from-ice-cream-van-chimes
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/code-of-practice-on-noise-from-ice-cream-van-chimes


 

19 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

APPENDIX 2 

CONVICTIONS POLICY – SPECIFIC OFFENCES  

The following details the Council’s general approach when dealing with to certain categories of 

offences for street trading purposes. 

 

Dishonesty 

The holders of a street trading consent and their assistants have to be persons who can be 

trusted. It is easy for a dishonest trader or assistant to take advantage of the public. Members 

of the public using a street trading outlet expect the holder and assistant to be honest and 

trustworthy. 

 

For these reasons, a serious view will be taken of any conviction involving dishonesty. In 

general, an applicant for the grant or renewal of a street trading consent is unlikely be granted 

a street trading consent where the application is made within 3 to 5 years of a conviction or the 

date of release from a custodial sentence 

 

Similarly, a person wishing to be registered as an assistant to a street trading consent holder is 

unlikely be to be registered where registration is sought within 3 to 5 years from the date of 

conviction or the date of release from a custodial sentence. 

 

Violence 

As street traders and their assistants have close contact with the public, a firm line will be taken 

with applicants who have convictions for violence. In cases where the commission of an offence 

involves loss of life, an applicant or assistant of a street trading consent will normally be refused. 

In other cases, a period of 3 to 10 years free of conviction from the date of conviction or the date 

of release where a custodial sentence has been imposed, depending upon the nature and 

seriousness of the offence(s), will generally be required before an application is likely to be 

considered favourably. 

 

Drugs 

Where an applicant has a conviction for an offence that relates to the supply or importation of 

drugs and the date of the conviction or the release from a custodial sentence has been imposed, 

is less than 5 to 10 years before the date of the application, an application will normally be 

refused. After 5 years from a conviction or the date of release from jail, where a custodial 

sentence has been imposed, the circumstances of the offence and any evidence which shows 

that a person is now a fit and proper person to hold a street trading consent or to be maned as 

an assistant will be taken into consideration. 

Page 123



 

20 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

An application will normally be refused where the applicant has a conviction for an offence 

relating to the possession of drugs and the date of the conviction or the release from a custodial 

sentence for such an offence has been imposed, is within 3 to 5 years of the date of the 

application. After a period of three years from conviction or the date of release from a custodial 

sentence has been imposed, consideration will be given to the circumstances of the offence 

and any evidence to show that an applicant or named assistant is a suitable person to hold a 

street trading consent. 

 

An application will normally be refused where an applicant has more than one conviction for 

offences related to the possession of drugs and the last conviction or the date of release from 

jail, where a custodial sentence has been imposed, is less than 5 years before the date of the 

application. 

 

Sexual and Indecency Offences 

As the holders of street trading consents and their assistants, and in particular those who sell 

ice cream, have access to children, applicants who have convictions for rape, indecent assault, 

any sexual offence involving children and any conviction for an offence under the Sexual 

Offences Act 2003 will normally be refused a street trading consent or registration as an 

assistant to the holder of a street trading consent. 

 

Where an applicant has a conviction for a sexual offence, they will normally be refused a street 

trading consent or registration as an assistant to the holder of a street trading consent until they 

can show a substantial period usually between 5 and 10 years free of any such convictions from 

the date of conviction or the date of release from a custodial sentence. 

 

After a period of 5 years from conviction or the date of release from a custodial sentence 

consideration will be given to the circumstances of the offence and any evidence to show that 

an applicant is a suitable person to hold a street trading consent or to be named as an assistant 

of a street trading consent. 

 

When considering applications, the Council may take into account any information of a sexual 

nature which does not amount to a criminal offence that is brought to its attention where that 

information may indicate that an applicant may not be a suitable person to hold a street trading 

consent or to be named as an assistant of a street trading consent. In cases where the Council 

considers that information shows an applicant is not a suitable person, it will normally require a 

Page 124



 

21 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

period of not less than 5 years free of such incidents from the date on which the incident 

occurred or, if more than one from the date of the last incident. 

 

Motoring Convictions 

In most cases, motoring offences are unlikely to be relevant when deciding if an applicant or 

assistant of a street trading consent is a suitable person. However, there may be instances 

where the offences are of a very serious nature. In those cases, an applicant for a street trading 

consent or to be named as an assistant would be expected to show a period usually between 3 

and 5 years free of any such convictions from the date of conviction or the date of release from 

a custodial sentence. 

 

Other Convictions 

Schedule 4 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 - The Council takes a 

serious view on applicants who have been convicted of offences under the 1982 Act. An 

applicant will normally be refused a licence if they have been convicted of an offence under the 

1982 Act at any time during the 2 years preceding the application or have more than one 

conviction within the last 5 years preceding the date of the application. 

 

Formal Cautions and Fixed Penalty Notices 

For the purposes of these guidelines, the Council will treat Formal Cautions issued in 

accordance with Home Office guidance and fixed penalty notices as though they were a 

conviction before the courts. 

Page 125



 

22 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

APPENDIX 3 

GLOSSARY  

The Act Schedule 4: Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 

The Council Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council 

Applicant The individual who has submitted an application for a Street Trading 

Consent. 

Consent Holder An individual who holds a street trading consent and responsible for 

meeting the conditions attached to a consent. 

Assistant An individual named on the consent as assisting the consent holder in 

trading and meeting the conditions attached to the consent. 

A Street Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 Paragraph .1(1), 

Schedule 3 includes: 

any road, footway, beach or other area to which the public have access 

without payment; and a service area as defined in section 329 of the 

Highways Act 1980 

A Street Trading 

Consent 

Permission given by the Council to trade subject to conditions and 

payment of a fee. 

Site Area identified in the Consent. 

Unit Unit described in the Consent. 

A Roundsman An individual who visits a “round” of customers and delivers the pre-orders 

of those customers, i.e., a milkman. Trading from an ice-cream van or 

mobile food van is not classed as a roundsman. 

A Pedlar A Pedlar must hold a valid Pedlar’s Certificate issued by a Chief Constable 

of Police. 

Keep moving, stopping only to service customers at their request.  

Move from place to place, and not circulate within the same area. 

Carry all goods for sale and not set up a “stall”. 

News Vendor The only articles sold or exposed or offered for sale are newspapers or 

periodicals; and they are sold or exposed or offered for sale without a stall 

or receptacle for them or with a stall or receptacle for them which does 

not:-  

exceed 1m in length or width or 2m in height; 

occupy a ground area exceeding 0.25 sq./m; 

stand on the carriageway of a street.  

Mobile Trader A Mobile Trader is one that visits more than one location within the 

Borough and: 

Continually moves from location to location. 

Page 126



 

23 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Does not wait in one location for more than 20 minutes. 

Moves at least 50 metres from the last trading location. 

Does not return to the same trading location within 4 hours. 

Licensing 

Officer 

An Authorised Officer employed by the Council and authorised by the 

Council to act in pursuance of the provisions of the Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (the legislation regulating Street 

Trading). 

 

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 128



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Appendix 3 

Friday 27/10/23 12:22 

Hi Leanne 

I think the exception for non profit charities and community groups is very welcomed. On the basis 

they are exempt this also takes away the issue with volunteers helping needing the DBS checks. It 

would be good in the policy to list CIC alongside charities as this is a recognised way of being a not 

for profit.  

With this policy change and a change to our market ownership essentially to formalise as a 

community group we could continue Norton Green Market without incurring the charges. 

Thanks so much for taking on board the VCSE sector and I welcome the policy changes and hope 

cabinet agree. 

Thanks 

Helen  

 

Friday 27/10/23 15:30 

Leanne 

Thank you v. much for this & for taking on board our concerns about the voluntary sector.  Your 

amendments seem to cover my concerns about church grounds, PTA fairs in school grounds etc.  I’m 

consulting my fellow Members & Clerk of my par. council about the effect of our annual village fair 

on Egglescliffe Village Green. 

John 

 

From: Leanne Maloney-Kelly <Leanne.Maloney-Kelly@stockton.gov.uk>  

Sent: Friday, October 27, 2023 10:43 AM 

To: Licensing Admin (ES) <Licensing@stockton.gov.uk> 

Subject: SBC Consent Street Trading Policy Review  

Hello, 

Thank you for responding to the recent consultation on Consent Street Trading, and for providing 

your contact details, to receive updates on the progress of the policy. Responses to the consultation 

have been considered and changes made to the draft policy, the most significant changes are 

around: 

 

Pg3. Activities are exempted from street trading control by this policy and include: 

• Trading by a registered charity or recognised association or other non-profit 

making organisation 

• Non-profit / fundraising trading taking place within a church or educational 

grounds e.g., church fates, school festivals and PTA events 

Page 129

mailto:Leanne.Maloney-Kelly@stockton.gov.uk
mailto:Licensing@stockton.gov.uk


 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

Pg 8 and Pg 19 DBS requirements and a convictions policy to explain the reasoning around DBS 

check 

Fees are still to be determined, the draft policy if going before the general licensing committee in 

November, Cabinet in December and Council in January. 

The statutory consultation has closed, but I would welcome any additional comments on the 

updated draft document, including any comments if you did not agree with the proposal, but the 

changes to policy now mean your concerns have been addressed and if you now support the 

proposal 

 

I would be grateful for any comments by 3 November 2023 

Regards 

Leanne Maloney-Kelly 

  

 

 

 

Page 130


	Agenda
	1 Evacuation Procedure
	4 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Powering Our Future - Programme Update
	POF Appendix - Smart Working Policy

	6 Minutes of Various Bodies
	2. TVCA Cabinet - 15 December 2023
	3. TSAB - 11 October 2023
	4. SSP - 20 September 2023

	7 Local Plan 5 Year Review
	Jan 2024 - Local Plan 5 Year Review App 1 - TOOLKIT PART 1 LOCAL PLAN REVIEW OCT 2021 - (SGv2 POS)).docx

	8 Consent Street Trading Policy Review 2024
	Appendix 1 - Consent Street Trading Policy
	Appendix 2 - Consent Street Trading Policy
	Appendix 3 - Consent Street Trading Policy


